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FINANCIAL AREA 

. Turnover reached 1,029 million euros – 50.7 million more than in 2004;

. 18% increase in EBITDA, up to 261.3 million euros, reflecting major improvements in efficiency;

. Group net debt reduced by 135 million euros;

. Debt restructured by the issue of debenture loans worth a total of 700 million euros. 
 

 PAPER BUSINESS
 
 . Sales growth in office, offset papers, premium qualities and 15% increase 
  in mill brands;
 . Positioning of mill brands strengthened: Navigator range grew 25% and  
  Inacopia got a wider range and new packaging. Very successful promotion of  
  the UEFA Cup among Soporset buyers;
 . Improvements in the product mix, with premium papers growing by 3%  
  (more 37,000 tonnes of sheets);
 . Strong penetration in Europe, with market share consolidation, and im- 
  portant contribution from US sales.
  

PULP BUSINESS
 
. Sales policy focused on European markets – where clients value the excellent characteristics of the Group’s  
 Eucalyptus globulus pulp;

. Group recognized as leading supplier of bleached eucalyptus pulp for specialty papers (more than 50% of sales) and  
high quality uncoated printing and writing papers segments;

.  Average pulp sales price was the highest for the last 5 years.
 

 INDUSTRIAL ACTIVITY

 . Production of bleached  pulp and uncoated paper rose by 2% and 1.5%  
  respectively;
 . Increase in the incorporation of eucalyptus fibre into paper production;
 .  Very positive progress in the Group’s mills’ maintenance costs;
 . Maintenance activity reorganised to optimise synergies in the Group’s  
  technical and organisational skills;
 . Two relevant investments completed: the new recovery boilers at Figueira  
  da Foz and Cacia.

FORESTS

. Increase of forest production value by supplying biomass for energy to Group’s mills;

. Major step forward in the preparation of the Group’s forest certification process, with application for FSC (Forest 
Stewardship Council) certification;

. Approval of the Group’s new Forestry Policy;

. Enhanced forest fire prevention and fire-fighting support work, and cooperation with external bodies;

. Launch of project designed to ensure competitiveness gains in forest operations and transport, the costs of which 
are significant in the price of the wood consumed by the Group;

The Year in Brief    2005
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5. Partnership with WWF (World Wide Fund for Nature) to develop the Group’s policy and guidance on Biodiversity 
and promote public participation in relation to high conservation value forests.

 
 
WOOD PROCUREMENT

. Launch of an award for innovation in certified wood;

. Support for certification of forest owners and wood suppliers’ custody chains.

 ENVIRONMENT

 .   Group companies awarded Greenhouse Gas licences as part of the Euro- 
    pean Emissions Trade;
 . Setúbal and Figueira da Foz mills given environmental licences  
   two-and-a-half years before the legal deadline;
 .   Safety Management Systems at the Setúbal and Figueira da Foz mills cer- 
   tified (NP 4397 and OHSAS 18001);
 .   Group’s Sustainability Policy approved.

ENERGY 
 
. 89,5% of the Group’s total energy consumption is based on the production of biomass;
. New recovery boiler at the Figueira da Foz mill achieves the highest standards in environmental and energy efficiency;
. Group’s status as producer of energy based on renewable resources changed.

HUMAN RESOURCES 

. Reorganisation of the Group’s human resources and corporate reorganisation in the areas of Maintenance,  
Product Development and Environment;

. Innovation and Energy: two new functional areas.

 SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

 . Adoption of Millennium Development Goals – letter of commitment to  
  promote good social responsibility practices;
 . Sustentabilidade da Nossa Terra Project: environmental education project  
  in partnership with AFLOPS (Forest Producers’ Association);
 . Agenda 21 Project, with publication by the Aveiro Group of schools of a  
  children´s guide aimed at education for an environmental citizenship;
 . Group sponsorship of Serralves Park – a space for raising environmental  
  awareness;
 . Increased support for humanitarian organizations.

INNOVATION

. Award of the Portuguese version of the Best of European Business prize (category “Innovation”, segment “Large 
Businesses”) organised by Roland Berger Strategy Consultants and The Financial Times.
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Chairman´s Statement

2005 was a very demanding year for the Portucel Soporcel Group, given the difficulties in the econo-
mic environment and the changes that we set out to make in order to allow the Group to develop and 
become larger, stronger and more competitive.

In this respect we have made some very important steps towards the consolidation of the Portucel 
Soporcel Group’s main business areas – an indispensable precondition for the foundations of any plan 
for our future development.

All our mills have enjoyed productivity gains, increased efficiency and reduced costs. This progress 
has only been possible through the combined effect of rigorous management and more in-depth coo-
peration between the various units and companies within the Group.

In the forestry sector, in which the Group has invested very substantial resources, the business ratio-
nalisation process has also begun to show positive results and is generating favourable expectations 
about the possibility of significantly improving the productivity of our forestry assets.

On the sales front, in the paper and pulp business, the Group has consolidated its presence and its 
ability to assert itself in the most demanding international markets. These results were achieved 
through a continuous effort to innovate, improve quality, differentiate, and deepen our already close 
relationship with our clients, in order to get to know their needs better and thus anticipate and fulfil 
them. 

It is with great personal satisfaction that I have seen the commitment with which the Group’s different 
business areas have implemented the measures needed to enhance their competitivity and thereby 
respond to the challenges they have been posed.

Despite the quite unfavourable market conditions that have prevailed in the Group’s main business 
segment, this effort has enabled us to improve the various performance indicators and ensure levels 
of profitability that match those of the best companies in the sector.

The Group’s performance could have been considerably better had it not been for the continuing exis-
tence of “context costs” that have severely penalised us, many of which it would have been perfectly 
possible to eliminate, with immediate benefits for companies and the national economy alike. 

The progress that the Group has made in every business area, and the expectation – based on the 
reception that has been given to the work we have done to identify the obstacles to the development 
of the eucalyptus segment of the forestry business in Portugal – that these “context costs” will be 
minimised in future, are encouraging us in the conviction that we are going to be able to achieve more 
ambitious objectives.

One very important stage in this process is the pursuit of the set of new projects that we have recently 
announced, the most fundamental of which is the construction of a new paper mill at the Setúbal indus-
trial facility.

The new mill will allow the complete vertical integration of this industrial facility and will substantially 
reduce our exposure to the pulp market, which is very vulnerable to competition from producers loca-
ted in areas where forests are more productive.
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I have already stated my desire to see the Portucel Soporcel Group follow a balanced development 
path. The remaining investments, some of which are underway, represent the fulfilment of this goal, 
inasmuch as they will enable all our mills to operate under the best conditions, particularly in terms of 
full compliance with environmental regulations – something that is of the highest importance to us.

I know that the times are very demanding and that it would be a lot easier to simply allow things to 
go on as they are. But that is not the attitude I want for the Portucel Soporcel Group. The successes 
that we have achieved to date oblige us to set ourselves increasingly demanding challenges – in the 
certainty that we will be able to meet and overcome them.

Setúbal, February  24th , 2006 

Pedro Queiroz Pereira
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Carlos Alves,   Luis Deslandes,   Manuel Regalado
Manuel Gil Mata,   José Honório,   Pedro Queiroz Pereira,   Álvaro Barreto
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On the sales front, in the paper and pulp business, the Group has 
consolidated its presence and its ability to assert itself in the 
most demanding international markets.
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Mission

To produce and sell high quality paper using eucalyptus fibre obtained from a cared-for and sustaina-
ble forest and transformed at technologically advanced industrial facilities, while maximising value for 
both clients and shareholders.

Vision

To be a global supplier to world markets of uncoated woodfree papers and market leader in the office 
and offset paper segments.

Values

Customer Oriented: Satisfaction, reliability, commitment, focus on needs, added value.

Innovation: Creativity, initiative, technological advancement, flexibility, foresight, excellence.

Leadership: Sense of responsibility, team spirit, sharing knowledge, determination.

Generating Value: Shareholder value, sustained growth, profitability, efficiency, synergies.
 
People Oriented: Developing skills, respecting differences, motivation, cohesion.

Social and Environmental Responsibility: Transparency, coherency, ethics, citizenship, respect for 
the environment, sustainability.

Mission, Vision and Values
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Organisational Structure

Portucel Soporcel Group

Pulp and Paper
Production

Portucel S.A.

Soporcel S.A.

This chart includes the main companies in which the Group holds a stake

Pulp and Paper
Sales  

Soporcel North America

Soporcel 2000

Soporcel France

Soporcel España

Soporcel Deutschland

Soporcel United Kingdom

Soporcel International

Soporcel Austria

Soporcel Italia

Portucel International 
Trading 

Agro-forestry
Business

Aliança Florestal

Portucel Florestal

Portucel Soporcel 
Abastecimento

Energy

SPCG

Enerpulp

Reserch and
Development

RAIZ
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1: 15 000000

North
Forestry
Division

Centre
Forestry
Division

Tejo
Forestry
Division

South
Forestry
Division

RAIZ facilities (R&D)
Mills
Forestry Divisions
Forest area under management
Districts

Viana
do Castelo

Braga Vila
Real

Bragança

GuardaViseuAveiro

Coimbra
Castelo
Branco

Leiria

PortalegreSantarém

Lisboa

Porto

Setúbal

Évora

Beja

Faro

National map showing the mill´s locations, 
forest area and RAIZ (R&D)

Forest
More than 130,000 hectares under management, 75% of which is eucalyptus

Cacia Mill
Bleached Eucalyptus Pulp:

260,000 tonnes/year market pulp

Figueira da Foz Mill
Bleached Eucalyptus Pulp:

550,000 tonnes/year integrated pulp

Fine Papers:
750,000 tonnes/year

Setúbal Mill
Bleached Eucalyptus Pulp:

170,000 tonnes/year integrated pulp
340,000 tonnes/year market pulp

Fine Papers:
270,000 tonnes/year
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Sales Network

Front Offices

Koln

Amsterdam

London

Vienna

Verona

Paris

Madrid

Figueira da Foz

Setúbal

Norwalk, CT

EUA

¨
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Economic and Financial Indicators

(thousand tonnes)

Production
Bleached eucalyptus pulp (BEKP)
Fine papers (UWF)

(million euros)

Sales
Operating results
Financial results
Net results

Cash Flow
EBITDA
EBITDA / Sales (in %)

Net Debt
Capex (booked investments)

Coverage of fixed assets
permanent capital / (net fixed assets + medium and
long term inventories)

Equity ratio
(equity + minority interests) / net assets

Leverage
net debt / (equity + minority interests
+ net debt)

ROCE
operating results / (equity + minority interests

+ net debt)

Net debt / EBITDA

(euros)

Net results per share
Cash Flow per share
EBITDA per share
Book value per share

2005

IFRS

1,279
998

1,029.1
132.1
-45.9
63.5

192.8
261.3
25%

736.1
43.0

1.09

0.47

0.42

7.5%

2.8

0.08
0.25
0.34
1.35

2004

IFRS

1,254
982

978.3
93.8

-22.9
51.3

179.3
221.8
23%

870.9
130.0

1.06

0.44

0.46

5.0%

3.9

0.07
0.23
0.29
1.31

2004

GAAP*

1,254
982

980.9
66.6

-31.6
33.3

184.7
218.0
22%

873.0
130.0

1.09

0.45

0.45

3.5%

4.0

0.04
0.24
0.28
1.36

2003

GAAP*

1,223
943

1,000.6
111.0
-44.3
66.8

211.9
256.0
26%

948.4
129.0

1.03

0.41

0.46

5.4%

3.7

0.09
0.28
0.33
1.44

2002

GAAP*

1,223
922

1,085.6
191.7
-57.3
89.5

234.9
337.0
31%

1,019.1
67.1

1.02

0.42

0.47

8.9%

3.0

0.12
0.31
0.44
1.38

IFRS Standards
The consolidated financial statements for 2005 are based on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The information
concerning 2004 has been restated in order to provide the same basis for comparison.

* Portuguese GAAP
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The Portucel Soporcel Group occupies a leading position in the international pulp and paper market 
and as such is one of Portugal’s strongest world brands. It is one of the five largest producers of un-
coated woodfree papers (UWF) in Europe.
It is also the largest producer of bleached eucalyptus kraft pulp (BEKP) in Europe, and one of the  
largest in the world. 
  
Structurally speaking, in Portugal the pulp and paper sector – which is responsible for 0.8% of the 
country’s overall GDP, 4.5% of its industrial GDP and 4.6% of all Portuguese goods exports – has 
clearly been one of the most fundamental sectors of the national economy. The Portucel Soporcel 
Group is a key element in the sector: taken as a whole, the Group generates an annual turnover of 
more than 1,000 million euros, and has a production capacity of 1 million tonnes of paper and 1.3 mil-
lion tonnes of pulp (of which around 700,000 tonnes are integrated into paper), quite apart from being 
responsible for the management of more than 130 thousand hectares of forest. The Group’s exports, 
which represent about 93% of total sales, currently amount to more than 900 million euros and go to 
82 countries. 

Europe is the main destination for the Group’s products and our in-house sales network has offices 
in the continent’s main cities, as well as in the USA, thereby ensuring that we are always close to our 
clients and can thus meet their needs. 

The strong brand awareness of our products – especially the fact that Navigator is the world leader in 
sales in the premium office paper segment – and the range of other brands that reflect the Group’s 
partnerships with a number of prestigious distribution channels, are the tangible result of the consis-
tency of the plans that have made the Company a manufacturer of high quality products for the paper 
market. 

At European level, the Group is the market leader in the supply of bleached eucalyptus pulp to the 
specialty paper segment, which represents more than 50% of sales, and to the high quality uncoated 
printing and writing paper segment.

The Group is also the country’s largest generator of biomass-based renewable energy. In fact, it pro-
duces almost 70% of its electricity by taking advantage of this renewable resource, thereby optimising 
its efficient use in the manufacture of both intermediate and end products.
 
The forest, which is the source of our raw material, is also a strategic area for the Group. Managing 
this resource responsibly enables us to contribute to the competitivity of a sector that is of decisive 
importance to the country’s economy. In the research and development field the work of RAIZ – Insti-
tuto de Investigação da Floresta e Papel (Forest and Paper Research Institute), a company in which the 
Group holds a 94% stake, deserves a special mention in this respect, particularly in the field of genetic 
improvements to eucalyptus, which is the raw material par excellence for making high quality papers, 
and the improvement of forest management practices.

The Group is well on its way to securing forest certification in 2006 under the two foremost interna-
tional programmes: FSC (Forest Stewardship Council) and PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement 
of Forest Certification Schemes). This will enable us to show consumers that our products are made  
using wood from forests that are managed in strict compliance with sustainable management prin-
ciples and with absolute respect for the environment.

Group Profile



17Industrially, the Group is structured around three mills, which are located in Setúbal, Figueira da 
Foz and Cacia, and are a byword for quality around the world, thanks to their size and sophisticated 
high technology. The Figueira da Foz mill is the largest integrated office and offset paper industrial  
facility in Europe. Naturally, all our mills operate with a high level of environmental protection, which 
is reflected in the licences they all hold.

The Group’s production processes are also prime examples of sustainability and energy efficiency, in 
that they use one of the best known renewable fuels – forest biomass – as their main energy source. 
It is worth noting the role that Portugal’s forests in general, and those which the Group manages in 
particular, play as a major absorber of carbon, thereby helping to reduce the amount of greenhouse 
gases in the atmosphere.

The Group employs around 2,000 staff and is responsible for generating a range of qualified jobs and 
specialist professional careers. 

As part of its social responsibility policy, the Group supports and takes part in projects aimed at en-
hancing and promoting the well-being of the surrounding communities and preserving the natural 
heritage of the regions in which its mills and forested areas are situated.

The Portucel Soporcel Group’s strategic vocation is to seek a leading position in the uncoated wood-
free paper market. In this respect, we develop our business in such a way as to ensure consistent 
growth and an ever stronger position in the international markets.

Stora Enso

0 300 600 900 1.200 1.500 1.800

Mondi

M-real

Portucel
Soporcel

Group

UPM

IP

‘000 tonnes

Source: EMGE - Paper Industry Consultants (Dec. 2005)

Aracruz

0 500 1.000 1.500 2.000 2.500 3.000

Votorantim

Portucel
Soporcel

Group

Ence

Cenibra

Suzano
Group

‘000 tonnes

Integrated pulp

Source: Hawkins Wright (Dec. 2005) and the companies
reports and accounts

Ranking of European UWF producers - 2005:

The Portucel Soporcel Group is Europe´s fifth-largest UWF 
paper Producer

World ranking of BEKP producers - 2005:

The Portucel Soporcel Group is the world´s 3rd largest BEKP 
producer

The Portucel Soporcel Group is the number 1 BEKP producer 
in Europe
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Brand Awareness

www.navigator-paper.com

Meet the world’s best selling premium office paper 

Navigator is the world best selling premium office paper brand 
with sales of over 50 million packs in 2005. Its high quality is recog-
nized by consumers in more than 60 countries in five continents. 
In terms of quality Navigator can be seen as the benchmark in 
the office paper market. This statement was also confirmed by the 
Opticom 2004 study which states that “Navigator is the brand with the most loyal users” according to 
the BEI (Brand Equity Index).
Navigator has been especially designed to meet and even exceed the needs of modern office users, 
offering high performance with every type of office equipment: 

 . excellent printing quality with both laser and inkjet printers
 . 99.99% jam-free
 . high thickness and opacity for double side use 
 . the highest quality consistency over time
 . very low abrasive levels

Facts 2005

2005 was another year of strong performance for the Navigator brand, with sales increasing by 25% 
on the previous year. Other highlights:

. The launch of the 160 g/m2 Navigator Office Card further strengthened the Navigator range by 
extending the product offer both to office and household users;

. The launch of Navigator Kids, a unique and innovative concept targeting younger age groups, 
aimed at promoting creativity;

. First Pan-European sales promotion of Navigator (Portugal, Spain, Italy, France, Germany, UK, 
Austria, Switzerland, Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Cz. Rep, Lithuania);

.  Outstanding results for the brand in the 2005 independent multi-client market studies of EMGE 
and Opticom International.



Discovery was especially developed for professional applications in high volume equipment. A unique 
concept, based on the grammage reduction, allows the efficient use of resources and the best perfor-
mance in its class.
In 2005, Discovery launched not only a new image but also created a totally new concept, based on the 
environmental advantages of using a 75 g/m2 office paper and also a 70 g/m2.
Having grown at a very fast pace in recent years, in 2005 Discovery’s development was based on a 
brand new image and also a fresh communication strategy, involving the presence in international 
events, such as Paperworld (Frankfurt).
With the development of the lower basis weight segment, Discovery has become the best selling  
75 g/m2 office paper in Europe.

www.discovery-paper.com 

Printing Quality since 1982

The next generation of Office Papers

Inacopia distinguishes itself for being the first European office paper 
brand to be produced from Eucalyptus globulus, and is today a highly 
reputed brand, especially for its extraordinary quality.
2005 represented another milestone year for Inacopia, with the laun-
ching of a fresh new image and also the range expansion of Inacopia Elite, which now goes from  
80 g/m2 to 160 g/m2. 
The new packaging of Inacopia, supported by several communication tools, from promotional ma-
terials to advertising campaigns, has had a positive impact in brand awareness and sales growth 
(increase of 12%).
With an extensive exclusive distribution network and a strong development plan, Inacopia aims to 
further develop its presence in Europe, supported by a unique value proposition.

www.inacopia-paper.com 
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Pioneer does more than guarantee the quality of your printed documents: it maximises it, having been 
especially developed for the production of high quality colour documents. Pioneer makes your messa-
ge more valuable by enhancing its impact on the reader. Its extraordinary whiteness and unique shade 
improve printing contrast and allow correct reproduction of lively colours, whichever printer you use. 

Facts 2005

. Pioneer supports Laço, a non-profit organisation dedicated to the fight against breast cancer, 
a serious social problem in our societies today;

. To complete the Pioneer range in an extremely competitive market, we launched a new paper 
weight (160 g/m2), particularly suited to the most demanding colour applications;

. Pioneer is already sold in 23 countries.

www.pioneer-paper.com

For the best results in your daily document applications, Multioffice offers a standard 80 g/m2 product 
which, thanks to its whiteness, guarantees superior printing definition, even when using colour.

www.multioffice-paper.com

Inspirational paper for your work

Stress free paper



2005: the consolidation of a leader

Outstanding performance and high printing qua-
lity are the core values associated to Soporset, 
values that led to its leadership in brand awa-
reness.  

Facts 2005

. Soporset reconfirmed as the preferred uncoated offset paper brand by the European printers*, 
achieving the best results ever;

. Presence at international trade fairs (Intergraphic, Paris);

. Development of Europe-wide promotions under the subject of football, namely around UEFA 
Final Cup 2005 taking place in Lisbon. 

* Results from a market research study conducted by EMGE with printers in 15 European Markets.

www.soporset.com

Facts 2005

. Inaset Plus Laser new sales campaign and promotion;  

. Inaset Plus Laser technical workshop for end users;  

. Renoir press insert, in France;

. Sponsorship of the Graphics Industry Congress, in Galicia;

. Presence at Papiés 2005; 

. Presence at Intergraphic, Paris.

www.inaset-paper.com

A simple choice

Sublime Paper
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02The Year on the 
Capital Market
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24 2005 was a very positive year for the main Euro-
pean stock exchange indexes, with gains in the 
region of 27% on the Frankfurt stock Exchange, 
18% on the Madrid stock Exchange and 17% in 
London. The Euronext Lisbon Index behaved 
along the same lines as its European counter-
parts, although it did not go up by quite as much; 
compared to 2004, the PSI 20 rose by about 
13.4% in 2005 and the number of transactions 
grew by around 6%.

Portucel’s share price did better than the  
PSI 20, ending 2005 17.5% above its December 
31st, 2004 close. Over the course of the year, it 

ranged from a minimum of 1.33 euros/share on 
January 5th and 6th to a maximum of 1.79 euros/
share on  October 4th.  

Approximately 12.4 million Portucel shares 
were traded in 2005 – the equivalent of an ave-
rage of around 1 million per month. The low 
number of transactions compared to the pre-
vious year can be explained by the fact that 
after Semapa SGPS’s 2004 takeover bid, the 
number of investors holding Portucel shares 
on the stock exchange was quite small – a  
factor that led the stock to fall out of the PSI 20 
Index as of January 2005. 

The Capital Market
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25

Portucel’s share ended 2005 17.5% above its December 31st, 
2004 closing price.





03The Group´s
Business
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Market 

Against a macroeconomic background charac-
terised by still moderate economic growth in the 
Eurozone, in Western Europe the demand for 
UWF paper was marginally positive and the of-
fice paper segment grew by around 3.3%.

Taken as a whole, production in the Western Eu-
ropean markets did not rise, remaining stable at 
7.7 million tonnes. Imports accounted for 16% of 
consumption (23% of office papers). They con-
tinue to originate mainly from Eastern Europe, 
which won market share from Latin America and 
Asia.

The US market fell in relation to 2004. This did 
not prevent us from maintaining our share in the 
region, and indeed creates some exciting pros-
pects for future growth.

Economies in other markets (Asia, the Mediter-
ranean Basin...) grew significantly and attracted 
the output of new local producers (China). 
The rapid growth of these emerging markets 
is increasingly conditioning the stance taken 
by global companies, both in terms of the geo-
graphic segmentation of their products, and at 
the level of their business development strate-
gies.

Business

In all the Group sold 986 thousand tonnes of pa-
per in 2005 – around 1% more than the year be-
fore. This increase in sales was further enhanced 
by an improvement in the Group’s mix of papers, 
with sales of premium products rising by 3%.

These results consolidate the trend that had be-
gun to appear in previous years, and compare 
very favourably with the structure of the Euro-
pean market.

The weight of premium products in the Group’s 
paper sales volume reflects the appropriate na-
ture of the strategy we have been pursuing, as 
well as the market’s recognition of the quality of 
our papers.

The segmentation by types of product also ex- 
perienced a positive change, with an additional 
18 thousand tonnes of office papers and graphi-
cal papers and a decrease of 24 thousand tonnes 
of reels.

28

Paper

In all the Group sold 986 thou-
sand tonnes of paper in 2005.
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The Group thus maintained its 12% overall ave- 
rage market share in Western Europe (15% in 
the office paper segment), and gained 1 p.p. to 
attain 17% in the offset paper segment, where 
demand fell by 4%.

Most of the Portucel Soporcel Group’s sales 
of paper continue to go to Western Europe, al-
though we also have a substantial presence in 
the US market and are responsible for more than 
half of all European sales there.

Portucel Soporcel Group Western Europe
(apparent consumption)
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Sales by Product (% sales volume)

Portucel Soporcel Group Industry
(Cepifine)
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81
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7
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9

Geographic Mix  (% sales volume)

Source: Portucel Soporcel Group and Cepifine

Source: Portucel Soporcel Group and Cepifine
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Prices

In 2005 the selling prices of UWF paper fell for 
the third consecutive year, while the PIX index for 
“A4 – copy B” decreased by 5%.             

These changes were attenuated by the high 
proportion of premium products in the Group’s 
sales, however, and for the year as a whole, the 
Group’s average selling price only fell by 2.2%.

Brands

The Portucel Soporcel Group’s brands confirmed 
their leading position in the European markets 
in 2005. In the premium segment, Navigator 
led world sales of office paper and the market 
research survey, conducted by EMGE – Paper 
Industry Consultants, found that among trade 
respondents it was the best known brand in Eu-
rope. 

Another market research survey showed that, in 
the offset paper segment, Soporset is also the 
most widely used brand in Europe.

In terms of total sales of sheeted paper, the 
market share of our mill brands rose from 41% 
to 45%.

30

PIX

Navigator led world sales of 
office paper and the market 
research survey, conducted 
by EMGE, found that among 
trade respondents it was the 
best known brand in Europe. 
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Pulp

In 2005 the Group produced around 1.3 million 
tonnes of bleached eucalyptus pulp (BEKP).

Despite the only moderate economic growth in 
the Eurozone, it was possible to accommodate 
the additional offer caused by the increase in 
production capacities in Latin America without 
any significant upset in the market.

As we can see from the PIX chart, in 2005 the 
average pulp price was 581 USD (467 euros) – the 
highest in the last five years and a year-on-year 
increase of 12%.

The Group placed 570 thousand tonnes of pulp 
on the market in 2005, compared to 608 thou-
sand the year before. This decrease of around 38 
thousand tonnes (6.4%) in relation to 2004 was 
due to a number of factors: more pulp was inte-
grated into paper in 2005; the high level of stock 
at the beginning of 2004, which had enabled us 
to sell more than we produced that year; and the 
reduction in the Cacia mill’s output as a result of 
breakdowns in the recovery boiler.

Pulp exports continued to be shipped primarily to 
the European markets, which is where the pro-
ducers of the highest quality paper – who value 
the unique features of the Group’s eucalyptus 
globulus pulp – are to be found.

Our sales force further deepened its direct con-
tacts with our clients by providing them with high 
levels of service and paying particular attention to 
long-term relationships. This commercial policy 
has enabled the Group to expand its client base, 
and it is recognized to be the leading supplier of 
bleached eucalyptus pulp for specialty papers – a 
use that represents more than 50% of our sales 
– and high quality uncoated printing and writing 
papers.



(thousand tonnes)

Production
Bleached eucalyptus pulp (BEKP)
Fine papers (UWF)

(million euros)

Sales
Operating results
Financial results
Net results

Cash Flow
EBITDA
EBITDA / Sales (in %)

Net debt
Capex (booked investments)

Net assets
Liabilities
Equity
Minority interests

Coverage of fixed assets
permanent capital / (net fixed assets + medium and long term inventories)

Equity ratio
(equity + minority interests) / net assets

Leverage
net debt / (equity + minority interests + net debt)

ROCE
operating results / (equity + minority interests + net debt)

Net debt / EBITDA

(euros)

Net results per share
Cash Flow per share
EBITDA per share
Book value per share

2005

IFRS

1,279
998

1,029.1
132.1
-45.9
63.5

192.8
261.3
25%

736.1
43.0

2,186.3
1,151.7
1,034.6

0.2

1.09

0.47

0.42

7.5%

2.8

0.08
0.25
0.34
1.35

2004

IFRS

1,254
982

978.3
93.8

-22.9
51.3

179.3
221.8
23%

870.9
130.0

2,296.8
1,288.0
1,008.8

0.2

1.06

0.44

0.46

5.0%

3.9

0.07
0.23
0.29
1.31

2004

GAAP*

1,254
982

980.9
66.6

-31.6
33.3

184.7
218.0
22%

873.0
130.0

2,326.2
1,279.1
1,047.1

0.0

1.09

0.45

0.45

3.5%

4.0

0.04
0.24
0.28
1.36

IFRS Standards
The consolidated financial statements for 2005 are based on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The information
concerning 2004 has been restated in order to provide the same basis for comparison.

*Portuguese GAAP
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Results

Economic and financial indicators
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Against the background we have just described, 
the Group’s turnover attained 1,029 million euros 
– 50.7 million more than in 2004. Around 69.2% 
of this was generated by the paper business and 
23.6% by the pulp business. 

Despite an increase in sales volume, the value of 
paper sales fell slightly (-1.9%) due to the negative 
trend in average paper prices.
 
On the other hand, despite the fall in sales volume 
that we have already explained, the value of pulp 
sales rose by 5.5% compared to the previous year, 
thanks to the increase of about 12.6% in the ave- 
rage 2005 pulp price.
 
Within this context the Group generated an 
EBITDA of 261.3 million euros, for a growth of 
17.8% compared to 2004, and an EBITDA/sales 
ratio of 25.4%. This increase in our EBITDA re-
flects some important improvements in the  
efficiency of the Group’s business, especially in 
terms of:

 An increase in productivity
 Cost reductions
 Energy management
 Industrial maintenance
 Forest management

The 2005 operating profit is 41% above the 2004 
figure, at 132.1 million euros.

The financial loss was 45.9 million euros, 16.3 
million of which concerned operations to hedge 
exchange rates and the pulp price that were con-
tracted in 2005. The combination of this cost and 
the fact that in 2004 the Group earned one-off fi-
nancial gains of around 5.7 million euros explains 
why our financial results were 23.1 below those of 
the previous year.

The net profit for the year was thus 63.5 million 
euros – a rise of 24% compared to 2004.
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Capital Expenditure

Debt

The Group’s debt fell by 134.8 million euros – i.e. around 15.5%. This result was made possible by our 
strong cash flow generation capacity and a careful management of working capital, notwithstanding 
the payment of 28.5 million euros in dividends and the capital expenditure during the year.

Debt Restructuring 

In 2005 the Group conducted an in-depth restructuring of its debt, in such a way as to significantly 
increase maturity dates and match them to the characteristics of the industry. To this end we issued 
new debenture loans worth a total of 700 million euros. 

Debenture loans issued in 2005

Due rate

March

May

October

December

December

Reference rate

6m Euribor

6m Euribor

6m Euribor

6m Euribor

6m Euribor

Amounts in Euros

Portucel 2005

Portucel 2005

Portucel 2005

Portucel 2005

Portucel 2005

Total

Amount

300,000.000

200,000.000

150,000.000

25,000.000

25,000.000

700,000.000

In 2005 the Group invested around 43 million euros in fixed assets. The most important capital expen-
diture items include the new recovery boiler at the Cacia mill, which came online in February 2006.  
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At the end of 2005 the structure of the Group’s net debt was thus as follows:

As a result of this restructuring, at the end of 2005 the Group’s debt profile was substantially different 
from that which it had been at the close of 2004.

This set of operations means that the Group’s financial structure has become substantially stronger 
and offers a solid base upon which to achieve our plans to develop the Group.

Debt Structure (in thousands of €)

Medium/long term
Debenture loans
Other loans

Commercial paper
Overdrafts and other
Total debt

Bank deposits and cash

Total net debt

Dec. 05

747,420
693,059

54,361

63,998
14,242

825,660

89,521

736,139

Dec. 04

460,976
0

460,976

404,530
81,958

947,464

76,547

870,917

Debt in Dec. 04

Current 
accounts
4%

Debt in Dec. 05

Commercial
paper
42%

MLT
54%

Commercial
paper
8%

MLT
92%
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Risk Management

The Group’s business activities are exposed to a variety of financial risk factors: exchange risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group pursues a risk management programme designed to 
minimise the potential adverse effects associated with these factors. 

Exchange Risk

In a year in which there was a great deal of uncertainty in the markets, the Group took out a range of 
financial hedging instruments in order to fix exchange rates (particularly the USD rate).

The variation in the value of the USD over the course of the year meant that these instruments re-
corded an overall loss of about 13 million euros.

Interest Rate Risk

The cost of almost all the Group’s financial debt is indexed to short-term reference rates – generally 
6 months in the case of the medium to long-term debt. In response to variations in these rates the 
Group decided to fix the rates applicable to part of its medium to long-term loans by contracting a 
number of interest rate swaps.
At the end of the year around 49% of its medium to long-term debt was covered against interest rate 
variations.

Eur vs. USD - Variations in 2005
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Credit Risk

The Group is subject to risk in relation to the credit it grants its clients, and has adopted a policy of 
maximising the cover of this risk by taking out credit insurance. Sales that are not covered by this type 
of insurance are subject to rules which ensure that they only involve clients with a suitable credit his-
tory, and which restrict exposure to predetermined maximum amounts that are individually approved 
for each client.

Liquidity Risk 

The Group manages the liquidity risk in two ways. Firstly, by ensuring that its financial debt contains a 
large medium and long-term element with maturity dates that are appropriate to the characteristics 
of the industry to which it belongs. In 2005 we thus engaged in a number of financing operations that 
significantly extended the term of the Company’s debt, as can be seen from the following repayment 
graph.

In addition, we have contracts with various financial institutions for on-demand credit facilities that 
guarantee us an adequate level of liquidity.
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40

Technologically Advanced Production

The paper the Portucel Soporcel Group produ- 
ces and places on the market reflects the highly 
sophisticated technology employed in its mills, 
which are equipped with some of the most mo- 
dern machinery in Europe. 

The Group’s overall output of pulp and paper 
in 2005 increased by 2% and 1.5% compared to 
the previous year, respectively. The Figueira da 
Foz and Setúbal pulp mills again exceeded their 
maximum production levels, with the Figueira 
unit benefiting from the first complete year 
of operation of its new recovery boiler, which 
helped increase production by 7.6%, or more 
than 40 thousand tonnes. Gains in efficiency  
enabled the Setúbal mill to cross the 500  
thousand tonne barrier for the first time and to 
produce 9.5 thousand tonnes more than it had 
in 2004. In Cacia, the industrial activity was  
heavily penalised by the breakdowns in its reco- 
very boilers, which made it lose around 9% of its 
production in relation to the previous year. The 
investment in the new recovery boiler, which was 
completed early in 2006, is crucial to returning 
the Cacia mill to normal operating conditions 
and a more appropriate level of competitivity.

1,000

1,250

1,500

2003 2004 2005

2.5% 2.0%

Portucel Soporcel Group Pulp Production
(millions of tAD)

900

1,000

1,100

2003 2004 2005

4.2% 1.5%

Portucel Soporcel Group Paper Production
(millions of tonnes)

The paper the Portucel Soporcel 
Group produces and places on 
the market reflects the highly 
sophisticated technology em-
ployed in its mills...
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Thanks to a combination of a systematic effort 
to improve processes and a selective investment 
policy, in 2005 the Portucel Soporcel Group ob-
tained positive results in terms of reductions in 
the production costs at all its mills, particularly 
in relation to pulp production.

The cost of producing paper also improved, with 
special emphasis on the reduction achieved by 
replacing more long fibre with special eucalyptus 
fibre. 

Pulp production benefited from improvements 
in raw material consumption that were achieved 
thanks to an innovative project which involved re-
using the cooking knots. In Setúbal, 2005 saw sig-
nificant improvements in water use, which in turn 
reduced costs. In 2006 we are planning similar 
changes at the Cacia mill, where less substantial 
reductions have been secured to date.

The Group continued to increase the outsourcing 
of peripheral activities at all mills, and this had 
positive effects on both efficiency and costs.

Cacia

Portucel Soporcel Group Pulp Production Costs

Figueira
da Foz

Setúbal

-6.6% -15.4% -12.9%

(2004=base 100)

2004 2005



42

P
or

tu
ce

l S
op

or
ce

l g
ro

up

Capital Expenditure

2005 was very restrained in industrial investment 
terms, and the expenditure on the two recovery 
boilers at the Figueira da Foz mill and the Cacia 
mill was the highpoint of the year in this respect.

Within this overall policy of selectivity, the invest-
ment in Cacia amounted to 25.5 million euros, 
which were essentially devoted to the new reco- 
very boiler.

The investment in the Figueira mill was smaller 
– around 5 million euros, which were basically 
used to replace equipment that had reached the 
end of its useful life, reduce water consump-
tion, and modernise the control systems. At the 
Setúbal mill the investment came close to 10.5 
million euros – around half the sum spent the 
year before.

Maintenance Reorganisation

The organisation of the Group’s maintenance pro-
cedures underwent far-reaching changes at the 
end of 2005. As part of a process that began in 2000, 
a new outsourcing-based maintenance scheme 
had already been introduced at the pulp mills,  
using outside companies with a track record of 
competence and experience in this kind of work.

In 2005 the experience that had been gained to 
date was used to significantly restructure the 
new format, before extending it to the paper 
mills with the objective of maximising synergies 
and optimising the technical and organisational 
skills that exist within the Group, thereby achie- 
ving major cost reductions and improvements in 
efficiency.

To this end we created both a company – EMA 21 
– that is now responsible for managing all re-
sources allocated to maintenance work within 
the Group, and a central body that coordinates 
maintenance and the applicable operational, 
engineering, and supply tasks – the Central En-
gineering Management Unit – which has now 
been made responsible for the Group’s industrial 
projects as well.   

The desire to optimise synergies between 
the Group’s different mills and the ensuing 
adoption by all the sites of the best practices 
in each area led the Executive Committee to 
appoint central coordinators for a series of 
activities in addition to maintenance, such as 
the environment, management and technical 
documentation systems, product develop-
ment and technical assistance, energy, and 
innovation.

42
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The need to optimise synergies between the Group’s different 
mills led to the creation of a company that is responsible for  
managing all resources allocated to maintenance work within 
the Group - EMA 21





05Resources and Support
Functions
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Forest

46
Cultivating the Future

The Portucel Soporcel Group manages more than 
130,000 hectares of forest, which are organised 
into 1,500 management units scattered among 
172 local authority areas around the country. The 
Group’s primary goals in this domain are to en-
sure a high and sustainable output, maintain the 
fertility and productivity of the soil, and preserve 
natural resources.

For the Group the year was particularly marked 
by the beginning of the forest certification pro- 
cess, which makes it possible to show consu- 
mers that our products are manufactured with 
wood from forests that are managed in strict 
compliance with the law and with absolute  
respect for the environment.

Over the course of 2005 the Group promoted 
various initiatives designed to improve the pro-
ductivity, quality and sustainability of forestry  
operations. Of particular note are the programme 
to rationalise forest assets (owned and rented) in 
order to produce standing wood at competitive 
prices, and the remodelling of the operations in-
volved in planting and maintaining tree popula-
tions by carefully classifying areas that are to be 
reforested, in accordance with their productive 
potential. 

However, the impact of part of these pro-
grammes was very limited by the meteorological 
conditions – namely the severe drought – that 
prevailed in Portugal throughout 2005.

It is also worth noting another project, which is 
ongoing until 2007 and is intended to increase 
the efficiency of forest cutting, resin collection 
and transport operations, which represent about 
50% of the cost of the wood consumed by the 
Group.

Forest Fires

The drought that hit Portugal in 2005 had dras-
tic implications in terms of the number of  
forest fires. It was the second-worst year ever 
for the country, with 325,000 hectares burned 
– 76% of the all-time peak of 426,000 hectares 
that burned in 2003. 

Forest fires are a critical issue for the Portucel 
Soporcel Group, inasmuch as they strike at the 
very heart of its business. The Group invested 3.5 
million euros in the 2005 campaign and conti- 
nued to pursue the strategy of mobilising major 
human and technological resources via Afocelca 
– the organisation which the companies in the 
sector have set up to prevent and support the 
fight against forest fires (and in which the Group 
holds a majority stake).

These efforts produced visible results in 2005, 
when the Portucel Soporcel Group experienced 
fires on a total of 6,000 hectares – less than a 
third of the area that was affected in 2003. This 
improvement in performance was due to the 
persistent, dedicated and professional work of 
both the Group and Afocelca’s forestry staff.

450

2003 2005

Area affected by fire  (thousands of hectares)

400
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Forest Certification

In 2005 a number of important steps forward 
were taken in the forest certification project 
that involves around 104,000 hectares of assets 
managed by the Aliança Florestal. This project 
meets the criteria of the most widely recognized 
international programmes – the Forest Steward-
ship Council (FSC) and the Programme for the 
Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes 
(PEFC). The Group expects that in 2006 its forests 
will be certified in accordance with the FSC crite-
ria and that the certifying body’s assessment will 
be ready by the end of the first quarter.

We see forest certification as a key factor in the 
consolidation of the Group’s competitive posi-
tion in the demanding international markets. In 
2005 we placed a particularly strong emphasis 
on training, technical documentation, our rela-
tionship with service providers, and communica-
tion with our major stakeholders (government, 
social and environmental organisations, forest 
producers, businesses, research and teaching 
bodies). 

The Group also promoted a series of initiatives 
intended to encourage the certification of inde-
pendent forest owners, who supply more than 
80% of the raw material for our mills – particu-
larly in the form of training, raising awareness 
among forest producers’ associations, and the 
creation of an innovation award for certified 
wood.

One highlight in 2005 was the completion 
of the Floresta de Futuro (Forest of the Fu-
ture) project, which was designed to impro-
ve the productivity of Portugal’s eucalyptus, 
promote good forestry practices, and pro-
tect forests from fire risks. This project las-
ted for three years, with the Group providing  
direct support to forest producers via coopera- 
tion protocols with their main organisations:
CAP – Confederação dos Agricultores de  Portugal 
(Confederation of Portuguese Farmers), FPFP 
– Federação dos Produtores Florestais de Portu-
gal (Federation of Portuguese Forestry Produ- 

 
 
cers), Forestis – Federação dos Produtores do 
Norte e Centro (Federation of Producers from the 
North and Centre of Portugal), and Fenafloresta 
– Federação do Movimento Cooperativo Flores-
tal (Forest Cooperative Movement Federation). 
The Group also supported work by 30 smaller  
forestry producers’ organisations to create forest 
intervention zones (ZIF’s), and helped local au-
thorities draw up land planning schemes for the 
certification of forests at the regional level.
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Supplies

48
Focusing on Wood

In 2005 the Portucel Soporcel Group acquired 
around 3.6 million cubic metres of debarked 
wood, 3 million (83%) of which came from the 
Portuguese market and 617 thousand (17%) from 
its own forest area. It did not import any wood. 
Compared to 2004, acquisitions on the domestic 
market fell by about 320 thousand cubic metres, 
due to the high level of inventory that was carried 
over from the previous year. 

Accepting wood which has been affected by fires 
entails risks and costs, due to the need to adapt 
the specification of the raw materials in such a 
way as to guarantee the quality of the end pro- 
duct. Despite this, acting under the aegis of 
Celpa - Associação da Indústria Papeleira (Paper 
Industry Association) the Group subscribed to 
an agreement promoted by the DGRF - Direcção 
Geral dos Recursos Florestais (public entity in 
the field of forest resources) for the use of wood 
from forest areas that had been affected by fires 
in 2005. Under the terms of this agreement this 
raw material was acquired at the same price as 
normal wood.

The strong competitive pressure to which the 
whole of the Portuguese forestry industry is sub-
ject means that it is absolutely necessary to both 
improve and certify quality and reduce costs. In 
2005 the Group launched a series of initiatives to 
this end, the most important of which included 
certifying owners’ forests and suppliers’ chains of 
custody, an innovation award for certified wood, 
and taking steps to secure terms and conditions 
for the transport of forest raw materials that are 

similar to those prevailing in the countries that 
compete with us.

Purchasing

The Group pursues a set of procedures and 
practices that are intended to rationalise supply/
purchasing costs and thereby contribute to the 
Company’s overall competitivity. It is worth no- 
ting that over the last five years we have secured 
an average of something like 10% in savings.

The main supply-related practices (excluding 
wood) that deserve a special mention in 2005 and 
were responsible for cost benefits in excess of 
3% compared to the previous year, concern both 
the use of products and technologies that tend to 
reduce production costs, and the rationalisation 
achieved by using products that are common to 
the three mills.
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We see forest certification as a key factor in the consolidation of 
the Group’s competitive position in the demanding international 
markets.
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Environment

The Eco-Efficiency Goal

The whole of the Portucel Soporcel Group’s busi-
ness is based on a sustainable development cy-
cle. Its products originally come from forests that 
are managed with the strictest respect for the 
environment and are manufactured using natu-
ral, renewable energies. The environmental per-
formance of its mills attains thresholds that ex-
ceed the applicable Portuguese and Community 
legislation and place the Group in a leading posi-
tion where social responsibility is concerned. 

The Portucel Soporcel Group sees increas-
ing eco-efficiency while reconciling the indus-
trial activities, the environment and the society 
as a permanent goal, which is why it has been 
making improvement after improvement in the 
conservation of resources and the reduction of 
emissions.

Alternative Energies

Reducing greenhouse gases is a commit-
ment to sustainability that everyone, including 
companies, is going to have to make if we are 
to avoid the climate changes that may result 
from high concentrations of such gases. In this 
field we should note that the forests managed 
by the Group represent the retention of 8.8 mil-
lion tonnes of carbon dioxide (CO2) – around 15 
times more than the volume covered by the an-
nual emission licences which the government is-
sued to the Group’s industrial units in the first six 
months of 2005, as part of the European Emis-
sion Trading scheme. 

In the last few years the Group has made ma-
jor investments in the use of energy sources to 
replace fuel oil, and is now practically self-suf-
ficient in energy terms: we produce 89.5% of all 
the energy we consume from biomass (forest  
biomass and organic vegetable matter that 
exists in wood and is incorporated into the  
liquors that result from the production process). 
The growing interest in energy generated from 
biomass led the Group to create a department 
within Portucel Soporcel Abastecimento that is 
tasked with making valuable use of the forest’s 
output by taking advantage of the biomass it 
produces, for use either within the Group or by 
outside bodies.
 
In 2005 the Group not only took important steps 
to improve biomass-based energy generation in 
all its mills and also to use the forest waste in the 
plantations it manages, but also developed pio-
neering methods for making use of stumps when 
eucalyptus forests are reconverted.

In the last few years the Group has made major investments in 
the use of energy sources to replace fuel oil...
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Environmental Performance

Thanks to the fact that the Group’s major envi-
ronmental parameters are better than the levels 
permitted by the international directives in this 
field, the Setúbal and Figueira da Foz mills were 
issued environmental licences in 2005 – two and 
a half years ahead of the legal deadline.

The investments that we have made in order to 
reduce the levels of water consumption in all 
our plants paid off to a significant extent in 2005. 
Substantial progress was also made with liquid 
effluents, due to the combination of the availabi- 
lity of improved techniques for reducing pollu- 
tant loads in our production processes at source, 
and the use of a very efficient industrial effluent 
treatment system.

2005 gas emissions were well below the legal 
limits. This was particularly true of particle and 
SO2 emissions, which fell significantly in relation 
to previous years thanks to the entry into service 
of the new recovery boiler at Figueira da Foz mill 
and the installation of a new electrofilter in the 
Setúbal recovery boiler.

 
 
In Cacia not only was notable progress made in 
terms of improving SO2 emissions compared to 
past years, but the SO2 and solid particle emis-
sion situation will change radically at the begin-
ning of 2006 as a result of the start-up of the new 
recovery boiler.

The growing concern to manage waste by 
both emphasising its valuable use and re-
ducing it at source meant that all the mills 
actively looked for alternative measures and 
solutions – a process that involved raising 
the awareness of this issue among all the 
Group’s staff.

It is worth pointing out that valuable use is 
made of 80% of the waste that results directly 
from production, either by reusing it in the  
forests managed by the Group, or by putting it 
back into the production process, or by using it 
as a source of energy (the case of the cooking 
knots). The remaining 20% is sent to landfills or 
placed with outside bodies that are responsible 
for its management. 
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Management Systems

In 2005 the Portucel Soporcel Group reached 
some important certification milestones. In ad-
dition to the certification of the safety manage-
ment systems at the Figueira da Foz and Setúbal 
mills (to the NP 4397 and OHSAS 18001 stan- 
dards) – a process that will be extended to the 
Cacia mill in 2006 – and the start-up of the forest 
certification process, FSC (Forest Stewardship 
Council) certification of the chain of responsibi- 

lity was secured at all three of the Group’s mills 
and the wood yards. With this measure the Group 
now guarantees the control of the flow of wood 
material (wood and pulp) all the way from the 
forest to the end product.

As of 2005 the Group’s integrated systems now 
cover the fields of quality, the environment, safe-
ty, and the chain of responsibility.

Certifications

Accreditation

Quality

Environment

Safety

Chain of
Custody

Laboratory

ISO
9001:2000

FSC-STD-40-004

2005

Figueira
da Foz Cacia Setúbal Wood

yard

New certifications

ISO/IEC
17025

OHSAS
18001

ISO
14001:1996

ISO
9001:2000

ISO/IEC
17025

ISO
14001:1996

ISO
9001:2000

ISO/IEC
17025

ISO
14001:1996

OHSAS
18001
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In 2005 the Group produced a total of 991 GWh 
of electricity, which is the equivalent of the  
average consumption of a city of 450,000 inhabi- 
tants. To this we must add the output of Sopor-
gen, S.A. – a Group subsidiary which was formed 
with the mission of fulfilling the additional needs 
for steam and electricity for the Figueira da Foz 
mill’s PM2, and which also supplies electricity to 
the national grid. This company alone generated 
417 GWh in 2005 – the equivalent of the average 
consumption of a town of 190,000 inhabitants.

Including Soporgen, the total electricity output 
at its three mills makes the Portucel Soporcel 
Group self-sufficient (and even a net producer) in 
energy for its manufacturing activities. 

In accordance with the principle that the whole 
of the Group’s productive business should be 
based on the use of renewable energies, around 
90% of this total was generated using forest bio-
mass and its by-products. This output of energy 
is obtained by cogeneration – a process that  
combines electricity and thermal energy and is 
considerably more efficient than the conventio- 
nal generation of electricity alone.

The electricity which the Portucel Soporcel 
Group generated from biomass was equivalent 
to about 64% of all the energy that was produced 
from this source in Portugal in 2005. 

Bioenergy and Fossil Fuels

As we have already said, reducing greenhouse 
gases is a sustainability commitment that the 
Portucel Soporcel Group has taken to heart. 
We have made systematic efforts to minimise 
the use of fossil fuels and adopt best practices 
that will help contain the effects of the climate 
changes that result from high concentrations of 
greenhouse gases. 

From 2003 onwards the growing interest in the 
use of biomass to generate electricity led the 
Group to make large investments designed to 
improve energy efficiency and environmental 

performance, as well as to minimise the con-
sumption of fossil fuels. Among the projects al-
ready completed, the conversion of the biomass 
boilers at the Setúbal and Figueira da Foz mills 
to the fluidised bed technology, and the instal-
lation of new recovery boilers at Figueira da Foz 
and Cacia deserve a particular mention. 

The major financial efforts that the Portucel 
Soporcel Group has been making to minimise the 
use of fossil fuels can be seen in the reduction of 
nearly 29% in the use of fuel oil and natural gas 
that was achieved between 2002 and 2005.

In the particular case of the Figueira da Foz mill, 
which is responsible for around 73% of all of the 
Group’s paper production, energy consumption 
fell by 8.7% between 2002 and 2005, while steam 
consumption (thermal energy) decreased by 4.7% 
over the same period. The rest of the Group’s pa-
per and pulp production has also been the object 
of reductions in specific energy consumption.

Energy
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Human Resources

Enhancing Skills

The sophisticated technology employed by the 
Portucel Soporcel Group’s industrial units, the 
clear investment in research and innovation, the 
technical excellence of our products, the quality 
of the sales force, the optimisation of our forestry 
and environmental management systems, and 
others besides are all factors the key to which 
is based on the qualification and competence of 
our human resources.

The Group’s human resources policy is designed 
to continuously improve our productivity by in-
creasing the qualification of our staff and deve- 
loping their skills, in parallel with rationalisation 
and resizing measures.

In 2005 the number of people in the Group’s 
service fell by about 9.8%, reaching 1,986 at year 
end, 1,957 of whom were employed on perma-
nent employment contracts. We should like to 
note that despite this reduction, overtime also 
decreased by 28.5% compared to 2004.

The investment in qualified human resources 
with specialist professional careers is also re- 

 
 
flected in a rise in the level of academic quali-
fications held by the Group’s staff: 55% have  
completed more than the 11th grade (3.3% more 
than in 2004), and 20.7% are higher education 
graduates.

While still on the subject of vocational qualifica-
tion, we should also note that in 2005 the Group 
organised around a thousand training actions 
totalling 69 thousand hours of training (1.8% of 
workable hours). 

2005 was also marked by the attachment of  
constant importance to safety at work and a re-
duction in the accident rate.

Another matter of particular importance is the 
fact that the effort to contain costs in various  
areas of our business has not affected the 
Group’s social benefits policy, which continues 
to pursue a number of plans targeted at em-
ployee welfare, particularly as regards health 
insurance, occupational medicine and additional 
retirement benefits. 
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Social Responsibility

Long-range Goals

It is the Portucel Soporcel Group’s firm belief 
that if companies are to prosper economically, 
they must direct their business in such a way as 
to improve the quality of life of the surrounding 
community and preserve the environment.
This is why the Group plays an active part in the 
social responsibility field, by systematically sup-
porting the various institutions that work in the 
areas in which its mills are located. 

In 2005 the Group supported a considerable 
range of social, cultural, educational and spor- 
ting initiatives. Of particular importance are the 
Delfim project, which is a scientific association 
that studies marine mammals in their natural 
environment and is especially involved in the 
work to preserve the dolphins in the Sado Es-
tuary, and the Cantar de Galo Estate’s teaching 
project, which offers educational programmes 
intended to raise awareness and allow people to 
come into contact with nature, and which was vi-
sited by around 55,000 children in 2005.

Other significant initiatives in 2005 included the 
Sustentabilidade da Nossa Terra (Sustainabili-
ty of our Earth) project promoted by AFLOPS 
- Associação de Produtores Florestais (Forest 
Producers’ Association), which mobilised a 
thousand students from schools in the Setú-
bal District to work on the subject of sustai-
nable development, and also the Eco-Escola 
project, which is designed to stimulate selec-
tive waste collection. The Group also suppor- 
ted the Aveiro Banco Alimentar Contra a Fome and 
the Laço and Acreditar associations in a series of 
actions targeted at disadvantaged families and 
people who are ill.

The Group continued its policy of donating pa-
per to schools and welfare institutions near its 
mills. In 2005 we made 317 donations totalling 
37 tonnes of paper to cultural, sporting, educa-
tional and social projects. The leading publica-
tions that received support from the Group in-
clude the magazine Impactus, which is devoted 
to business sustainability, Agenda 21, which is a  

 
 
children’s guide produced by a group of schools 
in Aveiro and is dedicated to education for envi- 
ronmental citizenship, and the publication of a 
children’s book by the Lisbon Fire Brigade about 
fire prevention and safety.

Important Organisations 

The Group takes part in the work of organisations 
that promote the dissemination of the objectives 
of sustainable development and socially res-
ponsible practices at national and international 
level. These include the United Nations’ Global 
Compact, the WBCSD (World Business Council 
for Sustainable Development), the Millennium 
Development Goals (a charter setting out com-
mitments in relation to the promotion of good 
social responsibility practices), BCSD Portugal 
- Conselho Empresarial para o Desenvolvimento 
Sustentável (Business Council for Sustainable 
Development), and RSE Portugal - Associação 
Portuguesa para a Responsabilidade Social das 
Empresas (Portuguese Association for Corporate 
Social Responsibility).

In 2005 the Group supported 
a considerable range of so-
cial, cultural, educational and 
sporting initiatives.
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Innovation

Creating in order to add value

Innovation and quality are an integral part of the 
Portucel Soporcel Group’s business strategy, 
and we see them as essential tools in the stra- 
tegy to differentiate our products and services. 
In the light of the leading position we occupy in 
an innovation-based market, in 2005 the Group 
formed a department that is especially devoted 
to managing innovation.
 
The Group’s policy of stimulating innovation and 
actively participating in research and develop-
ment (R&D) projects in order to create value is 
having visible results in the market, in the shape 
of the creation of mill brands and new products 
with a high degree of added value, which are  
enabling us to establish an advantageous posi-
tion in relation to our competitors. The Portucel 
Soporcel Group’s integrated value chain is of key 
importance when it comes to ensuring the high-
est quality that we need to achieve if we are to 
position our brands as premium products. 

In the industrial area, 2005 saw the introduction 
of important innovations in the production pro-
cess, particularly a more efficient system for eu-
calyptus wood debarking, and a project for reu- 
sing cooking knots and thereby making the pulp 
production process more productive.

Where paper sales were concerned the Group 
continued to expand its range and introduce new 
packaging solutions for the brands and products 
it sells, taking already innovative ways of seg-
menting the market to a greater depth. One clear 
example of this is the launch of Navigator Kids  
– a product that is targeted at a younger audi- 

 

ence, to whom it transmits values related to the 
preservation of the environment and the forest. 

In the R&D field RAIZ’s - Instituto de Investigação 
da Floresta e Papel (Forest and Paper Research 
Institute) work has enabled the Group to develop 
a significant range of activities targeted at ap-
plied research in the industrial processes, envi-
ronmental and forestry areas, as well as to en-
gage in consultancy and training.
 
In 2005, RAIZ celebrated its tenth birthday and 
consolidated its position as an institution of  
reference on the world scene. The genetic im-
provement of the eucalyptus and the impro- 
vement of forest management practices are 
areas that were the object of significant steps  
forward this year. In 2005, RAIZ continued to  
pursue the goal of developing new eucalyptus 
clones that will make the pulp process more  
productive and improve the quality of its end pro-
duct, by taking part in a number of international 
projects at the highest level in this domain.
 
This strategy by the Portucel Soporcel Group to 
make its products stand out from the crowd by 
systematically investing in R&D and innovation 
was publicly recognized in 2005 with the award 
of the Portuguese version of the Best of Euro-
pean Business prize (category “Innovation”, seg-
ment “Large Businesses”) organised by Roland 
Berger Strategy Consultants and The Financial 
Times. The prize was awarded to the Portucel 
Soporcel Group for its use of the most advanced 
production processes in the world, the strong 
brand awareness enjoyed by its products, and its 
presence on the main world markets.
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The Portucel Soporcel Group’s integrated value chain is of key 
importance when it comes to ensuring the highest quality that 
we need to achieve if we are to position our brands as premium 
products. 
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The first few months of 2006 have confirmed the 
prevailing concerns and uncertainties about the 
international economic scene. The growth of the 
main economies will continue to be heavily af-
fected by the substantial rise in the cost of energy, 
which is linked to the persistence of the very high 
levels of tension in sensitive regions of the world.

Against this background the Group must carry 
on the work that it has been doing to improve its 
cost base and increase productivity, while simul-
taneously pursuing its strategy of investing in the 
quality and differentiation of its products, and 
strengthening the position it has already won in 
the most demanding international markets.

In the absence of significant changes in the eco-
nomic framework of the main economies, or 
substantial fluctuations in current foreign ex-
change rates, we do not expect the Group’s per-
formance in the near future to differ greatly from 
2005 levels. 

The Portucel Soporcel Group’s Board of Direc-
tors has decided to go ahead with the cons-
truction of a new paper mill at its Setúbal mill. 
The new facility will have a nominal capacity of 
500,000 tonnes/year and is expected to result 
in capital expenditure of around 490 million 
euros. 

This project will enable us to significantly in-
crease our competitivity in the paper market 
and win the leadership of the European un-
coated woodfree paper (UWF) market. We ex-
pect the new mill to come online in the second 
half of 2008.

This set of investments, part of which is al-
ready underway, will allow the Group to lend 
practical expression to its development path 
by ensuring the optimum operating conditions 
for its various production units and continuing 
to pursue the objective of greater vertical in-
tegration. 

Future Prospects
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The investment in a new paper mill in Setúbal will enable us to 
significantly increase our competitivity in the paper market...
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Final Remarks

62 The Board of Directors is pleased with the close 
relationship that we have continued to develop with 
our clients, suppliers and financial institutions.
The good results that were achieved in 2005 are 
in large part due to the competent and dedicated 
work of Portucel Soporcel Group’s staff, who de-
serve a warm word of appreciation.
We would also particularly like to offer our thanks 
to our shareholders for the trust they have placed 
in the Group and which is essential to its develop-
ment.
The Board of Directors would like to express its re-
gret and sorrow at the death in 2006 of the Chair-
man of the General Meeting, João António de Mo-
rais Silva Leitão. 

Setúbal, February 24th, 2006.
The Board of Directors
 
 
Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira
Chairman

José Alfredo de Almeida Honório
Member

Manuel Soares Ferreira Regalado
Member

Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata
Member

Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes
Member

Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves
Member

Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto
Member
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Appropriation of Results

Further  for the  proposal of the Board of Directors, the General Meeting of Shareholders held on  April 
17th, 2006 approved the following appropriations of the net profit for the year, totalling 59,195,216.27 
euros as stated in Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A., individual accounts:

To Legal Reserve, under the terms of current legislation: 2,959,760.81 euros;

To Dividend Stabilisation Reserve, in accordance with article 25o, b) of the company By-law: 5,623,545.55 
euros;

To Retained Earnings: 10,321,336.16 euros;

To Dividends: 40,290,573.75 euros.
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Governing Bodies

The governing bodies of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. are as follows:

 Board of the General Meeting
 
 Chairman:   Vacant due to the death of 
   João António de Morais Silva Leitão

 Vice-Chairman:   Paulo Jorge Barreto de Carvalho Ventura

 Secretary:   António Alexandre de Almeida 
   e Noronha da Cunha Reis

 
 Board of Directors
 
 Chairman:   Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira

 Members of the Board:   José Alfredo de Almeida Honório
   Manuel Soares Ferreira Regalado
   Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata
   Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes
   Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves
   Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto 
 

 Executive Commitee
 
 Chairman:   José Alfredo de Almeida Honório

 Members of the Committee:  Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira
   Manuel Soares Ferreira Regalado
   Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata
   Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes

 
 Auditors    
      PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados,SROC, 
      represented by Abdul Nasser, 
  Abdul Sattar or by  Ana Maria Ávila 
  de Oliveira Lopes Bertão.

 Environmental Impact Council
   José Manuel Soares de Oliveira
   Carlos Sousa Reis
   Rui Manuel Baptista Ganho
   Serafim Manuel Bragança Tavares
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Appendix to the Annual Report by the Board of Directors

In compliance with the provisions of the Commercial Companies Code approved by Decree-Law 
262/86, dated September 2nd, the following information is appended to the Annual Report by the Board 
of Directors of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A.:

1. For the purposes of the provisions of Article 447(5) of the Commercial Companies Code we declare 
that under the terms of Article 447(1), (2) and (3), José Alfredo de Almeida Honório holds 20,000 shares 
in Semapa - Soc. de Investimentos e Gestão, SGPS, S.A..

Neither the above mentioned member nor any of the other members of the Company’s governing 
bodies or of the governing bodies of associated companies hold other shares in or bonds issued by 
the said companies.

In 2005 none of the members of the Company’s governing bodies engaged in any transactions in rela-
tion to the Company’s shares or the shares of associated companies.

2. For the purposes of the provisions of Article 448(4) of the Commercial Companies Code, and in com-
pliance with Article 8 of CMVM Regulation no. 04/2004, the list of shareholders with qualifying holdings 
at December 31st, 2005 is as follows:

N.º of
shares

% of share
capital

% of voting
rightsShareholders

Semapa - Sociedade de Investimento
e Gestão SGPS, S.A. SA

Semapa - Investments, BV

Seinpart -Participações, SGPS, S.A.

Semapa - Sociedade de Investimento
e Gestão SGPS , S.A.

Seminv - Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

Parpública - Participações
     Públicas SGPS, S.A.

Santander Pensões - Soc. Gest. Fundos
    de Pensões, S.A. SA

Fundo de Pensões Crédito
Predial Português, S.A.

Other pension  funds under
Santander Pensões

514,964,433

284,712,433

230,250,000

1,000

1,000

197,432,769

31,199,399

15,916,388

15,283,011

67.09634%

37.09608%

30.0000%

0.00013%

0.00013%

25.7241%

4.0651%

2.07380%

1.99127%

67.10163%

37.09901%

30.00237%

0.00013%

0.00013%

25.7262%

4.0654%

2.07396%

1.99143%
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Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31st, 2005 and 2004

Amounts in euros Note 31/12/05 31/12/04
    

ASSETS    

Non-current assets    

Goodwill 15 376,756,384  376,756,384 

Other intangible assets 16 29,085  784,836 

Property, plant and equipment 17 1,126,910,035 1,215,107,985 

Biological assets 18 136,238,875 134,025,278 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 19 357,526 815,594 

Deferred tax assets 25 62,731,837  70,245,108 

  1,703,023,742 1,797,735,185 

Current assets    

Inventories 20 131,112,525  144,118,579 

Receivables and other current assets 21 226,498,001  219,895,258 

State and other public entities 22 36,132,119 58,492,335 

Cash and cash equivalents 28 89,521,261 76,546,530 

  483,263,906 499,052,702 

   
Total assets  2,186,287,648 2,296,787,887 

   
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   
Capital and reserves   
Share capital 23 767,500,000 767,500,000 

Treasury shares  (53,679) (53,679)

Fair value reserve and other reserves 24 66,095,781  62,947,049 

Retained earning: prior years  137,371,856  126,915,667 

Retained earnings for the year  63,526,136 51,283,476 

Shareholder’s equity  1,034,440,094  1,008,592,513

 

Minority interests 13 170,796 204,875 

Total equity  1,034,610,890  1,008,797,388 

   
Non-current liabilities   
Deferred tax liabilities 25 88,003,675  78,339,386 

Retirement benefit obligations 26 36,464,019  36,524,589 

Provisions 27 1,954,010  1,118,418 

Interest-bearing liabilities 28 747,419,828  825,506,528 

  873,841,532  941,488,921 

Current liabilities   
Interest-bearing liabilities 28 78,239,599  121,957,999 

Payables and other current liabilities 29 171,859,081  204,263,231 

State and other public entities 22 27,736,546  20,280,348 

  277,835,226 346,501,578 

Total liabilities  1,151,676,758  1,287,990,499 

   
Total equity and liabilities  2,186,287,648  2,296,787,887 
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Consolidated Income Statement
as of December 31st, 2005 and 2004

Amounts in euros Note 31/12/05 31/12/04
     
 
Revenues 4  1,029,086,148  978,331,583 

Other operating income 5 17,482,007  49,442,403 
Costs  6  
 Inventories sold and consumed   (351,121,723) (394,082,881)

 Increase/(decrease) of inventories (finished products)  (3,384,371) (15,866,043)

 Consumed materials and services  (299,988,583) (280,671,315)

 Payroll costs  (115,954,991) (103,578,796)

 Other operating costs   (14,793,837) (11,727,132)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 8 (129,247,224) (128,013,322)

Operating profit  132,077,426  93,834,498 

   
Share of results of associates and joint ventures 9 (124,182) - 

Financial costs - net  10 (45,928,337) (22,852,335)

Profit before income tax  86,024,907  70,982,163 

   
Income tax 11 (22,504,508) (19,694,014)

Net profit for the period  63,520,399  51,288,149 

   
Minority interests 13 5,737  (4,673)

Net profit for the period attributable to equity holders  63,526,136  51,283,476 

   
Earnings per share   
Basic earnings per share (euros) 12 0.083 0.067

Diluted earnings per share (euros) 12 0.083 0.067

Consolidated Statement of Recognized Income and Expense
as of December 31st, 2005 and 2004

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments  (2,367,182) 525,928 

Fair value of trading investments -  (12,494,000)

Actuarial gains and losses (note 1.21.1) (10,346,263) - 

Tax on items taken directly to or transferred from equity 3,496,198  3,291,220 

  
Net profit/(loss) directly recognized in equity (9,217,248) (8,676,852)

  
Profit for the year before minority interest 63,520,399  51,288,149 

  
Total recognized income and expense for the year 54,303,151  42,611,297 

  
Attributable to:    
  
     Equity holders of the Company  54,337,229  42,606,624 

     Minority interest (34,078) 4,673 

 54,303,151  42,611,297 
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Consolidated Income Statement
as of December 31st, 2005 and 2004

Amounts in euros Note 31/12/05 31/12/04
     
 
Revenues 4  1,029,086,148  978,331,583 

Other operating income 5 17,482,007  49,442,403 
Costs  6  
 Inventories sold and consumed   (351,121,723) (394,082,881)

 Increase/(decrease) of inventories (finished products)  (3,384,371) (15,866,043)

 Consumed materials and services  (299,988,583) (280,671,315)

 Payroll costs  (115,954,991) (103,578,796)

 Other operating costs   (14,793,837) (11,727,132)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 8 (129,247,224) (128,013,322)

Operating profit  132,077,426  93,834,498 

   
Share of results of associates and joint ventures 9 (124,182) - 

Financial costs - net  10 (45,928,337) (22,852,335)

Profit before income tax  86,024,907  70,982,163 

   
Income tax 11 (22,504,508) (19,694,014)

Net profit for the period  63,520,399  51,288,149 

   
Minority interests 13 5,737  (4,673)

Net profit for the period attributable to equity holders  63,526,136  51,283,476 

   
Earnings per share   
Basic earnings per share (euros) 12 0.083 0.067

Diluted earnings per share (euros) 12 0.083 0.067

Consolidated Statement of Recognized Income and Expense
as of December 31st, 2005 and 2004

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments  (2,367,182) 525,928 

Fair value of trading investments -  (12,494,000)

Actuarial gains and losses (note 1.21.1) (10,346,263) - 

Tax on items taken directly to or transferred from equity 3,496,198  3,291,220 

  
Net profit/(loss) directly recognized in equity (9,217,248) (8,676,852)

  
Profit for the year before minority interest 63,520,399  51,288,149 

  
Total recognized income and expense for the year 54,303,151  42,611,297 

  
Attributable to:    
  
     Equity holders of the Company  54,337,229  42,606,624 

     Minority interest (34,078) 4,673 

 54,303,151  42,611,297 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
from January 1st, 2004 to December 31st, 2005

Equity per Portuguese GAAP as of December 31, 2003  767,500,000  (53,679) 61,470,365  207,116,119  66,840,416  1,102,873,221  -  1,102,873,221 

        
Adjustments on transition (note 40):      
     Write-off of intangible assets -  -  -  (10,372,126) -  (10,372,126) -  (10,372,126)

     Fair value of financial instruments -  -  -  (86,094) -  (86,094) -  (86,094)

     Fair value of trading investments  -  -  9,058,150  -  -  9,058,150  -  9,058,150 

     Change in the consolidation perimeter -  -  -  -  54,975  54,975  200,202  255,177 

     Reclassification to comply with standalone shareholders’ equity -  -  (7,097,744) 7,097,744  -  -  -  - 

     Cancellation of corridor  -  -  -  (21,896,378) -  (21,896,378) -  (21,896,378)

     Provisions -  -  -  (19,085,683) -  (19,085,683) -  (19,085,683)

     Write-down of biological assets -  -  -  (55,903,226) -  (55 903 226) -  (55 903 226)

     Write-down of Portucel Florestal goodwill -  -  -  (2,718,113) -  (2,718,113) -  (2,718,113)

     Assets impairment -  -  -  (10,020,950) -  (10,020,950) -  (10,020,950)

     Other adjustments -  -  (1,584,369) (695,346) -  (2,279,715) -  (2,279,715)

Equity per IFRS as of January 1, 2004 767,500,000  (53,679) 61,846,402  93,435,948  66,895,391  989,624,062  200,202  989,824,264 

        
     Fair value of financial instruments -  -  381,298  -  -  381,298  -  381,298 

     Fair value of trading investments -  -  (9,058,150) -  -  (9,058,150) -  (9,058,150)

     Differences of:        
       . Subsidiaries -  -  -  538,077  -  538,077  -  538,077 

       . Transfer to legal reserve -  -  3,427,660  (3,427,660) -  -  -  - 

       . Transfer to statutory reserve -  -  6,349,839  (6,349,839) -  -  -  - 

       . Dividends paid -  -  -  (24,176,250) -  (24,176,250) -  (24,176,250)

     Net profit for prior period -  -  -  66,895,391  (66,895,391) -  -  - 

     Net profit for the period -  -  -  -  51,283,476  51,283,476  4,673  51,288,149 

Equity as of December 31, 2004 767,500,000  (53,679) 62,947, 049  126,915,667  51,283,476  1,008,592,513  204,875  1,008,797,388 

        
     Fair value of financial instruments -  -  (1,716,207) -  -  (1,716,207) -  (1,716 207)

     Actuarial gains and losses (note 1.21.1) -  -  -  (7,472,700) -  (7,472,700) (28,342) (7,501,041)

     Application of net profit for 2004:         
         
       . Transfer to legal reserve  -  -  1,666,847  (1,666,847) -  -  -  - 

       . Transfer to statutory reserve -  -  3,198,092  (3,198,092) -  -  -  - 

       . Dividends paid -  -  -  (28,472,005) -  (28,472,005) -  (28,472,005)

     Revaluation reserve -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

     Other movements   -  -  -  (17,644) -  (17,644) -  (17,644)

     Net profit for prior period -  -  -  51,283,476  (51,283,476) -  -  - 

     Net profit for the period -  -  -  -  63,526,136  63,526,136  (5,737) 63,520,399 

Equity as of December 31, 2005 767,500,000  (53,679) 66,095,781  137,371,856  63,526,136  1,034,440,094  170,796  1,034,610,890 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
from January 1st, 2004 to December 31st, 2005

Equity per Portuguese GAAP as of December 31, 2003  767,500,000  (53,679) 61,470,365  207,116,119  66,840,416  1,102,873,221  -  1,102,873,221 

        
Adjustments on transition (note 40):      
     Write-off of intangible assets -  -  -  (10,372,126) -  (10,372,126) -  (10,372,126)

     Fair value of financial instruments -  -  -  (86,094) -  (86,094) -  (86,094)

     Fair value of trading investments  -  -  9,058,150  -  -  9,058,150  -  9,058,150 

     Change in the consolidation perimeter -  -  -  -  54,975  54,975  200,202  255,177 

     Reclassification to comply with standalone shareholders’ equity -  -  (7,097,744) 7,097,744  -  -  -  - 

     Cancellation of corridor  -  -  -  (21,896,378) -  (21,896,378) -  (21,896,378)

     Provisions -  -  -  (19,085,683) -  (19,085,683) -  (19,085,683)

     Write-down of biological assets -  -  -  (55,903,226) -  (55 903 226) -  (55 903 226)

     Write-down of Portucel Florestal goodwill -  -  -  (2,718,113) -  (2,718,113) -  (2,718,113)

     Assets impairment -  -  -  (10,020,950) -  (10,020,950) -  (10,020,950)

     Other adjustments -  -  (1,584,369) (695,346) -  (2,279,715) -  (2,279,715)

Equity per IFRS as of January 1, 2004 767,500,000  (53,679) 61,846,402  93,435,948  66,895,391  989,624,062  200,202  989,824,264 

        
     Fair value of financial instruments -  -  381,298  -  -  381,298  -  381,298 

     Fair value of trading investments -  -  (9,058,150) -  -  (9,058,150) -  (9,058,150)

     Differences of:        
       . Subsidiaries -  -  -  538,077  -  538,077  -  538,077 

       . Transfer to legal reserve -  -  3,427,660  (3,427,660) -  -  -  - 

       . Transfer to statutory reserve -  -  6,349,839  (6,349,839) -  -  -  - 

       . Dividends paid -  -  -  (24,176,250) -  (24,176,250) -  (24,176,250)

     Net profit for prior period -  -  -  66,895,391  (66,895,391) -  -  - 

     Net profit for the period -  -  -  -  51,283,476  51,283,476  4,673  51,288,149 

Equity as of December 31, 2004 767,500,000  (53,679) 62,947, 049  126,915,667  51,283,476  1,008,592,513  204,875  1,008,797,388 

        
     Fair value of financial instruments -  -  (1,716,207) -  -  (1,716,207) -  (1,716 207)

     Actuarial gains and losses (note 1.21.1) -  -  -  (7,472,700) -  (7,472,700) (28,342) (7,501,041)

     Application of net profit for 2004:         
         
       . Transfer to legal reserve  -  -  1,666,847  (1,666,847) -  -  -  - 

       . Transfer to statutory reserve -  -  3,198,092  (3,198,092) -  -  -  - 

       . Dividends paid -  -  -  (28,472,005) -  (28,472,005) -  (28,472,005)

     Revaluation reserve -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

     Other movements   -  -  -  (17,644) -  (17,644) -  (17,644)

     Net profit for prior period -  -  -  51,283,476  (51,283,476) -  -  - 

     Net profit for the period -  -  -  -  63,526,136  63,526,136  (5,737) 63,520,399 

Equity as of December 31, 2005 767,500,000  (53,679) 66,095,781  137,371,856  63,526,136  1,034,440,094  170,796  1,034,610,890 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
as of December 31st, 2005 and 2004

Amounts in euros Note 31/12/05 31/12/04
      
  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
 Received from customers  1,035,443,745  994,682,381 

 Payments to suppliers   (656,470,706) (736,983,795)

 Payments to employees  (121,196,083) (110,418,357)

 Cash flow generated from operations  257,776,956  147,280,228 

     
 (Payments)/receipts from income tax    29,057,381  (13,656,348)

 Other (payments)/receipts from operating activities  (17,300,031) 46,019,581 

     
 Cash flows from operating activities (1)  269,534,307  179,643,461 

     
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    
 Receipts relating to:   
  Financial investments   -  45,635,035 

  Property, plant and equipment   4,296,764  1,091,916 

  Subsidies to investment  1,065,397  112,245 

  Interest and similar income   2,273,541  10,415,037 

  Dividends  154,800  1,355,738 

    7,790,501  58,609,970 

 Payments relating to:   
  Financial investments   (335,806) (50,000)

  Property, plant and equipment   (85,602,428) (102,503,576)

  Intangible assets  -  (6,795,893)

    (85,938,234) (109,349,469)

     
 Cash flows from investment activities  (2)  (78,147,733) (50,739,499)

     
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
 Receipts relating to:   
  Borrowings  727,505,736  528,580,000 

    727,505,736  528,580,000 

 Payments relative to:   
  Borrowings   (843,246,600) (869,970,944)

  Lease contracts  (47,932) (595,973)

  Interest and similar expense   (34,151,043) (32,924,447)

  Dividends  (28,472,004) (24,176,250)

    (905,917,579) (927,667,614)

      
 Cash flows from financing activities (3)  (178,411,843) (399,087,614)

      
CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS (1) + (2) +(3)  12,974,731  (270,183,652)
     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD  76,546,530  346,730,182 
      
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 28 89,521,261  76,546,530 

The Portucel Soporcel Group or the Group, comprises Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. (hereafter referred 
to as the Company or Portucel) and subsidiaries. Portucel is a corporation formed on May 31, 1993, in accordance with Decree-
Law no. 39/93, February 13th, following the restructuring of Portucel – Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, S.A..

 Registered Office: Mitrena, 2901-861 Setúbal
 Share Capital: 767,500,000 euros
 V.A.T.: 503 025 798

The main business of the Company and of its subsidiaries is the production and sale of cellulose pulp, paper and related pro-
ducts, the purchase of wood and forest and agricultural products, the cutting of timber and the sale of electric and thermal 
energy. 

Portucel is an publicly held company and, until May 2004, the government was the major shareholder through Portucel – Em-
presa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A.. As a consequence of the second phase of privatisation, the Portuguese 
government sold 30% of the Company’s share capital. As at December 31st, 2005 Semapa Group held the majority of the 
Company’s share capital (67.1%) (note 23).

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on February 24th, 2006.

1. Summary of main accounting policies

The main accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards adopted by the European Union (IFRS – formerly referred to as the International Accounting Standards  - IAS ) issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or by the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) in force on the date of preparation 
of the mentioned financial  statements.

The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) have been first adopted in 2005, so that the date of transition of Portu-
guese accounting principles (Portuguese GAAP) to that standard was January 1st, 2004, as established by IFRS 1 - First-time 
Adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standards.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2004 were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in Portugal, which differ from the IFRS in certain areas.

When preparing the attached financial statements, the Group made the necessary adjustments to the consolidated financial 
statements for 2004 prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal, for the adoption of the 
IFRS. 

The comparative figures shown for 2004 were restated in order to reflect those adjustments.  The effects on the date of tran-
sition to IFRS (January 1st, 2004) were shown under shareholders’ equity and are itemized in the consolidated statement of 
changes in shareholders’ equity and in note 40, in which the adjustments to the latest annual financial statements shown are 
also explained (December 31st, 2004).

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements as of
December 31st, 2005 and 2004

(Amounts expressed in euros unless otherwise indicated)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
as of December 31st, 2005 and 2004

Amounts in euros Note 31/12/05 31/12/04
      
  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES  
 Received from customers  1,035,443,745  994,682,381 

 Payments to suppliers   (656,470,706) (736,983,795)

 Payments to employees  (121,196,083) (110,418,357)

 Cash flow generated from operations  257,776,956  147,280,228 

     
 (Payments)/receipts from income tax    29,057,381  (13,656,348)

 Other (payments)/receipts from operating activities  (17,300,031) 46,019,581 

     
 Cash flows from operating activities (1)  269,534,307  179,643,461 

     
INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES    
 Receipts relating to:   
  Financial investments   -  45,635,035 

  Property, plant and equipment   4,296,764  1,091,916 

  Subsidies to investment  1,065,397  112,245 

  Interest and similar income   2,273,541  10,415,037 

  Dividends  154,800  1,355,738 

    7,790,501  58,609,970 

 Payments relating to:   
  Financial investments   (335,806) (50,000)

  Property, plant and equipment   (85,602,428) (102,503,576)

  Intangible assets  -  (6,795,893)

    (85,938,234) (109,349,469)

     
 Cash flows from investment activities  (2)  (78,147,733) (50,739,499)

     
FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
 Receipts relating to:   
  Borrowings  727,505,736  528,580,000 

    727,505,736  528,580,000 

 Payments relative to:   
  Borrowings   (843,246,600) (869,970,944)

  Lease contracts  (47,932) (595,973)

  Interest and similar expense   (34,151,043) (32,924,447)

  Dividends  (28,472,004) (24,176,250)

    (905,917,579) (927,667,614)

      
 Cash flows from financing activities (3)  (178,411,843) (399,087,614)

      
CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS (1) + (2) +(3)  12,974,731  (270,183,652)
     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD  76,546,530  346,730,182 
      
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 28 89,521,261  76,546,530 

The Portucel Soporcel Group or the Group, comprises Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. (hereafter referred 
to as the Company or Portucel) and subsidiaries. Portucel is a corporation formed on May 31, 1993, in accordance with Decree-
Law no. 39/93, February 13th, following the restructuring of Portucel – Empresa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, S.A..

 Registered Office: Mitrena, 2901-861 Setúbal
 Share Capital: 767,500,000 euros
 V.A.T.: 503 025 798

The main business of the Company and of its subsidiaries is the production and sale of cellulose pulp, paper and related pro-
ducts, the purchase of wood and forest and agricultural products, the cutting of timber and the sale of electric and thermal 
energy. 

Portucel is an publicly held company and, until May 2004, the government was the major shareholder through Portucel – Em-
presa de Celulose e Papel de Portugal, SGPS, S.A.. As a consequence of the second phase of privatisation, the Portuguese 
government sold 30% of the Company’s share capital. As at December 31st, 2005 Semapa Group held the majority of the 
Company’s share capital (67.1%) (note 23).

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on February 24th, 2006.

1. Summary of main accounting policies

The main accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Basis of preparation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards adopted by the European Union (IFRS – formerly referred to as the International Accounting Standards  - IAS ) issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or by the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) in force on the date of preparation 
of the mentioned financial  statements.

The International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) have been first adopted in 2005, so that the date of transition of Portu-
guese accounting principles (Portuguese GAAP) to that standard was January 1st, 2004, as established by IFRS 1 - First-time 
Adoption of the International Financial Reporting Standards.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2004 were prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally ac-
cepted in Portugal, which differ from the IFRS in certain areas.

When preparing the attached financial statements, the Group made the necessary adjustments to the consolidated financial 
statements for 2004 prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal, for the adoption of the 
IFRS. 

The comparative figures shown for 2004 were restated in order to reflect those adjustments.  The effects on the date of tran-
sition to IFRS (January 1st, 2004) were shown under shareholders’ equity and are itemized in the consolidated statement of 
changes in shareholders’ equity and in note 40, in which the adjustments to the latest annual financial statements shown are 
also explained (December 31st, 2004).

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements as of
December 31st, 2005 and 2004

(Amounts expressed in euros unless otherwise indicated)

74

P
or

tu
ce

l S
op

or
ce

l g
ro

up

75

P
or

tu
ce

l S
op

or
ce

l g
ro

up



IFRS 1 allows certain exemptions from IFRS in the opening balance. Among the permitted exemptions, the Group decided to 
apply the following:

 (i) Business Combinations – The Group decided to not retrospectively apply IFRS 3 – Business Combinations. In this  
  way, business combinations before January 1st, 2004 have been recorded on this date in accordance with the former  
  accounting principles applied by the Group. 

 (ii) Valuation of property, plant & equipment – The Group decided to value tangible assets, at transition date (January 1st,  
  2004), by the amount of the balance in accordance with the former accounting principles, which included the reva- 
  luation effect up to then. 

The attached consolidated financial statements were prepared on the assumption of continuity of operations, from the accoun-
ting books and records of the companies included in the consolidation (note 38), and based on historic cost, except for derivative 
financial instruments and biological assets that are shown at fair value (notes 30 and 18). 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of estimates and relevant judgements when implementing the 
Group’s accounting policies. The main assertions, involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or the most significant 
assumptions and estimates used in the preparation of the underlying financial statements, are disclosed in note 3. 

1.2 Changes in accounting policies

During the year there were no changes in accounting policies or adjustments for material errors in prior years apart from the 
adoption of the new accounting standards (IFRS), as shown in detail in prior note.

1.3 Basis of consolidation  

1.3.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power of decision on all financial and operating policies, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than 50% of voting rights. 

The existence and the effect of potential voting rights, whether exercisable or convertible are taken into consideration when it 
is determined whether the Group exercises control over another entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are excluded from consolida-
tion from the date on which control ceases. 

The shareholders’ equity and net earnings of these companies that are attributable to the holdings of third parties are shown 
in shareholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheet and on the consolidated income statement, respectively, under the 
minority interest headings. Companies included in the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 38. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisi-
tion is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchanges, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured ini-
tially at their fair value at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill, itemized 
in note 15.

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired (negative goodwill), the difference 
is recognized directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances, unrealised gains on transactions and dividends paid between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred.

Certain financial investments in subsidiaries because they are considered immaterial are recorded by the equity method.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policy adopted by the 
Group.

1.3.2 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a sharehol-
ding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method.

According to the equity method, financial holdings are recognized at acquisition cost, adjusted by the amount corresponding to 
the Group’s share of changes in shareholders’ equity (including net profit) of the associates, as an offset to the profits or losses 
of the period, and dividends received.

The differences between the acquisition cost and fair value of the assets and liabilities attributable to the associate on acqui-
sition date, if positive, are recognized as goodwill and are retained under the investments in associates heading. If goodwill is 
negative, it is recorded as income for the year under the share of results of associates and joint ventures heading. 

Investments in associated companies are subject to valuation when there are indications that the asset could be impaired; the 
impairment losses then shown to exist are recorded as costs. 

When impairment losses recognized in prior periods cease to exist they are subject to reversal.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its investment in the associate, the Group does not recog-
nize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains in transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unreali-
sed losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group.

1.4 Segmental reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations of the Group that are subject to risks and returns that are different 
from those of other business segments.

Four business segments have been identified: production of cellulose pulp, production of printing and writing papers, forestry 
and power generation.

Pulp is produced in three mills, located in Setúbal, Cacia and Figueira da Foz, and paper is produced in Setúbal and Figueira da 
Foz at paper mills located near the pulp mills. 

Internal wood supply is from woodlands owned or leased by the Group, in Portuguese territory.  Wood grown is mainly consu-
med in the production of pulp. 

A significant portion of the Group’s own pulp production is consumed in the production of paper.  Sales of both products (pulp 
and paper) are mainly to the export market.
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IFRS 1 allows certain exemptions from IFRS in the opening balance. Among the permitted exemptions, the Group decided to 
apply the following:

 (i) Business Combinations – The Group decided to not retrospectively apply IFRS 3 – Business Combinations. In this  
  way, business combinations before January 1st, 2004 have been recorded on this date in accordance with the former  
  accounting principles applied by the Group. 

 (ii) Valuation of property, plant & equipment – The Group decided to value tangible assets, at transition date (January 1st,  
  2004), by the amount of the balance in accordance with the former accounting principles, which included the reva- 
  luation effect up to then. 

The attached consolidated financial statements were prepared on the assumption of continuity of operations, from the accoun-
ting books and records of the companies included in the consolidation (note 38), and based on historic cost, except for derivative 
financial instruments and biological assets that are shown at fair value (notes 30 and 18). 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of estimates and relevant judgements when implementing the 
Group’s accounting policies. The main assertions, involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or the most significant 
assumptions and estimates used in the preparation of the underlying financial statements, are disclosed in note 3. 

1.2 Changes in accounting policies

During the year there were no changes in accounting policies or adjustments for material errors in prior years apart from the 
adoption of the new accounting standards (IFRS), as shown in detail in prior note.

1.3 Basis of consolidation  

1.3.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power of decision on all financial and operating policies, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than 50% of voting rights. 

The existence and the effect of potential voting rights, whether exercisable or convertible are taken into consideration when it 
is determined whether the Group exercises control over another entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are excluded from consolida-
tion from the date on which control ceases. 

The shareholders’ equity and net earnings of these companies that are attributable to the holdings of third parties are shown 
in shareholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheet and on the consolidated income statement, respectively, under the 
minority interest headings. Companies included in the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 38. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of an acquisi-
tion is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchanges, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured ini-
tially at their fair value at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill, itemized 
in note 15.

If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired (negative goodwill), the difference 
is recognized directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances, unrealised gains on transactions and dividends paid between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred.

Certain financial investments in subsidiaries because they are considered immaterial are recorded by the equity method.

Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policy adopted by the 
Group.

1.3.2 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a sharehol-
ding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method.

According to the equity method, financial holdings are recognized at acquisition cost, adjusted by the amount corresponding to 
the Group’s share of changes in shareholders’ equity (including net profit) of the associates, as an offset to the profits or losses 
of the period, and dividends received.

The differences between the acquisition cost and fair value of the assets and liabilities attributable to the associate on acqui-
sition date, if positive, are recognized as goodwill and are retained under the investments in associates heading. If goodwill is 
negative, it is recorded as income for the year under the share of results of associates and joint ventures heading. 

Investments in associated companies are subject to valuation when there are indications that the asset could be impaired; the 
impairment losses then shown to exist are recorded as costs. 

When impairment losses recognized in prior periods cease to exist they are subject to reversal.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its investment in the associate, the Group does not recog-
nize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains in transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates. Unreali-
sed losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group.

1.4 Segmental reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations of the Group that are subject to risks and returns that are different 
from those of other business segments.

Four business segments have been identified: production of cellulose pulp, production of printing and writing papers, forestry 
and power generation.

Pulp is produced in three mills, located in Setúbal, Cacia and Figueira da Foz, and paper is produced in Setúbal and Figueira da 
Foz at paper mills located near the pulp mills. 

Internal wood supply is from woodlands owned or leased by the Group, in Portuguese territory.  Wood grown is mainly consu-
med in the production of pulp. 

A significant portion of the Group’s own pulp production is consumed in the production of paper.  Sales of both products (pulp 
and paper) are mainly to the export market.
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Power generation is mainly from cogeneration of vapour, that is consumed by the Group, and electricity which part is consumed 
internally and part sold to REN – Rede Eléctrica Nacional, S.A..

A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject 
to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

The accounting policies for segmental reporting are consistent with the Group’s policies. All intersegmental sales and services 
rendered are marked-to-market and eliminated in the consolidation. 

The segment information is disclosed in note 4.

1.5 Foreign currency translation

1.5.1 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary eco-
nomic environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euros, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

1.5.2 Balances and transactions expressed in foreign currencies

All Group assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies have been translated to euros at the rates of exchange prevailing 
on balance sheet date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end ex-
changes rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated income 
statement for the year.

1.5.3. Group companies

The results and financial position of all Group entities that have a functional currency different from the Group presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

 (i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance 
  sheet;
 (ii) Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at the average exchange rate (unless this average  
  exchange rate is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of rates prevailing on transaction dates, in  
  which case the income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
 (iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate equity component, under the exchange translation  
  reserves heading. 

1.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognized at acquisition cost, less amortisation by the straight line method over a period varying between 
3 and 5 years and impairment losses.

Costs associated with the development and maintenance of software that is not intrinsically linked with the respective hardware 
are recognized as expenses when incurred, except when those costs are directly associated with development projects that 
enable future economic benefits to be measured, thus being recognized as intangibles.

1.7 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included 
in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates.
Goodwill is not amortised and is tested annually for impairment. Impairment losses relative to goodwill cannot be reversed. 
Gains or losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to that entity.  

1.8 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired up to January 1st, 2004 (date of transition to IFRS) are recorded at cost, or restated 
acquisition cost in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal up to that date, less depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment acquired after transition date are shown at cost, less depreciation and impairment losses. Ac-
quisition cost includes all expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the respective cost can be reliably measured. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on acquisition cost, mainly using the straight line method from the date of the assets’ entry into 
service, at rates that best reflect their estimated useful life, as follows:

   Average years
   of useful life

Land   14

Buildings and other constructions 12 – 30

Equipment:
    Machinery and equipment 6 – 25

    Transportation equipment 5 - 9

    Tools and utensils 2 - 8

    Office equipment 4 - 8

    Returnable containers 6

    Other property, plant and equipment 4 - 10

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriated, at each balance sheet date.

If the assets’ carrying amount exceeds the recoverable value of the asset, is written down to the estimated recoverable value 
through impairment losses (note 1.9).

Gains or losses arising from write-downs or disposals are determined by the difference between the proceeds of disposals and 
the asset’s book value and are recognized in the income statement as other operating income or costs.

1.9 Impairment of non-current assets

Non-current assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment. 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 

78

P
or

tu
ce

l S
op

or
ce

l g
ro

up

79

P
or

tu
ce

l S
op

or
ce

l g
ro

up



Power generation is mainly from cogeneration of vapour, that is consumed by the Group, and electricity which part is consumed 
internally and part sold to REN – Rede Eléctrica Nacional, S.A..

A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject 
to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

The accounting policies for segmental reporting are consistent with the Group’s policies. All intersegmental sales and services 
rendered are marked-to-market and eliminated in the consolidation. 

The segment information is disclosed in note 4.

1.5 Foreign currency translation

1.5.1 Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary eco-
nomic environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euros, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.

1.5.2 Balances and transactions expressed in foreign currencies

All Group assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies have been translated to euros at the rates of exchange prevailing 
on balance sheet date.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end ex-
changes rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated income 
statement for the year.

1.5.3. Group companies

The results and financial position of all Group entities that have a functional currency different from the Group presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

 (i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the balance 
  sheet;
 (ii) Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at the average exchange rate (unless this average  
  exchange rate is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of rates prevailing on transaction dates, in  
  which case the income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
 (iii) All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate equity component, under the exchange translation  
  reserves heading. 

1.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognized at acquisition cost, less amortisation by the straight line method over a period varying between 
3 and 5 years and impairment losses.

Costs associated with the development and maintenance of software that is not intrinsically linked with the respective hardware 
are recognized as expenses when incurred, except when those costs are directly associated with development projects that 
enable future economic benefits to be measured, thus being recognized as intangibles.

1.7 Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included 
in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates is included in investments in associates.
Goodwill is not amortised and is tested annually for impairment. Impairment losses relative to goodwill cannot be reversed. 
Gains or losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to that entity.  

1.8 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment acquired up to January 1st, 2004 (date of transition to IFRS) are recorded at cost, or restated 
acquisition cost in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal up to that date, less depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment acquired after transition date are shown at cost, less depreciation and impairment losses. Ac-
quisition cost includes all expenditures directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the respective cost can be reliably measured. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated on acquisition cost, mainly using the straight line method from the date of the assets’ entry into 
service, at rates that best reflect their estimated useful life, as follows:

   Average years
   of useful life

Land   14

Buildings and other constructions 12 – 30

Equipment:
    Machinery and equipment 6 – 25

    Transportation equipment 5 - 9

    Tools and utensils 2 - 8

    Office equipment 4 - 8

    Returnable containers 6

    Other property, plant and equipment 4 - 10

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriated, at each balance sheet date.

If the assets’ carrying amount exceeds the recoverable value of the asset, is written down to the estimated recoverable value 
through impairment losses (note 1.9).

Gains or losses arising from write-downs or disposals are determined by the difference between the proceeds of disposals and 
the asset’s book value and are recognized in the income statement as other operating income or costs.

1.9 Impairment of non-current assets

Non-current assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation but are tested annually for impairment. 
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
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An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impair-
ment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identified cash flows (cash-flow generating units), 
when it is not possible to do so for each asset on an individual basis.

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are reversed when it is determined that the recognized impairment losses no 
longer exist or that they have diminished (excepting goodwill impairment – see note 1.7). This analysis is made whenever there 
are indications that the impairment loss formerly recognized has been reversed. 

The reversal of impairment losses is recognized in the income statement under the other operating income heading, unless the 
asset has been revalued, in which situation the reversal will represent a portion or the total of the revaluation amount. However, 
an impairment loss is reversed up to the limit of the amount that will be recognized (net of amortisation or depreciation) if it 
had not been recognized in prior years.

1.10 Biological assets

Biological assets are measured at fair value, less estimated selling costs at the time of harvesting. The Group’s biological as-
sets comprise the forests held for the production of timber.
 
When calculating the fair value of the forests, the Group used the discounted cash flows (expected) method, based on a model 
which was developed in house, and which took into account assumptions about the nature of the assets being valued, namely, 
the expected yield of the forests, the timber selling price deducted by costs relating to felling and transportation, and also con-
sidered plantation costs, maintenance costs and a discount rate. The discount rate (5.5%) was determined on the basis of the 
Group’s expected rate of return on its forests.

Fair value adjustments resulting in changes in estimates of growth, logging period, price, cost and other assumptions are 
recognized as operating income/ (costs).

At the time of logging, wood is recognized at fair value less estimated costs at point of sale.

1.11 Financial investments

The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. 

The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification 
of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date. 

All acquisitions and disposals of these investments are recognized on the date of signature of the respective contracts of pur-
chase and sale, regardless of the date of settlement.

Investments are first recognized at their acquisition cost; the fair value is equal to the price paid, including transaction costs. 
Thereafter, measurement will depend on the category in which the investment is placed, as follows:  

1.11.1 Loans and receivables

Loans granted and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading 
the receivable. 

They are included in current assets, except for maturity greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are clas-
sified as non-current assets.

Loans granted and receivables are included in receivables and other current assets in the balance sheet (note 21).

1.11.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss 
at inception. A financial asset is classified under this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term 
or if so designated by management. 

Assets in this category are classified as current if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months 
of the balance sheet date. These assets are measured at fair value through the income statement.

1.11.3 Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets, with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities 
that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments in this category are recorded 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

1.11.4 Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or not classi-
fied in any other categories. They are included in non-current assets, unless management intend to dispose of the investment 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

These financial investments are recognized at market value, as quoted on balance sheet date. If the market of a financial as-
set is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash-flows analysis and option pricing 
models refined to reflect issuer’s specific circumstances.

Potential gains and losses thus resulting are recorded directly in fair value reserve until the financial investment is sold, recei-
ved, or disposed of in any way, at which time the accumulated gain or loss formerly reflected in shareholders’ equity is taken 
to the income statement.

If there is no market value or if it is not possible to determine one, the investments in question are held at acquisition cost. They 
are provisioned against loss of value when justified.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that the financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. If a prolonged decline in fair value of the available-for-sale financial assets takes place, then the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial 
asset previously recognized in profit or loss - is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement.

A recognized impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets is reversed if the loss was caused by specific external 
events of an exceptional nature that are not expected to recur but which subsequent external events have reversed; under these 
circumstances, reversal does not affect the income statement, the asset’s subsequent positive fluctuation thus being taken to 
the fair value reserve. 

1.12 Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments with the aim of managing the financial risks to which it is exposed.

Whenever expectations of changes in interest or exchange rates so justify, the Group seeks to hedge against adverse 
movements through derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps (IRS), caps and floors, forwards, options, 
etc.
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An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impair-
ment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identified cash flows (cash-flow generating units), 
when it is not possible to do so for each asset on an individual basis.

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are reversed when it is determined that the recognized impairment losses no 
longer exist or that they have diminished (excepting goodwill impairment – see note 1.7). This analysis is made whenever there 
are indications that the impairment loss formerly recognized has been reversed. 

The reversal of impairment losses is recognized in the income statement under the other operating income heading, unless the 
asset has been revalued, in which situation the reversal will represent a portion or the total of the revaluation amount. However, 
an impairment loss is reversed up to the limit of the amount that will be recognized (net of amortisation or depreciation) if it 
had not been recognized in prior years.

1.10 Biological assets

Biological assets are measured at fair value, less estimated selling costs at the time of harvesting. The Group’s biological as-
sets comprise the forests held for the production of timber.
 
When calculating the fair value of the forests, the Group used the discounted cash flows (expected) method, based on a model 
which was developed in house, and which took into account assumptions about the nature of the assets being valued, namely, 
the expected yield of the forests, the timber selling price deducted by costs relating to felling and transportation, and also con-
sidered plantation costs, maintenance costs and a discount rate. The discount rate (5.5%) was determined on the basis of the 
Group’s expected rate of return on its forests.

Fair value adjustments resulting in changes in estimates of growth, logging period, price, cost and other assumptions are 
recognized as operating income/ (costs).

At the time of logging, wood is recognized at fair value less estimated costs at point of sale.

1.11 Financial investments

The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and 
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. 

The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification 
of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date. 

All acquisitions and disposals of these investments are recognized on the date of signature of the respective contracts of pur-
chase and sale, regardless of the date of settlement.

Investments are first recognized at their acquisition cost; the fair value is equal to the price paid, including transaction costs. 
Thereafter, measurement will depend on the category in which the investment is placed, as follows:  

1.11.1 Loans and receivables

Loans granted and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They arise when the Group provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no intention of trading 
the receivable. 

They are included in current assets, except for maturity greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are clas-
sified as non-current assets.

Loans granted and receivables are included in receivables and other current assets in the balance sheet (note 21).

1.11.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss 
at inception. A financial asset is classified under this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term 
or if so designated by management. 

Assets in this category are classified as current if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months 
of the balance sheet date. These assets are measured at fair value through the income statement.

1.11.3 Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets, with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities 
that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments in this category are recorded 
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

1.11.4 Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or not classi-
fied in any other categories. They are included in non-current assets, unless management intend to dispose of the investment 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

These financial investments are recognized at market value, as quoted on balance sheet date. If the market of a financial as-
set is not active, the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash-flows analysis and option pricing 
models refined to reflect issuer’s specific circumstances.

Potential gains and losses thus resulting are recorded directly in fair value reserve until the financial investment is sold, recei-
ved, or disposed of in any way, at which time the accumulated gain or loss formerly reflected in shareholders’ equity is taken 
to the income statement.

If there is no market value or if it is not possible to determine one, the investments in question are held at acquisition cost. They 
are provisioned against loss of value when justified.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that the financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. If a prolonged decline in fair value of the available-for-sale financial assets takes place, then the cumulative 
loss – measured as the difference between acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial 
asset previously recognized in profit or loss - is removed from equity and recognized in the income statement.

A recognized impairment loss on available-for-sale financial assets is reversed if the loss was caused by specific external 
events of an exceptional nature that are not expected to recur but which subsequent external events have reversed; under these 
circumstances, reversal does not affect the income statement, the asset’s subsequent positive fluctuation thus being taken to 
the fair value reserve. 

1.12 Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments with the aim of managing the financial risks to which it is exposed.

Whenever expectations of changes in interest or exchange rates so justify, the Group seeks to hedge against adverse 
movements through derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps (IRS), caps and floors, forwards, options, 
etc.
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In the selection of derivative financial instruments, it is their economic aspects that are the main focus of assessment.

Transactions that qualify as cash-flow hedges are recognized in the balance sheet at fair value. To the extent that they are 
considered efficacious hedges, changes in the fair value of IRS are initially recorded as an offset to shareholders’ equity and 
subsequently reclassified under the financial costs heading.

Accordingly, in net terms, costs associated with hedged financings are accrued at the inherent hedging transaction rate con-
tracted. Gains or losses arising from the premature rescission of this type of instrument are taken to the income statement at 
the time they arise.

Although the derivatives contracted by the Group represent effective instruments for the coverage of business risks, not all of 
them qualify as hedging instruments in accounting terms to satisfy the rules and requirements of IAS 39. Instruments that do 
not qualify as hedging instruments in accounting terms are stated on the balance sheet at fair value and changes in same are 
recognized in financial costs.

Whenever possible, the fair value of derivatives is estimated on the basis of quoted instruments. In the absence of market 
prices, the fair value of derivatives is estimated through the discounted cash-flow method and option valuation models, in ac-
cordance with prevailing market assumptions. The fair value of the derivatives financial instruments is included in receivables 
and other current assets and payables and other current liabilities.

1.13 Income tax

Income tax includes current and deferred taxes. Current income tax is determined on the basis of net profit, adjusted in accor-
dance with tax law prevailing on balance sheet date; for interim periods the expected annual effective tax rate is used.

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the liability shown on the balance sheet, on temporary differences between the book 
value of assets and liabilities and the respective tax base. To determine the deferred tax, the tax rate used is that expected to 
prevail in the period during which the temporary differences will reverse.

Deferred tax assets are recognized as assets whenever there is a reasonable assurance that earnings will be generated in the 
future, against which they can be used.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed periodically and revised downwards whenever it no 
longer appears probable that they can be used. 

Deferred taxes are recorded as a cost or profit for the period, except if they arise from amounts recorded directly in the equity, 
in which case the deferred tax is also recorded under the same heading.

1.14 Inventories

Inventories are valued according to the following criteria:

 i) Goods and raw materials

Goods and raw materials are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value. Acquisition cost includes expenses 
incurred up to arrival of goods at the warehouse, using the weighted average cost as the method of costing.

 (ii) Finished and intermediate products and work in progress

Finished and intermediate products and work in progress are valued at the lower of production cost (which includes the cost of 
raw materials, labour and general factory costs, based on the normal production level) and the net realisable value.

The net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less estimated finishing and marketing costs. Differences be-
tween cost and net realisable value, if the latter is lower, are recorded as operating costs.

1.15 Receivables and other current assets

Receivables and other current assets are recorded at nominal value less impairment losses necessary to place them at their 
expected net realisable value.

Impairment losses are recorded when there is objective evidence that the Group will not receive all amounts owed in accordan-
ce with the original conditions of the receivables.

1.16 Cash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term investments 
with original maturities of 3 months or less, which can be mobilised immediately without any significant risk of fluctuations in 
value. 

1.17 Share capital and treasury shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributed to the issue of new shares or other equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the value received as a result of the issuance.

Costs directly imputable to the issuance of new shares or options, for the acquisition of a business are included in the acquisi-
tion cost, as a part of the value of the acquisition.

When a Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any 
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s sharehol-
ders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of.

When such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is reflected in equity.

1.18 Interest-bearing liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Interest-bearing lia-
bilities are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the period of the debt, using the effective interest 
rate method.

Interest-bearing liabilities are classified as current liabilities, unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
 
1.19 Financial costs on loans

Loan related financial costs are generally recognized as financial costs, in accordance with the accrual principle and the effec-
tive interest rate method.

Financial costs on loans directly related to the acquisition, construction, or fixed assets production, are capitalised, to form part 
of the asset’s cost. Capitalization of these charges begins once preparations are started for the construction or development of 
the asset and is suspended after its utilization begins or when the respective project is suspended. 

Any financial income generated by loans that are directly associated with a specific investment is subtracted from financial 
costs eligible for capitalisation.
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In the selection of derivative financial instruments, it is their economic aspects that are the main focus of assessment.

Transactions that qualify as cash-flow hedges are recognized in the balance sheet at fair value. To the extent that they are 
considered efficacious hedges, changes in the fair value of IRS are initially recorded as an offset to shareholders’ equity and 
subsequently reclassified under the financial costs heading.

Accordingly, in net terms, costs associated with hedged financings are accrued at the inherent hedging transaction rate con-
tracted. Gains or losses arising from the premature rescission of this type of instrument are taken to the income statement at 
the time they arise.

Although the derivatives contracted by the Group represent effective instruments for the coverage of business risks, not all of 
them qualify as hedging instruments in accounting terms to satisfy the rules and requirements of IAS 39. Instruments that do 
not qualify as hedging instruments in accounting terms are stated on the balance sheet at fair value and changes in same are 
recognized in financial costs.

Whenever possible, the fair value of derivatives is estimated on the basis of quoted instruments. In the absence of market 
prices, the fair value of derivatives is estimated through the discounted cash-flow method and option valuation models, in ac-
cordance with prevailing market assumptions. The fair value of the derivatives financial instruments is included in receivables 
and other current assets and payables and other current liabilities.

1.13 Income tax

Income tax includes current and deferred taxes. Current income tax is determined on the basis of net profit, adjusted in accor-
dance with tax law prevailing on balance sheet date; for interim periods the expected annual effective tax rate is used.

Deferred tax is calculated on the basis of the liability shown on the balance sheet, on temporary differences between the book 
value of assets and liabilities and the respective tax base. To determine the deferred tax, the tax rate used is that expected to 
prevail in the period during which the temporary differences will reverse.

Deferred tax assets are recognized as assets whenever there is a reasonable assurance that earnings will be generated in the 
future, against which they can be used.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed periodically and revised downwards whenever it no 
longer appears probable that they can be used. 

Deferred taxes are recorded as a cost or profit for the period, except if they arise from amounts recorded directly in the equity, 
in which case the deferred tax is also recorded under the same heading.

1.14 Inventories

Inventories are valued according to the following criteria:

 i) Goods and raw materials

Goods and raw materials are valued at the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value. Acquisition cost includes expenses 
incurred up to arrival of goods at the warehouse, using the weighted average cost as the method of costing.

 (ii) Finished and intermediate products and work in progress

Finished and intermediate products and work in progress are valued at the lower of production cost (which includes the cost of 
raw materials, labour and general factory costs, based on the normal production level) and the net realisable value.

The net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less estimated finishing and marketing costs. Differences be-
tween cost and net realisable value, if the latter is lower, are recorded as operating costs.

1.15 Receivables and other current assets

Receivables and other current assets are recorded at nominal value less impairment losses necessary to place them at their 
expected net realisable value.

Impairment losses are recorded when there is objective evidence that the Group will not receive all amounts owed in accordan-
ce with the original conditions of the receivables.

1.16 Cash and cash equivalents

The cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, and other short-term investments 
with original maturities of 3 months or less, which can be mobilised immediately without any significant risk of fluctuations in 
value. 

1.17 Share capital and treasury shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributed to the issue of new shares or other equity instruments are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the value received as a result of the issuance.

Costs directly imputable to the issuance of new shares or options, for the acquisition of a business are included in the acquisi-
tion cost, as a part of the value of the acquisition.

When a Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any 
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity attributable to the Company’s sharehol-
ders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of.

When such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is reflected in equity.

1.18 Interest-bearing liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Interest-bearing lia-
bilities are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and 
the redemption value is recognized in the income statement over the period of the debt, using the effective interest 
rate method.

Interest-bearing liabilities are classified as current liabilities, unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
 
1.19 Financial costs on loans

Loan related financial costs are generally recognized as financial costs, in accordance with the accrual principle and the effec-
tive interest rate method.

Financial costs on loans directly related to the acquisition, construction, or fixed assets production, are capitalised, to form part 
of the asset’s cost. Capitalization of these charges begins once preparations are started for the construction or development of 
the asset and is suspended after its utilization begins or when the respective project is suspended. 

Any financial income generated by loans that are directly associated with a specific investment is subtracted from financial 
costs eligible for capitalisation.
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1.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognized whenever the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, it is 
more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably 
estimated.

Provisions for future operating losses are not recognized. Provisions are reviewed on balance sheet date and are adjusted to 
reflect the best estimate at that date.

The Group incurs expenditure and assumes liabilities of an environmental nature. Accordingly, expenditures on equipment and 
operating techniques that ensure compliance with applicable legislation and regulations (as well as on the reduction of environ-
mental impacts to levels that do not exceed those representing a viable application of the best available technologies, on those 
related to minimizing energy consumption, atmospheric emissions, the production of residues and noise, those established 
for the execution of plans for the removal of eyesores from the landscape) are capitalised when they are intended to serve the 
Group’s business in a durable way, as well as those associated with future economic benefits and which serve to prolong life 
expectancy, increase capacity or improve the safety or efficiency of other assets in Group ownership.

1.21 Pensions and other employee benefits

1.21.1 Pension obligations - defined benefit plans

Some Group subsidiaries have undertaken to make payments to their employees under the heading of retirement pension sup-
plements covering old age, disability, early retirement and survivors’ benefits, setting up defined benefit pension plans. 

As mentioned in note 26, the Group has set up autonomous pension funds as a way to finance in part its liabilities for those payments. 

In accordance with IAS 19, companies with pension plans recognize the costs of providing these benefits pari passu with the 
services provided by the beneficiaries in their employment. In this way, the total liability is estimated separately for each plan at 
least once every six months, on the date of closing of the interim and annual accounts, by a specialized and independent entity 
in accordance with the projected unit credit method.

Past service costs resulting from the implementation of a new plan, or increases in benefits attributed are recognized imme-
diately in situations where the benefits are to be paid or are past due. 

The liability thus determined is stated on the balance sheet, less the market value of the funds set up and past service liabilities 
not yet recognized, under the retirement benefits obligations heading in non-current liabilities, when insufficient, and in non-
current assets in situations of over-funding.

Actuarial variances arising from the differences between the assumptions used for the purpose of determining liabilities and 
those which effectively occurred (as well as of changes made to same and the difference between the expected return on the 
assets of the funds and their actual yield) are recognized directly on equity when incurred (see note 1.30.1).

Gains and losses generated on a curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit pension plan are recognized in the income 
statement when the curtailment or settlement occurs.

A curtailment occurs when there is a material reduction in the number of employees or when the plan is modified in a way that 
the benefits are materially reduced. 

1.21.2 Holidays and holiday allowances

In accordance with prevailing legislation, workers are entitled to 25 days holiday each year, as well as one month of holiday 
allowances, the right to which is acquired in the year preceding payment.  

Hence, these liabilities are recorded in the period during which workers acquire the respective entitlement, irrespective of the 
date of payment, and the balance to be paid as of balance sheet date is shown under the payables and other current liabili-
ties.

1.22 Payables and other current liabilities

The balances of payables and other current liabilities are stated at their nominal value.

1.23 Government grants

Government grants are recognized only after it becomes certain that the Group will comply with the respective conditions and 
that the same will be received.
 
Operating government grants, received for the purpose of compensating the Group for costs incurred, are recorded systemati-
cally on the income statement during the periods in which the costs that those grants are intended to cover are recognized.

Government grants related to biological assets carried at fair value, in accordance with IAS 41, are recognized in the income 
statement when the terms and conditions of the award of the government grant are met.

The investment government grants that the Group receives to compensate it for capital expenditures are recognized in the 
income statement throughout the estimated useful life of the respective subsidized asset.

1.24 Leases

Property, plant and equipment acquired under financial leases, as well as the respective liabilities are booked by the financial 
method. 

Under this method, the asset is recorded under the property, plant and equipment heading, the respective liability is recorded 
in liabilities under the interest-bearing liabilities heading; the interest component of lease payments and  depreciation of the 
asset, calculated as described in note 1.8, are recognized as costs of the respective period.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, the Group being the les-
see, are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives received from the lessor, 
are charged to the income statement over the period of the lease. 

1.25 Dividend distributions

Dividend distribution to Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in 
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders, up to the time of payment.

1.26 Revenue recognition and the accrual basis

Income from sales is recognized in the consolidated income statement when the risks and benefits inherent in the ownership 
of the respective assets are transferred to the purchaser and the income can be reasonably quantified.  

Sales are recognized net of taxes, discounts and other costs inherent to their completion, at the fair value of the sum received 
or receivable. 

Income from services rendered is recognized in the consolidated income statement by reference to the phase of fulfilment of 
service contracts at balance sheet date. 

Dividend income is recognized when the owners or shareholders entitlement to receive payment is established.
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1.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognized whenever the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, it is 
more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably 
estimated.

Provisions for future operating losses are not recognized. Provisions are reviewed on balance sheet date and are adjusted to 
reflect the best estimate at that date.

The Group incurs expenditure and assumes liabilities of an environmental nature. Accordingly, expenditures on equipment and 
operating techniques that ensure compliance with applicable legislation and regulations (as well as on the reduction of environ-
mental impacts to levels that do not exceed those representing a viable application of the best available technologies, on those 
related to minimizing energy consumption, atmospheric emissions, the production of residues and noise, those established 
for the execution of plans for the removal of eyesores from the landscape) are capitalised when they are intended to serve the 
Group’s business in a durable way, as well as those associated with future economic benefits and which serve to prolong life 
expectancy, increase capacity or improve the safety or efficiency of other assets in Group ownership.

1.21 Pensions and other employee benefits

1.21.1 Pension obligations - defined benefit plans

Some Group subsidiaries have undertaken to make payments to their employees under the heading of retirement pension sup-
plements covering old age, disability, early retirement and survivors’ benefits, setting up defined benefit pension plans. 

As mentioned in note 26, the Group has set up autonomous pension funds as a way to finance in part its liabilities for those payments. 

In accordance with IAS 19, companies with pension plans recognize the costs of providing these benefits pari passu with the 
services provided by the beneficiaries in their employment. In this way, the total liability is estimated separately for each plan at 
least once every six months, on the date of closing of the interim and annual accounts, by a specialized and independent entity 
in accordance with the projected unit credit method.

Past service costs resulting from the implementation of a new plan, or increases in benefits attributed are recognized imme-
diately in situations where the benefits are to be paid or are past due. 

The liability thus determined is stated on the balance sheet, less the market value of the funds set up and past service liabilities 
not yet recognized, under the retirement benefits obligations heading in non-current liabilities, when insufficient, and in non-
current assets in situations of over-funding.

Actuarial variances arising from the differences between the assumptions used for the purpose of determining liabilities and 
those which effectively occurred (as well as of changes made to same and the difference between the expected return on the 
assets of the funds and their actual yield) are recognized directly on equity when incurred (see note 1.30.1).

Gains and losses generated on a curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit pension plan are recognized in the income 
statement when the curtailment or settlement occurs.

A curtailment occurs when there is a material reduction in the number of employees or when the plan is modified in a way that 
the benefits are materially reduced. 

1.21.2 Holidays and holiday allowances

In accordance with prevailing legislation, workers are entitled to 25 days holiday each year, as well as one month of holiday 
allowances, the right to which is acquired in the year preceding payment.  

Hence, these liabilities are recorded in the period during which workers acquire the respective entitlement, irrespective of the 
date of payment, and the balance to be paid as of balance sheet date is shown under the payables and other current liabili-
ties.

1.22 Payables and other current liabilities

The balances of payables and other current liabilities are stated at their nominal value.

1.23 Government grants

Government grants are recognized only after it becomes certain that the Group will comply with the respective conditions and 
that the same will be received.
 
Operating government grants, received for the purpose of compensating the Group for costs incurred, are recorded systemati-
cally on the income statement during the periods in which the costs that those grants are intended to cover are recognized.

Government grants related to biological assets carried at fair value, in accordance with IAS 41, are recognized in the income 
statement when the terms and conditions of the award of the government grant are met.

The investment government grants that the Group receives to compensate it for capital expenditures are recognized in the 
income statement throughout the estimated useful life of the respective subsidized asset.

1.24 Leases

Property, plant and equipment acquired under financial leases, as well as the respective liabilities are booked by the financial 
method. 

Under this method, the asset is recorded under the property, plant and equipment heading, the respective liability is recorded 
in liabilities under the interest-bearing liabilities heading; the interest component of lease payments and  depreciation of the 
asset, calculated as described in note 1.8, are recognized as costs of the respective period.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, the Group being the les-
see, are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives received from the lessor, 
are charged to the income statement over the period of the lease. 

1.25 Dividend distributions

Dividend distribution to Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in 
which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders, up to the time of payment.

1.26 Revenue recognition and the accrual basis

Income from sales is recognized in the consolidated income statement when the risks and benefits inherent in the ownership 
of the respective assets are transferred to the purchaser and the income can be reasonably quantified.  

Sales are recognized net of taxes, discounts and other costs inherent to their completion, at the fair value of the sum received 
or receivable. 

Income from services rendered is recognized in the consolidated income statement by reference to the phase of fulfilment of 
service contracts at balance sheet date. 

Dividend income is recognized when the owners or shareholders entitlement to receive payment is established.
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Interest receivable is recognized according to the accrual principle, taking into account the amount owed and the effective 
interest rate during the period to maturity.

Group companies record their costs and income according to the accrual principle, so that costs and income are recognized as 
they are generated, irrespective of the time at which they are paid or received.

The differences between amounts received and paid and the respective costs and income are stated under the receivables and 
other current assets and payables and other current liabilities headings (notes 21 and 29, respectively).

1.27 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities relative to which an outflow of funds to the detriment of future economic benefits is improbable are not 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements; they are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
unless the possibility of an actual outflow of funds is a remote one, in which case they are not disclosed. Provisions against 
contingent liabilities that satisfy the conditions foreseen in note 1.20 are recognized.

Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed in the notes to the consolida-
ted financial statements when a future economic benefit is probable (see note 36).

1.28 CO2 emission licences

Group’s emissions of CO2 and the CO2 emission licences allocated to the Group, free of charge, under the National Plan for the 
Allocation of CO2 emission licences, do not originate any accounting record, as long as there is no prediction of the probable 
existence of costs to be incurred by the Group with the acquisition of emission licences in the market, which would then require 
a provision.
 
1.29 Subsequent events

Events subsequent to balance sheet date that provide additional information of conditions existing at balance sheet date are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Events subsequent to balance sheet date that provide information on conditions that arose after balance sheet date are disclo-
sed in the notes to the consolidated financial statement, if material.

1.30 New IFRS and IFRIC or changes with no mandatory adoption as at December 31st, 2005    

1.30.1 Changes to IAS 19

On December 16th, 2004, IASB issued an amendment to IAS 19, introducing an option regarding the recognition of actuarial 
gains and losses of defined benefit plans. This change, that will allow to directly recognize actuarial gains and losses under 
an equity heading outside net income, was adopted by the European Union in the second half of 2005, in accordance with the 
European Commission regulation no 1910/2005, of November 8th, applicable to periods beginning after January 1st, 2006.

The Group adopted this amendment, thus, directly recognizing actuarial gains and losses under equity. 

The impacts in the year ended December 31st, 2005 are as follows:

 Amounts in euros 05/12/31
  
 As at January 1st, 2005 (12,375,549)

 Change of the year 2,068,376 

  (10,307,173)

  
 Deferred Tax  2,834,473

 Total impact (7,472,700)

1.30.2 Interpretation IFRIC 4

The European Commission regulation no 1910/2005, of November 8th also adopts IFRIC 4 – Determining whether an arran-
gement contains a lease interpretation, giving orientation on how to evaluate if an agreement contains a lease, effective from 
January 1st, 2006. The Group decided not to anticipate the adoption of this interpretation. 

In case of early adoption, the impacts in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31st, 2005 would 
arise from the application of IFRIC 4 to the agreement regarding the supply of energy made by the subsidiary Soporcel with 
Soporgen (company in which the Group holds a 8% stake), a cogeneration company of EDP Group formed in 1999, with the 
purpose of ensuring the supply of electricity and steam to the mentioned subsidiary. The impacts relate basically to assets and 
liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial statements of Soporgen as follows:

 Increase in total net assets, in the amount of 27,409,750 euros;
 Increase in liabilities (other current liabilities) in the amount of 30,065,568 euros;
 Decrease in net income of the year in the amount of 234,874 euros;
 Decrease in total equity in the amount of 2,655,818 euros.

1.30.3 Other directives/interpretations issued or changed 

In addition, the European Commission regulation no 1910/2005 of November 8th adopted IFRS 6 – Exploration and Evaluation of 
Mineral Resources and IFRIC 5 – Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Funds and 
introduced changes to IAS 39 – Financial Instruments (Recognition and Measurement), whose application is not mandatory as 
of December 31st, 2005. Up to date, the Group has not adopted these new directives or changes to directives already in force, 
nor would their application have a material impact in the present financial statements.
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Interest receivable is recognized according to the accrual principle, taking into account the amount owed and the effective 
interest rate during the period to maturity.

Group companies record their costs and income according to the accrual principle, so that costs and income are recognized as 
they are generated, irrespective of the time at which they are paid or received.

The differences between amounts received and paid and the respective costs and income are stated under the receivables and 
other current assets and payables and other current liabilities headings (notes 21 and 29, respectively).

1.27 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities relative to which an outflow of funds to the detriment of future economic benefits is improbable are not 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements; they are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
unless the possibility of an actual outflow of funds is a remote one, in which case they are not disclosed. Provisions against 
contingent liabilities that satisfy the conditions foreseen in note 1.20 are recognized.

Contingent assets are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed in the notes to the consolida-
ted financial statements when a future economic benefit is probable (see note 36).

1.28 CO2 emission licences

Group’s emissions of CO2 and the CO2 emission licences allocated to the Group, free of charge, under the National Plan for the 
Allocation of CO2 emission licences, do not originate any accounting record, as long as there is no prediction of the probable 
existence of costs to be incurred by the Group with the acquisition of emission licences in the market, which would then require 
a provision.
 
1.29 Subsequent events

Events subsequent to balance sheet date that provide additional information of conditions existing at balance sheet date are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Events subsequent to balance sheet date that provide information on conditions that arose after balance sheet date are disclo-
sed in the notes to the consolidated financial statement, if material.

1.30 New IFRS and IFRIC or changes with no mandatory adoption as at December 31st, 2005    

1.30.1 Changes to IAS 19

On December 16th, 2004, IASB issued an amendment to IAS 19, introducing an option regarding the recognition of actuarial 
gains and losses of defined benefit plans. This change, that will allow to directly recognize actuarial gains and losses under 
an equity heading outside net income, was adopted by the European Union in the second half of 2005, in accordance with the 
European Commission regulation no 1910/2005, of November 8th, applicable to periods beginning after January 1st, 2006.

The Group adopted this amendment, thus, directly recognizing actuarial gains and losses under equity. 

The impacts in the year ended December 31st, 2005 are as follows:

 Amounts in euros 05/12/31
  
 As at January 1st, 2005 (12,375,549)

 Change of the year 2,068,376 

  (10,307,173)

  
 Deferred Tax  2,834,473

 Total impact (7,472,700)

1.30.2 Interpretation IFRIC 4

The European Commission regulation no 1910/2005, of November 8th also adopts IFRIC 4 – Determining whether an arran-
gement contains a lease interpretation, giving orientation on how to evaluate if an agreement contains a lease, effective from 
January 1st, 2006. The Group decided not to anticipate the adoption of this interpretation. 

In case of early adoption, the impacts in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31st, 2005 would 
arise from the application of IFRIC 4 to the agreement regarding the supply of energy made by the subsidiary Soporcel with 
Soporgen (company in which the Group holds a 8% stake), a cogeneration company of EDP Group formed in 1999, with the 
purpose of ensuring the supply of electricity and steam to the mentioned subsidiary. The impacts relate basically to assets and 
liabilities recorded in the consolidated financial statements of Soporgen as follows:

 Increase in total net assets, in the amount of 27,409,750 euros;
 Increase in liabilities (other current liabilities) in the amount of 30,065,568 euros;
 Decrease in net income of the year in the amount of 234,874 euros;
 Decrease in total equity in the amount of 2,655,818 euros.

1.30.3 Other directives/interpretations issued or changed 

In addition, the European Commission regulation no 1910/2005 of November 8th adopted IFRS 6 – Exploration and Evaluation of 
Mineral Resources and IFRIC 5 – Rights to Interests Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental Funds and 
introduced changes to IAS 39 – Financial Instruments (Recognition and Measurement), whose application is not mandatory as 
of December 31st, 2005. Up to date, the Group has not adopted these new directives or changes to directives already in force, 
nor would their application have a material impact in the present financial statements.
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2. Financial risk management

2.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risk factors: foreign exchange risk, price risk, interest rate risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group maintains a program for the management of risk which centers its attention on the financial 
markets and seeks to minimize the potential adverse effects on its financial performance.

Risk management falls within the domain of the finance department in accordance with policies approved by the board of direc-
tors. The financial department assesses and covers financial risks in close collaboration with the Group’s operating units. 

The Board of Directors provides principles of risk management as a whole and policies covering specific areas, such as foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivatives and other non-derivate financial instruments and the invest-
ment of excess liquidity.

2.1.1 Foreign exchange risk

Fluctuations in the euro exchange rate against other currencies can affect the Company’s revenues in a number of ways. On 
the one hand, it is customary to set the price of pulp on the world market in US dollars, so that the trend of the euro against 
the dollar can have an impact on the Company’s future sales even though sales are priced in euros or another currency. On the 
other hand, a significant portion of paper sales is priced in currencies other than the euro, again with special emphasis on the 
US dollar. The euro’s trend vis a vis these currencies can also have an impact on the Company’s future sales.

Furthermore, once a sale is made in a currency other than the euro, the Company assumes an exchange risk up to the time it 
receives the proceeds of that sale. Hence the Company’s assets will always have a significant component of receivables subject 
to foreign exchange risk. The Group does not hold investments in any materially relevant operations with liquid assets exposed 
to foreign exchange risk.

The Group manages foreign exchange risks through the use of derivative financial instruments, in accordance with a policy 
that is subject to periodic review, the prime purpose of which is to limit the exchange risk associated with future sales and the 
exchange risk associated with accounts receivable priced in currencies other than the euro.  

2.1.2 Price risk

The Group is exposed to risks related to world market fluctuations in pulp and paper prices. Price risk was managed in 2005 
using derivative financial instruments, namely forward contracts, entered to limit the risk associated with pulp prices’ fluctu-
ation.

2.1.3 Interest rate risk

The cost of nearly all of the Group’s financial debt is indexed to short-term reference rates, which are reviewed more than once 
a year (generally every six months for medium and long-term debt). Hence, changes in interest rates can have an impact on 
the Company’s earnings.

Interest rate risks are managed through derivative financial instruments, namely interest-rate swaps, the purpose of which is 
to set the interest rate on the Group’s borrowings within certain parameters. As of December 31st, 2005, 475 million euros of the 
Group’s long-term debt was not covered by an interest rate settlement.

2.1.4 Credit risk

Because the Group is exposed to risk in the credit it grants to its customers it has adopted a policy of maximizing its risk cove-
rage by means of credit insurance. 
Sales not covered by credit insurance are subject to rules that ensure that sales are made to customers with a satisfactory 
credit history and which limit exposure to predefined maximum amounts that must be approved for each customer. 

2.1.5 Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk in two ways: firstly by ensuring that its financial debt has a substantial medium and long-term 
component, with maturities appropriate to the characteristics of the industry of which it forms a part.  

Accordingly, a package of financings was completed in 2005, which significantly extended the Company’s debt maturities. In 
addition, it obtained from financial institutions credit facilities that are available at all times and in such amounts as to ensure 
that it has sufficient liquidity. 

3. Important accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the Group’s management to make judgements and estimates 
with a bearing on revenues, costs, assets, liabilities and disclosures on balance sheet date. 

These estimates are determined by the judgment of the Group’s management, based (i) on the best information on and know- 
ledge of present events and in some cases, on the reports of independent experts and (ii) on the actions that the Company 
believes it is able to carry out in the future. However, actual transaction results may differ from estimates.

The estimates and assumptions that present a significant risk that a material adjustment to the book value of the assets and 
liabilities will be needed in the next year are shown below.

3.1 Estimate of goodwill impairment 

Each year, the Group tests whether there is impairment of goodwill, in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 
1.9. Recoverable amounts from the cash generating units are determined on the basis of calculation of values in use. These 
calculations require the use of estimates.

3.2 Income tax 

The Group recognizes liabilities for additional tax assessments that may arise from reviews by the tax authorities. When the 
final result of these reviews differs from the amounts initially recorded, the differences will have an impact on income tax and 
on the provisions for deferred taxes during the period in which such differences are detected.

3.3 Actuarial assumptions

Liabilities for defined benefits are calculated on the basis of certain actuarial assumptions. Changes in these assumptions may 
have a significant impact on those liabilities.
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2. Financial risk management

2.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risk factors: foreign exchange risk, price risk, interest rate risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Group maintains a program for the management of risk which centers its attention on the financial 
markets and seeks to minimize the potential adverse effects on its financial performance.

Risk management falls within the domain of the finance department in accordance with policies approved by the board of direc-
tors. The financial department assesses and covers financial risks in close collaboration with the Group’s operating units. 

The Board of Directors provides principles of risk management as a whole and policies covering specific areas, such as foreign 
exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivatives and other non-derivate financial instruments and the invest-
ment of excess liquidity.

2.1.1 Foreign exchange risk

Fluctuations in the euro exchange rate against other currencies can affect the Company’s revenues in a number of ways. On 
the one hand, it is customary to set the price of pulp on the world market in US dollars, so that the trend of the euro against 
the dollar can have an impact on the Company’s future sales even though sales are priced in euros or another currency. On the 
other hand, a significant portion of paper sales is priced in currencies other than the euro, again with special emphasis on the 
US dollar. The euro’s trend vis a vis these currencies can also have an impact on the Company’s future sales.

Furthermore, once a sale is made in a currency other than the euro, the Company assumes an exchange risk up to the time it 
receives the proceeds of that sale. Hence the Company’s assets will always have a significant component of receivables subject 
to foreign exchange risk. The Group does not hold investments in any materially relevant operations with liquid assets exposed 
to foreign exchange risk.

The Group manages foreign exchange risks through the use of derivative financial instruments, in accordance with a policy 
that is subject to periodic review, the prime purpose of which is to limit the exchange risk associated with future sales and the 
exchange risk associated with accounts receivable priced in currencies other than the euro.  

2.1.2 Price risk

The Group is exposed to risks related to world market fluctuations in pulp and paper prices. Price risk was managed in 2005 
using derivative financial instruments, namely forward contracts, entered to limit the risk associated with pulp prices’ fluctu-
ation.

2.1.3 Interest rate risk

The cost of nearly all of the Group’s financial debt is indexed to short-term reference rates, which are reviewed more than once 
a year (generally every six months for medium and long-term debt). Hence, changes in interest rates can have an impact on 
the Company’s earnings.

Interest rate risks are managed through derivative financial instruments, namely interest-rate swaps, the purpose of which is 
to set the interest rate on the Group’s borrowings within certain parameters. As of December 31st, 2005, 475 million euros of the 
Group’s long-term debt was not covered by an interest rate settlement.

2.1.4 Credit risk

Because the Group is exposed to risk in the credit it grants to its customers it has adopted a policy of maximizing its risk cove-
rage by means of credit insurance. 
Sales not covered by credit insurance are subject to rules that ensure that sales are made to customers with a satisfactory 
credit history and which limit exposure to predefined maximum amounts that must be approved for each customer. 

2.1.5 Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk in two ways: firstly by ensuring that its financial debt has a substantial medium and long-term 
component, with maturities appropriate to the characteristics of the industry of which it forms a part.  

Accordingly, a package of financings was completed in 2005, which significantly extended the Company’s debt maturities. In 
addition, it obtained from financial institutions credit facilities that are available at all times and in such amounts as to ensure 
that it has sufficient liquidity. 

3. Important accounting estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the Group’s management to make judgements and estimates 
with a bearing on revenues, costs, assets, liabilities and disclosures on balance sheet date. 

These estimates are determined by the judgment of the Group’s management, based (i) on the best information on and know- 
ledge of present events and in some cases, on the reports of independent experts and (ii) on the actions that the Company 
believes it is able to carry out in the future. However, actual transaction results may differ from estimates.

The estimates and assumptions that present a significant risk that a material adjustment to the book value of the assets and 
liabilities will be needed in the next year are shown below.

3.1 Estimate of goodwill impairment 

Each year, the Group tests whether there is impairment of goodwill, in accordance with the accounting policy described in note 
1.9. Recoverable amounts from the cash generating units are determined on the basis of calculation of values in use. These 
calculations require the use of estimates.

3.2 Income tax 

The Group recognizes liabilities for additional tax assessments that may arise from reviews by the tax authorities. When the 
final result of these reviews differs from the amounts initially recorded, the differences will have an impact on income tax and 
on the provisions for deferred taxes during the period in which such differences are detected.

3.3 Actuarial assumptions

Liabilities for defined benefits are calculated on the basis of certain actuarial assumptions. Changes in these assumptions may 
have a significant impact on those liabilities.
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4. Segment information

Segment information is shown as they relate to the identified business segments, namely pulp, paper, wood and forest and 
energy. The earnings, assets and liabilities of each segment correspond to those directly allocated to them, as well as to those 
that can be attributed to them on a reasonable basis.

Financial data by business segment for the year ended December 31st, 2005 and 2004 is shown as follows:

              DECEMBER/2005  
   
 Amounts in euros Forest Pulp Paper Energy Eliminations Total

   
REVENUES      
Sales and services - external  4,835,461  242,805,550  711,958,827  62,137,232  -  1,021,737,070 

Sales and services - intersegmental  44,178,665  135,524,909  -  35,777,583  (215,481,157) - 

Sales and services - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  7,349,078 

Total revenues 49,014,126  378,330,459  711,958,827  97,914,815  (215,481,157) 1,029,086,148 

      
PROFIT/(LOSS)      
Segmental profit 2,727,402  47,763,610  88,045,655  703,796  -  139,240,463 

Costs unallocated -  -  -  -  -  (7,163,037)

Operating profit -  -  -  -  -  132,077,426 

Financing costs - net -  -  -  -  -  (45,928,337)

Profit/loss in subsidiaries 
and associates -  -  -  -  -  (124,182)

Income tax -  -  -  -  -  (22,504,508)

Net profit before minority interest -  -  -  -  -  63,520,399 

Minority interest -  -  -  -  -  5,737 

Net profit  -  -  -  -  -  63,526,136 

      
OTHER INFORMATION       
Segment assets 217,431,304  836,992,036  1,000,638,770  21,790,003  -  2,076,852,113 

Financial investments -  -   -  -  - 357,526 

Assets unallocated -  -  -  -  -  109,078,009 

Total assets 217,431,304  836,992,036  1,000,638,770  21,790,003  -  2,186,287,648 

      
Segment liabilities 62,960,773  550,520,182  512,527,564  12,047,010  -  1,138,055,529 

Liabilities unallocated -  -  -  -  -  13,621,229 

Total liabilities 62,960,773  550,520,182  512,527,564  12,047,010  -  1,151,676,758 

      
Capital expenditure -  34,680,935  6,970,641  -  -  41,651,576 

Capital expenditure - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  1,675,880 

Depreciation 631,282  62,735,644  61,715,921  2,165,093  -  127,247,940 

Depreciation - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  1,999,284 

                DECEMBER/2004

     

Amounts in euros Forest Pulp Paper Energy Eliminations Total
      

REVENUES      
Sales and services - external  845,000  230,963,000  721,299,000  15,613,565  -  968,720,565 

Sales and services - intersegmental 76,564,000  105,552,341  -  77,607,659  (259,724,000) - 

Sales and services - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  9,611,018 

Total revenues 77,409,000  336,515,341  721,299,000  93,221,224  (259,724,000) 978,331,583 

      

PROFIT/(LOSS)      
Segmental profit (11,852,000) 29,565,000  61,665,000  245,849  -  133,599,779 

Costs unallocated -  -  -  -  -  (39,765,281)

Operating profit -  -  -  -  -  93,834,498 

Financing costs - net -  -  -  -  -  (22,852,335)

Profit/loss in subsidiaries and associates -  -  -  -  -  -  

IIncome tax -  -  -  -  -  (19,694,014)

Net profit before minority interest -  -  -  -  -  51,288,149 

Minority interest -  -  -  -  -  (4,673)

Net profit  -  -  -  -  -  51,283,476 

OTHER INFORMATION      
Segment assets 297,416,545  812,962,465  1,037,474,199  27,521,192  -  2,175,374,401 

Financial investments -  -  -  -  -  815,594 

Assets unallocated -  -  -  -  -  120,597,892 

Total assets 297,416,000  812,962,000  1,037,474,000  -  -  2,296,787,887 

      
Segment liabilities 55,938,064  329,772,115  873,610,578  11,476,071  -  1,270,796,828 

Liabilities unallocated -  -  -  -  -  17,193,671 

Total liabilities 55,938,000  329,772,000  873,610,000  -  -  1,287,990,499 

      

Capital expenditure -  62,618,112  21,000,104  -  -  83,618,216 

Capital expenditure - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  954,195 

Depreciation 779,321  58,434,332  61,645,123  3,173,701  -  124,032,477 

Depreciation - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  3,980,845 
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4. Segment information

Segment information is shown as they relate to the identified business segments, namely pulp, paper, wood and forest and 
energy. The earnings, assets and liabilities of each segment correspond to those directly allocated to them, as well as to those 
that can be attributed to them on a reasonable basis.

Financial data by business segment for the year ended December 31st, 2005 and 2004 is shown as follows:

              DECEMBER/2005  
   
 Amounts in euros Forest Pulp Paper Energy Eliminations Total

   
REVENUES      
Sales and services - external  4,835,461  242,805,550  711,958,827  62,137,232  -  1,021,737,070 

Sales and services - intersegmental  44,178,665  135,524,909  -  35,777,583  (215,481,157) - 

Sales and services - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  7,349,078 

Total revenues 49,014,126  378,330,459  711,958,827  97,914,815  (215,481,157) 1,029,086,148 

      
PROFIT/(LOSS)      
Segmental profit 2,727,402  47,763,610  88,045,655  703,796  -  139,240,463 

Costs unallocated -  -  -  -  -  (7,163,037)

Operating profit -  -  -  -  -  132,077,426 

Financing costs - net -  -  -  -  -  (45,928,337)

Profit/loss in subsidiaries 
and associates -  -  -  -  -  (124,182)

Income tax -  -  -  -  -  (22,504,508)

Net profit before minority interest -  -  -  -  -  63,520,399 

Minority interest -  -  -  -  -  5,737 

Net profit  -  -  -  -  -  63,526,136 

      
OTHER INFORMATION       
Segment assets 217,431,304  836,992,036  1,000,638,770  21,790,003  -  2,076,852,113 

Financial investments -  -   -  -  - 357,526 

Assets unallocated -  -  -  -  -  109,078,009 

Total assets 217,431,304  836,992,036  1,000,638,770  21,790,003  -  2,186,287,648 

      
Segment liabilities 62,960,773  550,520,182  512,527,564  12,047,010  -  1,138,055,529 

Liabilities unallocated -  -  -  -  -  13,621,229 

Total liabilities 62,960,773  550,520,182  512,527,564  12,047,010  -  1,151,676,758 

      
Capital expenditure -  34,680,935  6,970,641  -  -  41,651,576 

Capital expenditure - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  1,675,880 

Depreciation 631,282  62,735,644  61,715,921  2,165,093  -  127,247,940 

Depreciation - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  1,999,284 

                DECEMBER/2004

     

Amounts in euros Forest Pulp Paper Energy Eliminations Total
      

REVENUES      
Sales and services - external  845,000  230,963,000  721,299,000  15,613,565  -  968,720,565 

Sales and services - intersegmental 76,564,000  105,552,341  -  77,607,659  (259,724,000) - 

Sales and services - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  9,611,018 

Total revenues 77,409,000  336,515,341  721,299,000  93,221,224  (259,724,000) 978,331,583 

      

PROFIT/(LOSS)      
Segmental profit (11,852,000) 29,565,000  61,665,000  245,849  -  133,599,779 

Costs unallocated -  -  -  -  -  (39,765,281)

Operating profit -  -  -  -  -  93,834,498 

Financing costs - net -  -  -  -  -  (22,852,335)

Profit/loss in subsidiaries and associates -  -  -  -  -  -  

IIncome tax -  -  -  -  -  (19,694,014)

Net profit before minority interest -  -  -  -  -  51,288,149 

Minority interest -  -  -  -  -  (4,673)

Net profit  -  -  -  -  -  51,283,476 
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Segment assets 297,416,545  812,962,465  1,037,474,199  27,521,192  -  2,175,374,401 

Financial investments -  -  -  -  -  815,594 

Assets unallocated -  -  -  -  -  120,597,892 

Total assets 297,416,000  812,962,000  1,037,474,000  -  -  2,296,787,887 

      
Segment liabilities 55,938,064  329,772,115  873,610,578  11,476,071  -  1,270,796,828 

Liabilities unallocated -  -  -  -  -  17,193,671 

Total liabilities 55,938,000  329,772,000  873,610,000  -  -  1,287,990,499 

      

Capital expenditure -  62,618,112  21,000,104  -  -  83,618,216 

Capital expenditure - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  954,195 

Depreciation 779,321  58,434,332  61,645,123  3,173,701  -  124,032,477 

Depreciation - unallocated -  -  -  -  -  3,980,845 
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Sales and services rendered by country of destination

 
 PULP AND PAPER
 

Amounts in euros 12/2005 12/2004

Sales and services rendered   
Germany 152,617,380  152,522,000 

Spain 121,203,706  116,603,000 

France 118,715,438  120,617,450 

UK 66,510,442  83,221,622 

Italy 94,751,830  93,928,314 

Portugal 64,323,825  70,087,847 

Netherlands 65,882,595  51,265,768 

USA 61,756,447  61,623,000 

Others 209,002,714  202,392,999 

   
 954,764,377  952,262,000 

The domestic market absorbed all sales and services of the forest and energy segments.

5. Other operating income

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004 the other operating income was as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04 
   
Provisions reversal  3,159,752  6,735,059  

Change in the fair value of biological assets 2,213,597  3,558,753  

Supplementary income 4,820,264  3,864,766  

Gains on inventories 1,900,889  671,611  
Gains on the disposal of non-current assets 782,334  24,959,935  

Excess in tax estimate 2,850,562  6,501,466  

Subsidies 1,160,090  10,070  
Other operating income 594,519  3,140,742  
 17,482,007  49,442,403  

    

As of December 31st, 2004 this heading included the gain from the sale of Ence – Empresa Nacional de Celulose, S.A. (see  
note 19).

6. Costs 

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004, costs were made up as follows:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04 
   
Cost of inventories sold and consumed (351,121,723) (394,082,881) 

Increase/decrease of inventories (finished products) (3,384,371) (15,866,043) 

Consumed material and services (299,988,583) (280,671,315) 

    
Payroll costs   
Remunerations   
  Corporate bodies (3,183,237) (3,421,689) 

  Other remunerations (71,349,054) (67,897,278) 

 (74,532,291) (71,318,967) 

Social charges    
  Pension costs - defined benefit plans (note 26) 1,100,451  (6,155,298) 

  Other payroll costs (42,523,151) (26,104,531) 

  (41,422,700) (32,259,829) 

 (115,954,991) (103,578,796) 

Other operating costs    
  Recovery of costs relted to capital expenditure 973,810  3,044,760  

  Subscription dues (797,852) (767,849) 

  Research and development (2,031,579) (3,034,453) 

  Losses on inventories (1,770,743) (4,721,084) 

  Provisions (1,498,515) (172,342) 

  Indirect taxes  (3,326,521) (3,207,622) 

   Adjustments to inventories and debt receivable (3,405,292) (525,735) 

  Other operating costs (2,937,145) (2,342,807) 

  (14,793,837) (11,727,132) 

Total costs (785,243,505) (805,926,167) 

The other payroll costs heading includes an amount of 16,332,619 euros related to compensations paid to employees for termi-
nation of employment contracts by mutual agreement during 2005 (2004: 3,598,167 euros).
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Sales and services rendered by country of destination

 
 PULP AND PAPER
 

Amounts in euros 12/2005 12/2004

Sales and services rendered   
Germany 152,617,380  152,522,000 

Spain 121,203,706  116,603,000 

France 118,715,438  120,617,450 

UK 66,510,442  83,221,622 

Italy 94,751,830  93,928,314 

Portugal 64,323,825  70,087,847 

Netherlands 65,882,595  51,265,768 

USA 61,756,447  61,623,000 

Others 209,002,714  202,392,999 

   
 954,764,377  952,262,000 

The domestic market absorbed all sales and services of the forest and energy segments.

5. Other operating income

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004 the other operating income was as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04 
   
Provisions reversal  3,159,752  6,735,059  

Change in the fair value of biological assets 2,213,597  3,558,753  

Supplementary income 4,820,264  3,864,766  

Gains on inventories 1,900,889  671,611  
Gains on the disposal of non-current assets 782,334  24,959,935  

Excess in tax estimate 2,850,562  6,501,466  

Subsidies 1,160,090  10,070  
Other operating income 594,519  3,140,742  
 17,482,007  49,442,403  

    

As of December 31st, 2004 this heading included the gain from the sale of Ence – Empresa Nacional de Celulose, S.A. (see  
note 19).

6. Costs 

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004, costs were made up as follows:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04 
   
Cost of inventories sold and consumed (351,121,723) (394,082,881) 

Increase/decrease of inventories (finished products) (3,384,371) (15,866,043) 

Consumed material and services (299,988,583) (280,671,315) 

    
Payroll costs   
Remunerations   
  Corporate bodies (3,183,237) (3,421,689) 

  Other remunerations (71,349,054) (67,897,278) 

 (74,532,291) (71,318,967) 

Social charges    
  Pension costs - defined benefit plans (note 26) 1,100,451  (6,155,298) 

  Other payroll costs (42,523,151) (26,104,531) 

  (41,422,700) (32,259,829) 

 (115,954,991) (103,578,796) 

Other operating costs    
  Recovery of costs relted to capital expenditure 973,810  3,044,760  

  Subscription dues (797,852) (767,849) 

  Research and development (2,031,579) (3,034,453) 

  Losses on inventories (1,770,743) (4,721,084) 

  Provisions (1,498,515) (172,342) 

  Indirect taxes  (3,326,521) (3,207,622) 

   Adjustments to inventories and debt receivable (3,405,292) (525,735) 

  Other operating costs (2,937,145) (2,342,807) 

  (14,793,837) (11,727,132) 

Total costs (785,243,505) (805,926,167) 

The other payroll costs heading includes an amount of 16,332,619 euros related to compensations paid to employees for termi-
nation of employment contracts by mutual agreement during 2005 (2004: 3,598,167 euros).
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7. Remuneration of members of the corporate bodies

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004, the remuneration of the members of the corporate bodies was as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Board of Directors   
Portucel, S.A. 237,375  236,775 

Board members of Portucel in other companies 2,414,510  2,577,697

Corporate bodies of other Group companies 347,566  396,030

Statutory Auditor 179,286  190,165 

Environment Concerns Committee -  13,917 

General Meeting 4,500  7,106 

 3,183,237  3,421,689 

In 2005, remuneration of corporate bodies includes an amount of 369,198 euros corresponding to remunerations of two Board 
members directly paid by the shareholder Semapa – Sociedade de Investimento e Gestão SGPS,S.A. (2004: 219,189 euros  
debited by Portucel SGPS).

8. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004, depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses were as following:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Property, plant & equipment depreciation    
Land (33,659) (33,846)

Buildings and other constructions (18,386,588) (18,207,469)

Equipment (102,908,848) (102,350,501)

Other tangible assets (7,808,621) (6,610,768)

 (129,137,716) (127,202,585)

Other intangible assets amortisation   
Industrial property and other rights (109,508) (810,738)

 (109,508) (810,738)

 (129,247,224) (128,013,322)

9. Share of results of associates and joint ventures

    
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04 
    
Portucel International Trading, S.A. (124,182) -  

Others -  -  

    

 (124,182) -  

  

Portucel International Trading, S.A. is carried under the investments in associates and joint ventures heading, valued by the 
equity method; the choice of this method is explained by the fact that the company is now in liquidation process.

10. Financial costs (net)

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004, financial costs showed the following breakdown:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04     
    
Interest paid on loans (25,854,786) (34,089,954) 

Other interest earned  1,461,568  10,706,700  
Income from marketable securities 154,800  1,355,738  

Foreign exchange differences (13,777,927) 1,001,966  
Commissions and losses on financial investments (7,831,991) (3,813,329) 

Other financial costs  (701,860) (1,499,258) 

Other financial income  621,859  3,485,802  

 (45,928,337) (22,852,335) 

11. Income tax

11.1 Income tax expense

Effective January 1st, 2003, Portucel has been subject to the special tax regime applicable to groups of companies made up of 
those held as to 90% or more and which meet the conditions foreseen in article 63 et seq of the Portuguese Corporate Tax Code 
(Código do Imposto sobre o Rendimento de Pessoas Colectivas). 

Companies included in the group of companies subject to this regime, determine and record income tax as though they were 
taxed on an individual basis. If gains are determined on the application of this regime, they are recorded as an income of the 
holding company (Portucel).

In accordance with prevailing legislation, the gains and losses from Group companies and associates that arise from the ap-
plication of the equity method are deducted or added, respectively, from or to the profit for the period when determining the 
taxable income for the period.

Dividends are considered when determining the taxable income in the year in which they are received, if holdings are less than 
10% or if the assets are held for less than one year, unless the acquisition costs exceeds 20,000,000 euros.
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Annual income tax returns are subject to review and potential adjustment by the tax authorities for a period of up to 4 years. 
However, if tax losses are reported, these may be subject to review by the tax authorities for a period of up to 6 years. 

The Board of Directors believes that any adjustments to those returns that result from reviews/inspections by the tax authori-
ties will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements on December 31st, 2005.

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004, income tax can be analysed as follows:

Amounts in euros 2005 2004 
    
Current tax 190,131  9,628,208  

Tax loss for the period to be used under the Group income tax (955,150) -  

Current tax provision 2,665,482  3,392,719  
Deferred tax 20,604,045  6,673,087  

 22,504,508  19,694,014  

On December 31st, 2005 and 2004, the effective income tax rate reconciliation was as follows:

Amounts in euros 2005 2004  

Profit before tax 86,024,907  70,982,163 

      
Expected income tax 27.50% 23,656,849  27.50% 19,520,095 

Differences (a) (2.74%) (2,357,869) 1.71% 1,211,988 

Tax losses brought forward  0.00% -  (2.13%) (1,510,880)

Current tax provision 3.10%  2,665,482  4.78% 3,392,719 

Adjustments to current tax (1.70%)  (1,459,954) (4.11%) (2,919,908)

 26.16% 22,504,508  27.75% 19,694,014 

      
(a) This amount is made up essentially of:       

 2005 2004
    
Amortisation of goodwill (note 15) -  19,843,403 

Capital gains(losses) for tax purposes (547,371) 12,652,124 

Capital gains/losses for accounting purposes 5,075,539  (24,179,013)

Provisions not allowed for tax purposes  13,744,950  3,410,346 

Tax benefits (67,786) - 

Decrease in provisions not allowed for tax purposes (16,122,500) (3,040,427)

Contributions for pension funds (9,070,172) (7,268,000)

Other (1,586,729) 2,988,797 

 (8,574,069) 4,407,230

Tax effect  (27.50%) (2,357,869) 1,211,988 

 

11.2 Income tax provision

During the first half of 2003, the tax authorities carried out an inspection which included a review to all aspects related to the 
Soporcel tax incentive referred in note 35. Following this inspection, the tax authorities presented additional amounts due re-
lated to the fiscal years of 1998 to 2001, against which Soporcel took legal action in 2003, amounting to some 11,493,348 euros, 
including penalty interest, related mainly with tax deductions from this tax incentive.

Soporcel’s Board of Directors decided that prudence was advisable in dealing with this issue and on December 31st, 2005 a 
provision in the amount of 18,556,390 euros (December 31st, 2004: 16,033,804 euros) was registered to cover tax contingencies 
relative to (i) the above-mentioned additional amounts due of 11,493,348 euros, (ii) estimated tax contingencies relative to the 
years from 2002 to 2005, totalling 4,939,526 euros and (iii) increased penalty interest relative to the above amounts due totalling 
2,123,515 euros (see note 22). 

In light of the pending legal action, Soporcel extended two bank guarantees to the tax authorities (Direcção Geral de Contribuição 
e Impostos), in the amount of 15,677,315 euros (see note 35).

12. Earnings per share

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Profit attributable to equity holders of the company  63,526,136  51,283,476 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  767,500,000  767,500,000 

Basic net earnings per share 0.083  0.067 

   

Since there are no outstanding financial instruments convertible in Group shares, its earnings are undiluted.

13. Minority interests

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Opening balance 204,875  200,202 

Changes in the period (28,341) - 

Income for the period (5,737) 4,673 

Closing balance 170,796  204,875 

 
   
Minority interests relate to RAIZ – Forestry and Paper Research Institute (Instituto de Investigação da Floresta e Papel).
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14. Application of preceding year’s earnings

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05
 
Dividends distribution  28,472,004 

Legal reserves 1,666,847 

Other reserves 3,198,092 

Retained earnings 17,946,533 

 51,283,476 

The resolution for the application of 2004 earnings, passed at Portucel’s General Meeting on April 19th, 2005, was based on the net profit 
for the year as defined by the accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal (Portuguese GAAP). The difference in earnings between 
the two standards, totalling 17,946,533 euros was transferred to retained earnings.

15. Goodwill

During 2005 and 2004, changes in goodwill were as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Acquisition cost  
Opening balance 428,132,254  428,132,254 

Acquisitions -  - 

Disposals -  - 

Adjustments -  - 

Closing balance 428,132,254  428,132,254 

   
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses  
Opening balance (51,375,870) (51,375,870)

Amortisations and impairment losses -  - 

Disposals -  - 

Exchange rate fluctuations -  - 

Closing balance (51,375,870) (51,375,870)

  
Book value - opening balance 376,756,384  376,756,384 

Book value - closing balance 376,756,384  376,756,384 

 -  - 

    

Entity Year of acquisition 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
Soporcel, S.A. 2001 376,756,384 376,756,384

 
  

Following the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. for 1,154,842,000 
euros, goodwill was determined, this representing the difference between acquisition cost of the holding and the respective 
shareholders’ equity as of the date of the first consolidation, retroactive to January 1st, 2001, adjusted by the effect of attribution 
of fair value to Soporcel’s property, plant and equipment.

The goodwill was amortised up to December 31st, 2003 (transition date).

With reference to December 31st, 2005, the Group calculated the recoverable amount of Soporcel assets  (to which the goodwill 
recorded in the consolidated financial statements is associated), based on value-in-use calculations, in accordance with the 
discounted cash flow method. The calculations were based on past performance and business expectations with the actual 
production structure, having used the budget for 2006 and a cash flow estimate for 2007 to 2020 based on a constant sales 
volume. As a result of the calculations, no impairment losses were identified. 

The main assumptions for the above-mentioned calculation were as follows:

Period under analysis  2006-2020
Inflation rate  2%
Discount rate  7%
Production growth  0%
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16. Other intangible assets

Over the years ended December 31st, 2005 and 2004, changes in other intangible assets were as follows:

Amounts in euros   
         
 
Acquisition Costs     

Amount as of January 1st, 2004 5,386,646  2,109,974  5,270,142  12,766,762  

Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  
Acquisitions 41,690  47,234  3,727,879  3,816,803  
Disposals -  -  -  -  
Adjustments, transfers and write-off’s -  279,346  (8,876,000) (8,596,654) 
Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  
Amount as of December 31st, 2004 5,428,336  2,436,554  122,021  7,986,911  

Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  
Acquisitions -  11,644  286,269  297,913 

 Disposals -  -  -  -  
Adjustments, transfers and write-off’s (1,137,177) (95,608) (408,290) (1,641,075) 
Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  
Amount as of December 31st, 2005 4,291,159  2,352,590  -  6,643,749  
    

Accumulated amortisations and impaiment losses     
Amount as of January 1st, 2004 (2,820,356) (2,097,634) -  (4,917,990) 
Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  
Amortisations and impairment losses (765,441) (45,297) -  (810,738) 
Disposals -  -  -  -  
Adjustments, transfers and write-off’s (1,402,281) (71,066) -  (1,473,347) 
Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  
Amount as of December 31st, 2004 (4,988,078) (2,213,997) -  (7,202,075) 

Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  
Amortisations and impairment losses -  (109,508) -  (109,508) 
Disposals -  -  -  -  
Adjustments, transfers and write-off’s 696,919  -  -  696,919  
Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  
Amount as of December 31st, 2005 (4,291,159) (2,323,505) -  (6,614,664) 

 Net book value as of January 1st, 2004 2,566,290  12,340  5,270,142  7,848,772  

Net book value as of December 31st, 2004 440,258  222,557  122,021  784,836  
Net book value as of December 31st, 2005 -  29,085  -  29,085  

  

Total

Reserch and

development

expenses

Industrial

property and

other rights

Intangible

assets in

progress

17. Property, plant and equipment

Over the years ended on December 31st, 2005 and 2004, changes in the property, plant and equipment accounts, as well as the 
respective depreciations and impairment losses, were as follows:

            
Accquisition costs      
 Amount as of January 1st, 2004 99,468,581  364,771,562 2,246,583,224  124,463,903  41,947,773  2,877,235,043 

 Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Acquisitions -  2,775,000  10,654,419  58,190,000  12,952,992  84,572,411 

 Disposals (90,436) -  (10,735,305) -  -  (10,825,741)

 Adjustments, transfers 
 and writte-off’s 1,274,206  11,003,666  135,098,267  (93,810,055) (54,900,765) (1,334,681)

 Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Amount as of December 31st, 2004 100,652,351  378,550,228  2,381,600,605  88,843,848  -  2,949,647,032 

 Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Acquisitions -  498,762  9,975,578  32,853,116  -  43,327,456 

 Disposals (64,006) -  (4,625,400) -  -  (4,689,406)

 Adjustments, transfers  
 and writte-off’s 568,975  6,921,333  47,086,691  (46,003,083) -  8,573,916 

 Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Amount as of December 31st, 2005 101,157,320  385,970,323  2,434,037,474  75,693,881  -  2,996,858,998 

       
Accumulated depreciations 
and impaiment losses       
 Amount as of January 1st, 2004 (160,427) (171,500,577) (1,450,002,398) -  -  (1,621,663,402)

 Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  -  -

 Depreciations and impairment losses (33,846) (18,207,469) (108,961,269) -  -  (127,202,584)

 Disposals -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Adjustments, transfers  
 and writte-off’s 187  (553,955) 14,880,707  -  -  14,326,939 

 Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Amount as of December 31st, 2004 (194,086) (190,262,001) (1,544,082,960) -  -  (1,734,539,047)

 Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Depreciations and impairment losses  (33,659) (18,386,588) (110,717,469) -  -  (129,137,716)

 Disposals -  -  3,741,291  -  -  3,741,291 

 Adjustments, transfers  
 and writte-off’s -  (404,497) (9,608,994) -  -  (10,013,491)

 Exchange rate adjustments -  -   -  -  - 

 Amount as of December 31st, 2005 (227,745) (209,053,086) (1,660,668,132) -  -  (1,869,948,963)

        
 Net book value as of 
 January 1st, 2004 99,308,154  193,270,985  796,580,826  124,463,903  41,947,773  1,255,571,641 

 Net book value as of 
 December 31st, 2004  100,458,265  188,288,227  837,517,645  88,843,848  -  1,215,107,985 

 Net book value as of 
 December 31st, 2005 100,929,575  176,917,237  773,369,342  75,693,881  -  1,126,910,035 
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16. Other intangible assets

Over the years ended December 31st, 2005 and 2004, changes in other intangible assets were as follows:

Amounts in euros   
         
 
Acquisition Costs     

Amount as of January 1st, 2004 5,386,646  2,109,974  5,270,142  12,766,762  

Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  
Acquisitions 41,690  47,234  3,727,879  3,816,803  
Disposals -  -  -  -  
Adjustments, transfers and write-off’s -  279,346  (8,876,000) (8,596,654) 
Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  
Amount as of December 31st, 2004 5,428,336  2,436,554  122,021  7,986,911  

Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  
Acquisitions -  11,644  286,269  297,913 

 Disposals -  -  -  -  
Adjustments, transfers and write-off’s (1,137,177) (95,608) (408,290) (1,641,075) 
Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  
Amount as of December 31st, 2005 4,291,159  2,352,590  -  6,643,749  
    

Accumulated amortisations and impaiment losses     
Amount as of January 1st, 2004 (2,820,356) (2,097,634) -  (4,917,990) 
Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  
Amortisations and impairment losses (765,441) (45,297) -  (810,738) 
Disposals -  -  -  -  
Adjustments, transfers and write-off’s (1,402,281) (71,066) -  (1,473,347) 
Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  
Amount as of December 31st, 2004 (4,988,078) (2,213,997) -  (7,202,075) 

Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  
Amortisations and impairment losses -  (109,508) -  (109,508) 
Disposals -  -  -  -  
Adjustments, transfers and write-off’s 696,919  -  -  696,919  
Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  
Amount as of December 31st, 2005 (4,291,159) (2,323,505) -  (6,614,664) 

 Net book value as of January 1st, 2004 2,566,290  12,340  5,270,142  7,848,772  

Net book value as of December 31st, 2004 440,258  222,557  122,021  784,836  
Net book value as of December 31st, 2005 -  29,085  -  29,085  

  

Total

Reserch and

development

expenses

Industrial

property and

other rights

Intangible

assets in

progress

17. Property, plant and equipment

Over the years ended on December 31st, 2005 and 2004, changes in the property, plant and equipment accounts, as well as the 
respective depreciations and impairment losses, were as follows:

            
Accquisition costs      
 Amount as of January 1st, 2004 99,468,581  364,771,562 2,246,583,224  124,463,903  41,947,773  2,877,235,043 

 Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Acquisitions -  2,775,000  10,654,419  58,190,000  12,952,992  84,572,411 

 Disposals (90,436) -  (10,735,305) -  -  (10,825,741)

 Adjustments, transfers 
 and writte-off’s 1,274,206  11,003,666  135,098,267  (93,810,055) (54,900,765) (1,334,681)

 Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Amount as of December 31st, 2004 100,652,351  378,550,228  2,381,600,605  88,843,848  -  2,949,647,032 

 Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Acquisitions -  498,762  9,975,578  32,853,116  -  43,327,456 

 Disposals (64,006) -  (4,625,400) -  -  (4,689,406)

 Adjustments, transfers  
 and writte-off’s 568,975  6,921,333  47,086,691  (46,003,083) -  8,573,916 

 Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Amount as of December 31st, 2005 101,157,320  385,970,323  2,434,037,474  75,693,881  -  2,996,858,998 

       
Accumulated depreciations 
and impaiment losses       
 Amount as of January 1st, 2004 (160,427) (171,500,577) (1,450,002,398) -  -  (1,621,663,402)

 Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  -  -

 Depreciations and impairment losses (33,846) (18,207,469) (108,961,269) -  -  (127,202,584)

 Disposals -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Adjustments, transfers  
 and writte-off’s 187  (553,955) 14,880,707  -  -  14,326,939 

 Exchange rate adjustments -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Amount as of December 31st, 2004 (194,086) (190,262,001) (1,544,082,960) -  -  (1,734,539,047)

 Changes in the perimeter -  -  -  -  -  - 

 Depreciations and impairment losses  (33,659) (18,386,588) (110,717,469) -  -  (129,137,716)

 Disposals -  -  3,741,291  -  -  3,741,291 

 Adjustments, transfers  
 and writte-off’s -  (404,497) (9,608,994) -  -  (10,013,491)

 Exchange rate adjustments -  -   -  -  - 

 Amount as of December 31st, 2005 (227,745) (209,053,086) (1,660,668,132) -  -  (1,869,948,963)

        
 Net book value as of 
 January 1st, 2004 99,308,154  193,270,985  796,580,826  124,463,903  41,947,773  1,255,571,641 

 Net book value as of 
 December 31st, 2004  100,458,265  188,288,227  837,517,645  88,843,848  -  1,215,107,985 

 Net book value as of 
 December 31st, 2005 100,929,575  176,917,237  773,369,342  75,693,881  -  1,126,910,035 
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Among the Group’s investments in property, plant and equipment during the year ended December 31st, 2005 the most impor-
tant was the new recovery boiler at the Cacia pulp mill.

18. Biological assets

Over the years ended on December 31st, 2005 and 2004, changes in biological assets were as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Amount as of January 1st 134,025,278  125,399,983 

Acquisitions -  5,066,542 

Changes in fair value (note 5) 2,213,597  3,558,753 

 136,238,875  134,025,278 
   

During 2005, the value of lumbered wood amounts to 12,460,461 euros. 

On December 31st, 2005, biological assets include an amount of 12,703,490 euros related to assets for which there is an expec-
tation of their realisation within a period of 12 months.

19. Investments in associates and joint ventures

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, investments in associates and other investments comprised the following:

Associates and other investments % held 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
Equipar - 32,423  32,423 

Lusitaniagas - 5,267  5,267 

IBET - 39,963  39,964 

Soset - 24,939  24,939 

Portucel International Trading, S.A. 100% 239,669  363,848 

Soporgen 8% 4,000  4,000 

TASC - 11,223  11,223 

Others - 42  333,930 

  357,526  815,594 

Changes under this heading during the years ended December 31st, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
 

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Acquisition cost at the beginning of the year 815,594  37,081,109 

Acquisitions -  - 

Disposals -  (46,457,280)

Share of results (124,179) 11,529,964 

Subsidiaries transference (333,889) (1,338,199)

 357,526  815,594 

As of December 31st, 2003, this heading included 34,945,601 euros (of which 12,744,000 euros relative to the increase in fair 
value on that date) of a 8% holding in ENCE – Empresa Nacional de Celulose, S.A., a Spanish producer of cellulose pulp. This 
equity holding was disposed of in December of 2004 with a gain of 23,379,511 euros.

20. Inventories

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004 inventories comprised the following:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Raw materials 89,257,482  95,920,490 

Work in progress 13,679,225  6,446,521 

Byproducts and waste 311,581  705,564 

Finished and intermediate products 26,954,373  40,505,609 

Merchandise 222,411  94,546 
Advances to suppliers of inventories 687,453  445,849 

 131,112,525  144,118,579 

21.  Receivables and other current assets

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, receivables and other current assets showed the following breakdown:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Clients 211,659,338  213,035,057 

Clients - associated companies (note 31) 1,473,622  - 

Sales discounts (1,025,577) (2,225,776)

Derivative financial instruments (note 30) 5,172,157  2,010,198 
Accrued income 2,425,895  1,367,937 

Other receivables 3,051,346  2,530,546 
Deferred costs 3,741,220  3,177,296 
 226,498,001  219,895,258 
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Among the Group’s investments in property, plant and equipment during the year ended December 31st, 2005 the most impor-
tant was the new recovery boiler at the Cacia pulp mill.

18. Biological assets

Over the years ended on December 31st, 2005 and 2004, changes in biological assets were as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Amount as of January 1st 134,025,278  125,399,983 

Acquisitions -  5,066,542 

Changes in fair value (note 5) 2,213,597  3,558,753 

 136,238,875  134,025,278 
   

During 2005, the value of lumbered wood amounts to 12,460,461 euros. 

On December 31st, 2005, biological assets include an amount of 12,703,490 euros related to assets for which there is an expec-
tation of their realisation within a period of 12 months.

19. Investments in associates and joint ventures

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, investments in associates and other investments comprised the following:

Associates and other investments % held 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
Equipar - 32,423  32,423 

Lusitaniagas - 5,267  5,267 

IBET - 39,963  39,964 

Soset - 24,939  24,939 

Portucel International Trading, S.A. 100% 239,669  363,848 

Soporgen 8% 4,000  4,000 

TASC - 11,223  11,223 

Others - 42  333,930 

  357,526  815,594 

Changes under this heading during the years ended December 31st, 2005 and 2004 were as follows:
 

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Acquisition cost at the beginning of the year 815,594  37,081,109 

Acquisitions -  - 

Disposals -  (46,457,280)

Share of results (124,179) 11,529,964 

Subsidiaries transference (333,889) (1,338,199)

 357,526  815,594 

As of December 31st, 2003, this heading included 34,945,601 euros (of which 12,744,000 euros relative to the increase in fair 
value on that date) of a 8% holding in ENCE – Empresa Nacional de Celulose, S.A., a Spanish producer of cellulose pulp. This 
equity holding was disposed of in December of 2004 with a gain of 23,379,511 euros.

20. Inventories

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004 inventories comprised the following:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Raw materials 89,257,482  95,920,490 

Work in progress 13,679,225  6,446,521 

Byproducts and waste 311,581  705,564 

Finished and intermediate products 26,954,373  40,505,609 

Merchandise 222,411  94,546 
Advances to suppliers of inventories 687,453  445,849 

 131,112,525  144,118,579 

21.  Receivables and other current assets

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, receivables and other current assets showed the following breakdown:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Clients 211,659,338  213,035,057 

Clients - associated companies (note 31) 1,473,622  - 

Sales discounts (1,025,577) (2,225,776)

Derivative financial instruments (note 30) 5,172,157  2,010,198 
Accrued income 2,425,895  1,367,937 

Other receivables 3,051,346  2,530,546 
Deferred costs 3,741,220  3,177,296 
 226,498,001  219,895,258 
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In the year ended December 31st, 2005, the Group recognized an impairment loss in the amount of 1,383,332 euros (2004: 
525,735 euros) relative to receivables, recorded under other operating costs heading.

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, accumulated impairment losses relative to customers stood at 4,979,778 euros and 
3,613,715 euros respectively.

In 2005, impairment losses in the amount of 410,723 euros have been recorded related to the other debtors heading. 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004 accumulated impairment losses related to other debtors totalled 420,919 euros and 33,422 
euros, respectively. 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, other receivables, can be analysed as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04

Shareholders and associates    
 Shareholders -  168 

 Associates - receivables (note 31) 812,131  860,224 
  812,131  860,392 

Others    
 Advances to staff 163,165  396,552 

 Packings to be returned to suppliers -  31,968 

 Other debtors 2,076,050  1,241,634 

  2,239,215  1,670,154 

  3,051,346  2,530,546  

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, the accrued income and deferred costs can be analysed as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04

Accrued income    
 Interest receivable 28,485  6,040 

 Discounts in acquisitions 26,735  43,304 

 Subsidies 973,421  - 

 Compensations 858,406  858,406 

 Other 538,848  460,187 

  2,425,895  1,367,937 

Deferred costs    
 Interests with bank loans 152,444  2,988,165 

 Major repairs 566,746  - 

 Costs with inventories 2,582,615  70,673 

 Other 439,414  118,458 
  3,741,220  3,177,296 

  6,167,115  4,545,233 

22. State and other public entities

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, there were no debts in arrears to the state and other public entities. Balances with these 
entities were as follows:

Current  assets

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
State and other public entities   
 Corporate income tax 6,138,119  23,805,839 

 Value added tax 5,801,927  5,762,112 

 Value added tax - refunds requested 24,192,073  28,924,384 

 Other -  - 
  36,132,119  58,492,335 

 
Current liabilities

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
State and other public entities   
 Corporate income tax 21,278,378  16,033,804 

 Salaries income tax - withholdings 904,997  906,230 

 Value added tax 3,513,140 1,078,039 

 Social security 1,981,671  2,075,859 

 Other 58,360  186,416 
  27,736,546  20,280,348

The amount within corporate income tax includes a provision in the amount of 18,556,390 euros to cover contingencies asso-
ciated with the tax litigation referred to in note 11.

23. Share capital and treasury shares

As of December 31st, 2005, the share capital of Portucel was fully subscribed and paid in; it is represented by 767,500,000 shares 
with nominal value of 1 euro each, of which 60,500 are held as treasury shares (nominal value). There were no changes under 
these headings during 2005 and 2004.

As of December 31st, 2005, shareholders with significant positions in the Company’s equity were as follows:

Entities No  of shares %   

Semapa Investments, BV 284,712,433  37.10%
Seinpart - Participações, SGPS, S.A. 230,250,000  30.00%
Parpública - Participações Públicas (SGPS), S.A. 197,432,769  25.72%
Other shareholders 55,104,798  7.18%
   
 767,500,000  100.00%
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In the year ended December 31st, 2005, the Group recognized an impairment loss in the amount of 1,383,332 euros (2004: 
525,735 euros) relative to receivables, recorded under other operating costs heading.

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, accumulated impairment losses relative to customers stood at 4,979,778 euros and 
3,613,715 euros respectively.

In 2005, impairment losses in the amount of 410,723 euros have been recorded related to the other debtors heading. 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004 accumulated impairment losses related to other debtors totalled 420,919 euros and 33,422 
euros, respectively. 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, other receivables, can be analysed as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04

Shareholders and associates    
 Shareholders -  168 

 Associates - receivables (note 31) 812,131  860,224 
  812,131  860,392 

Others    
 Advances to staff 163,165  396,552 

 Packings to be returned to suppliers -  31,968 

 Other debtors 2,076,050  1,241,634 

  2,239,215  1,670,154 

  3,051,346  2,530,546  

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, the accrued income and deferred costs can be analysed as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04

Accrued income    
 Interest receivable 28,485  6,040 

 Discounts in acquisitions 26,735  43,304 

 Subsidies 973,421  - 

 Compensations 858,406  858,406 

 Other 538,848  460,187 

  2,425,895  1,367,937 

Deferred costs    
 Interests with bank loans 152,444  2,988,165 

 Major repairs 566,746  - 

 Costs with inventories 2,582,615  70,673 

 Other 439,414  118,458 
  3,741,220  3,177,296 

  6,167,115  4,545,233 

22. State and other public entities

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, there were no debts in arrears to the state and other public entities. Balances with these 
entities were as follows:

Current  assets

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
State and other public entities   
 Corporate income tax 6,138,119  23,805,839 

 Value added tax 5,801,927  5,762,112 

 Value added tax - refunds requested 24,192,073  28,924,384 

 Other -  - 
  36,132,119  58,492,335 

 
Current liabilities

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
State and other public entities   
 Corporate income tax 21,278,378  16,033,804 

 Salaries income tax - withholdings 904,997  906,230 

 Value added tax 3,513,140 1,078,039 

 Social security 1,981,671  2,075,859 

 Other 58,360  186,416 
  27,736,546  20,280,348

The amount within corporate income tax includes a provision in the amount of 18,556,390 euros to cover contingencies asso-
ciated with the tax litigation referred to in note 11.

23. Share capital and treasury shares

As of December 31st, 2005, the share capital of Portucel was fully subscribed and paid in; it is represented by 767,500,000 shares 
with nominal value of 1 euro each, of which 60,500 are held as treasury shares (nominal value). There were no changes under 
these headings during 2005 and 2004.

As of December 31st, 2005, shareholders with significant positions in the Company’s equity were as follows:

Entities No  of shares %   

Semapa Investments, BV 284,712,433  37.10%
Seinpart - Participações, SGPS, S.A. 230,250,000  30.00%
Parpública - Participações Públicas (SGPS), S.A. 197,432,769  25.72%
Other shareholders 55,104,798  7.18%
   
 767,500,000  100.00%
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24. Fair value reserve and other reserves 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, the fair value reserve and other reserves showed the following breakdown:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04 

Fair value reserve (1,506,495) 209,712  
Statutory reserve 47,310,710  44,112,619  
Legal reserve 23,294,613  21,627,765  
Merger reserve (3,003,047) (3,003,047) 
 66,095,781  62,947,049  

    
Fair value reserve
As of December 31st, 2005, 1,506,495 euros, net of deferred taxes, shown under fair value reserve represents the fair value of 
financial hedging instruments in the amount of 2,077,924 euros, recorded as described in note 1.12.

Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Company’s by-laws, at least 10% of the distributable annual net profit must be appropriated for the 
setting up, or increase of a special reserve intended to maintain dividends at an even level. 

Legal reserve
Under Commercial law, at least 5% of each year’s net profit must be applied to supplement the legal reserve until it reaches at 
least 20% of capital. This reserve cannot be distributed unless Portucel is liquidated but can be drawn on to absorb losses, after 
other reserves are exhausted, or incorporated in the share capital.

Merger reserve
This heading represents the negative difference of 3,003,047 euros determined on January 1st, 2000, between the acquisition 
value of Papéis Inapa, S.A. and its adjusted shareholders’ equity, which after the merger was classified as a merger reserve.

25. Deferred taxes

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, changes in assets and liabilities as a result of deferred taxes were as follows:

Amounts in euros  Increases  Decreases   
      

Temporary differences originating  
deferred tax assets      
 Tax losses deductible in the future  1,924,144  -  (1,800,286) -  123,858 

 Taxable provisions  16,393,212  12,733,209  (8,419,295) (4,442,657) 16,264,469 

 Fixed assets adjustments  15,512,496  524,652  (636,467) -  15,400,681 

 Retirement benefits obligations  37,867,614  2,855,065  (17,339,628) 14,206,022  37,589,072 

 Financial instruments   -  1,164,262  -  913,662  2,077,924 

 Deferred gains in inter-group transactions  -  4,200,155  -  -  4,200,155 

 Forests valuation   183,739,291  21,247,207  (52,526,887) -  152,459,611 

  255,436,757  42,724,550  (80,722,563) 10,677,026  228,115,770 

Temporary differences originating  
deferred tax liabilities      
 Revaluation of fixed assets  (38,131,551) 4,250,370  (174,206) -  (34,055,387)

 Retirment benefits obligations (overfunding)  (873,803) (260,487) 2,587  113,674  (1,018,029)

 Financial instruments (1,669,238) -  -  1,669,238  - 

 Fair value of fixed assets - Soporcel (IPK)  (244,195,901) -  (3,691,681) -  (247,887,582)

 Deferred losses in inter-group transactions  -  -  (37,052,365) -  (37,052,365)

  (284,870,494) 3,989,883  (40,915,665) 1,782,912  (320,013,364)

Amounts presented on the balance sheet      
  Deferred tax assets   70,245,108  11,749,251  (22,198,705) 2,936,182  62,731,837 

 
 Deferred tax liabilities  (78,339,386) 1,097,218  (11,251,808) 490,301  (88,003,675)

      
      

Income Statement
Equity

(directly)
December 31st,

2005
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24. Fair value reserve and other reserves 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, the fair value reserve and other reserves showed the following breakdown:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04 

Fair value reserve (1,506,495) 209,712  
Statutory reserve 47,310,710  44,112,619  
Legal reserve 23,294,613  21,627,765  
Merger reserve (3,003,047) (3,003,047) 
 66,095,781  62,947,049  

    
Fair value reserve
As of December 31st, 2005, 1,506,495 euros, net of deferred taxes, shown under fair value reserve represents the fair value of 
financial hedging instruments in the amount of 2,077,924 euros, recorded as described in note 1.12.

Statutory reserve
In accordance with the Company’s by-laws, at least 10% of the distributable annual net profit must be appropriated for the 
setting up, or increase of a special reserve intended to maintain dividends at an even level. 

Legal reserve
Under Commercial law, at least 5% of each year’s net profit must be applied to supplement the legal reserve until it reaches at 
least 20% of capital. This reserve cannot be distributed unless Portucel is liquidated but can be drawn on to absorb losses, after 
other reserves are exhausted, or incorporated in the share capital.

Merger reserve
This heading represents the negative difference of 3,003,047 euros determined on January 1st, 2000, between the acquisition 
value of Papéis Inapa, S.A. and its adjusted shareholders’ equity, which after the merger was classified as a merger reserve.

25. Deferred taxes

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, changes in assets and liabilities as a result of deferred taxes were as follows:

Amounts in euros  Increases  Decreases   
      

Temporary differences originating  
deferred tax assets      
 Tax losses deductible in the future  1,924,144  -  (1,800,286) -  123,858 

 Taxable provisions  16,393,212  12,733,209  (8,419,295) (4,442,657) 16,264,469 

 Fixed assets adjustments  15,512,496  524,652  (636,467) -  15,400,681 

 Retirement benefits obligations  37,867,614  2,855,065  (17,339,628) 14,206,022  37,589,072 

 Financial instruments   -  1,164,262  -  913,662  2,077,924 

 Deferred gains in inter-group transactions  -  4,200,155  -  -  4,200,155 

 Forests valuation   183,739,291  21,247,207  (52,526,887) -  152,459,611 

  255,436,757  42,724,550  (80,722,563) 10,677,026  228,115,770 

Temporary differences originating  
deferred tax liabilities      
 Revaluation of fixed assets  (38,131,551) 4,250,370  (174,206) -  (34,055,387)

 Retirment benefits obligations (overfunding)  (873,803) (260,487) 2,587  113,674  (1,018,029)

 Financial instruments (1,669,238) -  -  1,669,238  - 

 Fair value of fixed assets - Soporcel (IPK)  (244,195,901) -  (3,691,681) -  (247,887,582)

 Deferred losses in inter-group transactions  -  -  (37,052,365) -  (37,052,365)

  (284,870,494) 3,989,883  (40,915,665) 1,782,912  (320,013,364)

Amounts presented on the balance sheet      
  Deferred tax assets   70,245,108  11,749,251  (22,198,705) 2,936,182  62,731,837 

 
 Deferred tax liabilities  (78,339,386) 1,097,218  (11,251,808) 490,301  (88,003,675)
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Amounts in euros Increases   Decreases  
      

Temporary differences originating 
deferred tax assets      
Tax losses deductible in the future  13,742,297  95,030  (11,913,183) -  1,924,144 

Taxable provisions  18,286,750  4,897,203  (6,790,741) -  16,393,212 

Fixed assets adjustments  10,285,322  5,227,174  -  -  15,512,496 

Retirement benefits obligations  39,730,162  (1,862,547) -  -  37,867,614 

Forests valuation  177,917,974  9,918,845  (4,097,528) -  183,739,291 
  259,962,505  18,275,705  (22,801,452) -  255,436,757 

Temporary differences originating 
deferred tax liabilities      
Revaluation of fixed assets  (44,407,549) (403,093) 6,679,091  -  (38,131,551)

Retirment benefits obligations (overfunding)  (875,718) (582,005) 583,920  -  (873,803)

Financial instruments  -  -  -  (1,669,238) (1,669,238)

 Fair value of fixed assets - Soporcel (IPK)   (233,179,009) (11,016,892) -  -  (244,195,901)
  (278,462,276) (12,001,990) 7,263,011  (1,669,238) (284,870,494)

Amounts presented on the balance sheet       
Deferred tax assets   71,489,689  5,025,819  (6,270,399) -  70,245,108 
      
Deferred tax liabilities  (76,577,126) (3,300,547) 1,997,328  (459,040) (78,339,386)

Deferred taxes assets on tax losses are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the respective tax benefit will be realised 
through future taxable earnings. The Group recognized deferred tax assets in the amount of 34,061 euros relative to 123,858 
euros of tax losses that can be deducted from future taxable earnings. These are itemized below:

Amounts in euros Tax losses Expiry date 
    
Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra (2004)  28,828 2010 

Setipel – Serviços Técnicos para a Indústria Papeleira, S.A. (2003)  95,030 2009 

    
 123,858  

26. Retirement benefits obligations

Retirement and survivors pension supplements

At present there are various retirement and survivors’ pension supplement plans in force at the companies included in the 
consolidation.

(i) Under the prevailing Social Benefit Regulation, permanent employees of Portucel and its subsidiaries (excluding Soporcel 
and its subsidiaries) with more than five years’ service are entitled after retirement or disability to a monthly retirement 
pension  or disability supplement (Portucel Plan). This supplement is calculated according to a formula which takes into 

account the beneficiary’s gross monthly compensation updated to the employee’s occupational category on the date of 
his retirement and number of years of service, up to a limit of 30; survivors’ pensions to spouse and direct descendants 
are also guaranteed. 

To cover this liability, an independent pension fund designated as the Portucel Pension Fund was formed under the manage-
ment of an external entity.

(ii) The employees of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel (Soporcel) and its subsidiaries are entitled after their re-
tirement or becoming disabled to a monthly retirement or disability pension supplement; survivors’ pensions are also 
guaranteed to them (Soporcel Plan).

To cover this liability, externally managed pension funds were set up, and the funds’ assets are apportioned between each of 
the companies.

Actuarial studies carried out by an independent entity for the purpose of determining the accumulated liabilities as of Decem-
ber 31st, 2005 and 2004 were based on the following assumptions:

 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Disability table   EKV 80  EKV 80 

Mortality table TV 88/90 TV 88/90

Future salary increases 2.50% 3.30%

Discount rate 4.50% 5.32%

Future pension increases 2.25% 2.25%

     

In the last quarter of 2005, the Group changed some of the assumptions used in the calculation of obligations with retirement 
pension supplements, namely the discount rate and the rate of future salary increases by considering being these the assum- 
ptions that best reflect the present financial and economic reality of the Group. 

In addition, and in accordance with note 1.30.1, the Group adopted the amendment to IAS 19, in December 2005, in what con-
cerns the possibility of directly recognizing in equity actuarial gains and losses. 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, coverage of the companies’ liabilities by the assets of the funds was as follows:
    
   
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Liabilities for past services   
 . Active employees 110,081,282  98,660,156 

 . Early retirement -  - 
 . Retired employees 30,451,248  24,465,972 

Market value of the pension fund (104,068,511) (86,601,539)

   
 36,464,019  36,524,589 
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Amounts in euros Increases   Decreases  
      

Temporary differences originating 
deferred tax assets      
Tax losses deductible in the future  13,742,297  95,030  (11,913,183) -  1,924,144 

Taxable provisions  18,286,750  4,897,203  (6,790,741) -  16,393,212 

Fixed assets adjustments  10,285,322  5,227,174  -  -  15,512,496 

Retirement benefits obligations  39,730,162  (1,862,547) -  -  37,867,614 

Forests valuation  177,917,974  9,918,845  (4,097,528) -  183,739,291 
  259,962,505  18,275,705  (22,801,452) -  255,436,757 

Temporary differences originating 
deferred tax liabilities      
Revaluation of fixed assets  (44,407,549) (403,093) 6,679,091  -  (38,131,551)

Retirment benefits obligations (overfunding)  (875,718) (582,005) 583,920  -  (873,803)

Financial instruments  -  -  -  (1,669,238) (1,669,238)

 Fair value of fixed assets - Soporcel (IPK)   (233,179,009) (11,016,892) -  -  (244,195,901)
  (278,462,276) (12,001,990) 7,263,011  (1,669,238) (284,870,494)

Amounts presented on the balance sheet       
Deferred tax assets   71,489,689  5,025,819  (6,270,399) -  70,245,108 
      
Deferred tax liabilities  (76,577,126) (3,300,547) 1,997,328  (459,040) (78,339,386)

Deferred taxes assets on tax losses are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the respective tax benefit will be realised 
through future taxable earnings. The Group recognized deferred tax assets in the amount of 34,061 euros relative to 123,858 
euros of tax losses that can be deducted from future taxable earnings. These are itemized below:

Amounts in euros Tax losses Expiry date 
    
Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra (2004)  28,828 2010 

Setipel – Serviços Técnicos para a Indústria Papeleira, S.A. (2003)  95,030 2009 

    
 123,858  

26. Retirement benefits obligations

Retirement and survivors pension supplements

At present there are various retirement and survivors’ pension supplement plans in force at the companies included in the 
consolidation.

(i) Under the prevailing Social Benefit Regulation, permanent employees of Portucel and its subsidiaries (excluding Soporcel 
and its subsidiaries) with more than five years’ service are entitled after retirement or disability to a monthly retirement 
pension  or disability supplement (Portucel Plan). This supplement is calculated according to a formula which takes into 

account the beneficiary’s gross monthly compensation updated to the employee’s occupational category on the date of 
his retirement and number of years of service, up to a limit of 30; survivors’ pensions to spouse and direct descendants 
are also guaranteed. 

To cover this liability, an independent pension fund designated as the Portucel Pension Fund was formed under the manage-
ment of an external entity.

(ii) The employees of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel (Soporcel) and its subsidiaries are entitled after their re-
tirement or becoming disabled to a monthly retirement or disability pension supplement; survivors’ pensions are also 
guaranteed to them (Soporcel Plan).

To cover this liability, externally managed pension funds were set up, and the funds’ assets are apportioned between each of 
the companies.

Actuarial studies carried out by an independent entity for the purpose of determining the accumulated liabilities as of Decem-
ber 31st, 2005 and 2004 were based on the following assumptions:

 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Disability table   EKV 80  EKV 80 

Mortality table TV 88/90 TV 88/90

Future salary increases 2.50% 3.30%

Discount rate 4.50% 5.32%

Future pension increases 2.25% 2.25%

     

In the last quarter of 2005, the Group changed some of the assumptions used in the calculation of obligations with retirement 
pension supplements, namely the discount rate and the rate of future salary increases by considering being these the assum- 
ptions that best reflect the present financial and economic reality of the Group. 

In addition, and in accordance with note 1.30.1, the Group adopted the amendment to IAS 19, in December 2005, in what con-
cerns the possibility of directly recognizing in equity actuarial gains and losses. 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, coverage of the companies’ liabilities by the assets of the funds was as follows:
    
   
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Liabilities for past services   
 . Active employees 110,081,282  98,660,156 

 . Early retirement -  - 
 . Retired employees 30,451,248  24,465,972 

Market value of the pension fund (104,068,511) (86,601,539)

   
 36,464,019  36,524,589 
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Amounts recognized in the income statement    
   
Amount in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Current services 5,247,569  4,672,565 

Interest expenses 6,357,189  6,298,873 

Expected return on the plan assets (4,845,484) (4,557,494)

Transfers and adjustments -  (558,666)

Curtailments (8,095,579) - 

 (1,336,305) 5,855,278 

   
Other pension costs 235,854  300,020 

    
 (1,100,451) 6,155,298 

Movements in liabilities recognized in the balance sheet    
   
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Liability at the beginning of the period 123,126,128  113,954,129 

Change of assumptions 11,750,894  - 

(Profit)/loss  recognized in the income statement 3,509,179  10,955,245 

Pensions paid (1,872,662) (1,783,246)

Actuarial gains/losses 1,986,879  - 

Other changes 2,032,112  - 

    
 140,532,530  123,126,128 

Movements in the pension fund    
  
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
Amount at the beginning of the period 86,601,539  76,018,401 

Contributions made in the period 9,070,172  7,268,000 

Expected return in the period 4,845,838  5,098,079 

Actuarial gains/losses (differential between actual and expected return) 4,055,811  - 

Pensions paid (1,872,662) (1,783,246)

Other  1,367,813  305

  
 104,068,511  86,601,539 

Funds assets decomposition   
  
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Shares 29,752,882  25,484,608 

Bonds 66,960 371  54,814,703 
Other applications - short term 7,355,258  6,302,228 
 104,068,511  86,601,539 

27. Provisions

During the year ended December 31st, 2005 and 2004 changes in provisions were as follows:

 
Amounts in euros Legal claims Others Total
  
Opening balance as of January 1st, 2004 814,372  139,960  954,332 

Increases 150,900  18,304  169,204 

Decreases -  -  - 

Replacements -  (5,118) (5,118)

   
Opening balance as of January 1st, 2005 965,272  153,146  1,118,418 

Increases 1,498,515  -  1,498,515 

Decreases (625,755) -  (625,755)

Replacements (37,168) -  (37,168)

   
Closing balance as of December 31st, 2005 1,800,864  153,146  1,954,010 

  

28. Interest-bearing liabilities

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, non-current interest-bearing debt consisted of the following:

Ampunts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/05 

Non-current  
 Bond loans 700,000,000  -  

 Loans from financial institutions 54,050,298  826,951,100  

  754,050,298  826,951,100  
 
 Financial leases 439,148  932,027  
  
 Expenses with bond loans issuance (6,940,689) -  
 Expenses with other bonds issuance (128,929) (2,376,599) 

  (7,069,618) (2,376,599) 

  

  747,419,828  825,506,528  

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, interest-bearing debt of the Group was as follows: 

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04

Current    
 Bank borrowings - short term 77,767,413  120,464,486 

 Financial leases 474,441  1,493,513 

 Expenses with loans issuance (2,255) - 
  78,239,599  121,957,999 
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Amounts recognized in the income statement    
   
Amount in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Current services 5,247,569  4,672,565 

Interest expenses 6,357,189  6,298,873 

Expected return on the plan assets (4,845,484) (4,557,494)

Transfers and adjustments -  (558,666)

Curtailments (8,095,579) - 

 (1,336,305) 5,855,278 

   
Other pension costs 235,854  300,020 

    
 (1,100,451) 6,155,298 

Movements in liabilities recognized in the balance sheet    
   
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Liability at the beginning of the period 123,126,128  113,954,129 

Change of assumptions 11,750,894  - 

(Profit)/loss  recognized in the income statement 3,509,179  10,955,245 

Pensions paid (1,872,662) (1,783,246)

Actuarial gains/losses 1,986,879  - 

Other changes 2,032,112  - 

    
 140,532,530  123,126,128 

Movements in the pension fund    
  
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
    
Amount at the beginning of the period 86,601,539  76,018,401 

Contributions made in the period 9,070,172  7,268,000 

Expected return in the period 4,845,838  5,098,079 

Actuarial gains/losses (differential between actual and expected return) 4,055,811  - 

Pensions paid (1,872,662) (1,783,246)

Other  1,367,813  305

  
 104,068,511  86,601,539 

Funds assets decomposition   
  
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Shares 29,752,882  25,484,608 

Bonds 66,960 371  54,814,703 
Other applications - short term 7,355,258  6,302,228 
 104,068,511  86,601,539 

27. Provisions

During the year ended December 31st, 2005 and 2004 changes in provisions were as follows:

 
Amounts in euros Legal claims Others Total
  
Opening balance as of January 1st, 2004 814,372  139,960  954,332 

Increases 150,900  18,304  169,204 

Decreases -  -  - 

Replacements -  (5,118) (5,118)

   
Opening balance as of January 1st, 2005 965,272  153,146  1,118,418 

Increases 1,498,515  -  1,498,515 

Decreases (625,755) -  (625,755)

Replacements (37,168) -  (37,168)

   
Closing balance as of December 31st, 2005 1,800,864  153,146  1,954,010 

  

28. Interest-bearing liabilities

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, non-current interest-bearing debt consisted of the following:

Ampunts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/05 

Non-current  
 Bond loans 700,000,000  -  

 Loans from financial institutions 54,050,298  826,951,100  

  754,050,298  826,951,100  
 
 Financial leases 439,148  932,027  
  
 Expenses with bond loans issuance (6,940,689) -  
 Expenses with other bonds issuance (128,929) (2,376,599) 

  (7,069,618) (2,376,599) 

  

  747,419,828  825,506,528  

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, interest-bearing debt of the Group was as follows: 

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04

Current    
 Bank borrowings - short term 77,767,413  120,464,486 

 Financial leases 474,441  1,493,513 

 Expenses with loans issuance (2,255) - 
  78,239,599  121,957,999 
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As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, net debt of the Group was as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Interest-bearing liabilities  
Non-current 747,419,828  825,506,528 

Current 78,239,599  121,957,999 

 825,659,427  947,464,527 

  
Cash and cash equivalents   
Cash in hand 40,346  42,322 

Short-term bank deposits 5,980,915  6,504,208 

Other treasury applications 83,500,000  70,000,000 

 89,521,261  76,546,530 

  
Interest-bearing net debt 736,138,166  870,917,997 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, interest-bearing liabilities consisted of the following:

 
 31/12/05 
Amounts in euros Medium/long term Short-term 

Commercial Paper -  63,997,745  

EFTA  -  286,808  
PEDIP 121,726  81,150  

BTA -  -  
EIB (European Investment Bank) 28,928,571  10,742,857  
Bond loan 693,059,311  -  
Overdrafts -  2,656,598  
Financial lease 439,148  474,441  
Other banks 24,871,071  -  
 747,419,828  78,239,599  

     

  31/12/04 
Amounts in euros Medium/long term Short-term 

Commercial Paper 364,530,461  40,000,000  

EFTA  286,809  284,315  
PEDIP 202,876  81,150  

EIB 39,629,428 16,516,368

EIB (CHF) -  1,060,958  
Bank ION (USD) 9,752,723  21,937,679  
Bank ION (CHF) - 813,552

Overdrafts -  2,270,464  
Financial lease 932,027  1,493,513 
Other banks 410,172,204  37,500,000  
 825,506,528  121,957,999 

Commercial Paper
As of December 31st, 2005, commercial paper basically relates to the issue of various private programs with private placements 
and guaranteed subscription. The standard period of these loans is one year, falling before December 31st, 2006, with the option 
of renewal by equal periods.  These loans bear interest at Euribor with a spread of 0.40% and 0.25%.

EFTA Fund/BPI loan
This loan was extended to Portucel by the EFTA Fund for the Industrial Development in Portugal (presently held by BPI after 
extinction of EFTA Fund), for the purpose of modernising plant facilities and for the development of specific projects within the 
scope of the Company’s activities. This loan, in the amount of 998,000 euros was taken out on July 12th, 2001, and bears interest 
payable semi-annually and in arrears, at Annual Base Rate multiplied by 1.1 and deducted by 15%. This loan is repayable in 
seven successive semi-annual instalments, the first of which was due on July 12th, 2003.

IAPMEI loan
This loan was granted within the scope of PEDIP to Portucel and had an initial amount of 406 thousand euros, repayable in 
equal semi-annual instalments in the period between 2003 and 2008, and does not bear interest.

EIB loan
These loans were granted by the European Investment Bank (EIB) to Soporcel and bear interest at Euribor for three months. 
The amount recorded under medium and long term will be repaid in three equal annual instalments of 9,642,857 euros, in 2007, 
2008 and 2009.

Bond loans
During 2005, the Group issued five bond loans through private subscription in the total amount of 700,000,000 euros. These 
loans will be repaid in a single instalment as follows:

       
Amounts in euros Amount Maturity Reference rate Spread
    
Portucel 2005 / 2010 300,000,000  March 2010 Euribor 6m 1.000%

Portucel 2005 / 2013 200,000,000  May 2013 Euribor 6m 0.875%

Portucel 2005 / 2012 150,000,000  October 2012 Euribor 6m 1.100%

Portucel 2005 / 2008 25,000,000  December 2008 Euribor 6m 0.700%

Portucel 2005 / 2010 II 25,000,000  December 2010 Euribor 6m 0.950%

Total 700,000,000     
 
      

Medium and long-term loan – Other banks
This loan was contracted in January 2005 by Portucel at Cajaduero in the amount of 25,000,000 euros and for a period of seven 
years. The loan will be repaid in 8 semi-annual instalments, the first of which will be due in July 2008. The loan bears interest 
at Euribor for six months plus a spread of 0.75%. 

Syndicated loans
The liability related to syndicated loans was fully repaid during 2005. 
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As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, net debt of the Group was as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Interest-bearing liabilities  
Non-current 747,419,828  825,506,528 

Current 78,239,599  121,957,999 

 825,659,427  947,464,527 

  
Cash and cash equivalents   
Cash in hand 40,346  42,322 

Short-term bank deposits 5,980,915  6,504,208 

Other treasury applications 83,500,000  70,000,000 

 89,521,261  76,546,530 

  
Interest-bearing net debt 736,138,166  870,917,997 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, interest-bearing liabilities consisted of the following:

 
 31/12/05 
Amounts in euros Medium/long term Short-term 

Commercial Paper -  63,997,745  

EFTA  -  286,808  
PEDIP 121,726  81,150  

BTA -  -  
EIB (European Investment Bank) 28,928,571  10,742,857  
Bond loan 693,059,311  -  
Overdrafts -  2,656,598  
Financial lease 439,148  474,441  
Other banks 24,871,071  -  
 747,419,828  78,239,599  

     

  31/12/04 
Amounts in euros Medium/long term Short-term 

Commercial Paper 364,530,461  40,000,000  

EFTA  286,809  284,315  
PEDIP 202,876  81,150  

EIB 39,629,428 16,516,368

EIB (CHF) -  1,060,958  
Bank ION (USD) 9,752,723  21,937,679  
Bank ION (CHF) - 813,552

Overdrafts -  2,270,464  
Financial lease 932,027  1,493,513 
Other banks 410,172,204  37,500,000  
 825,506,528  121,957,999 

Commercial Paper
As of December 31st, 2005, commercial paper basically relates to the issue of various private programs with private placements 
and guaranteed subscription. The standard period of these loans is one year, falling before December 31st, 2006, with the option 
of renewal by equal periods.  These loans bear interest at Euribor with a spread of 0.40% and 0.25%.

EFTA Fund/BPI loan
This loan was extended to Portucel by the EFTA Fund for the Industrial Development in Portugal (presently held by BPI after 
extinction of EFTA Fund), for the purpose of modernising plant facilities and for the development of specific projects within the 
scope of the Company’s activities. This loan, in the amount of 998,000 euros was taken out on July 12th, 2001, and bears interest 
payable semi-annually and in arrears, at Annual Base Rate multiplied by 1.1 and deducted by 15%. This loan is repayable in 
seven successive semi-annual instalments, the first of which was due on July 12th, 2003.

IAPMEI loan
This loan was granted within the scope of PEDIP to Portucel and had an initial amount of 406 thousand euros, repayable in 
equal semi-annual instalments in the period between 2003 and 2008, and does not bear interest.

EIB loan
These loans were granted by the European Investment Bank (EIB) to Soporcel and bear interest at Euribor for three months. 
The amount recorded under medium and long term will be repaid in three equal annual instalments of 9,642,857 euros, in 2007, 
2008 and 2009.

Bond loans
During 2005, the Group issued five bond loans through private subscription in the total amount of 700,000,000 euros. These 
loans will be repaid in a single instalment as follows:

       
Amounts in euros Amount Maturity Reference rate Spread
    
Portucel 2005 / 2010 300,000,000  March 2010 Euribor 6m 1.000%

Portucel 2005 / 2013 200,000,000  May 2013 Euribor 6m 0.875%

Portucel 2005 / 2012 150,000,000  October 2012 Euribor 6m 1.100%

Portucel 2005 / 2008 25,000,000  December 2008 Euribor 6m 0.700%

Portucel 2005 / 2010 II 25,000,000  December 2010 Euribor 6m 0.950%

Total 700,000,000     
 
      

Medium and long-term loan – Other banks
This loan was contracted in January 2005 by Portucel at Cajaduero in the amount of 25,000,000 euros and for a period of seven 
years. The loan will be repaid in 8 semi-annual instalments, the first of which will be due in July 2008. The loan bears interest 
at Euribor for six months plus a spread of 0.75%. 

Syndicated loans
The liability related to syndicated loans was fully repaid during 2005. 
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Repayment terms related to the medium and long-term loans show the following maturity profile:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04

1 to 2 years 9,724,007  610,400,803 

2 to 3 years 37,808,433  197,224,008 

3 to 4 years 15,892,858  9,683,432 

4 to 5 years 331,250,000  9,642,857 

More than 5 years 359,375,000  - 

 754,050,298  826,951,100 

As of December 31st, 2005 the Group uses the following equipments acquired under financial leases:

 31/12/05   
 Acquisition Accumulated Net book
Amounts in euros amount amortisation vallue
      
Equipment 298,115  198,743  99,372 
Transportation equipment 1,519,150  918,622  600,528 

 1,817,265  1,117,365  699,900 

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, the Group’s indebtedness under financial lease plans was itemized as follows: 

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Less than 1 year 474,441  1,493,513 

1 to 2 years 303,584  485,348 

2 to 3 years 135,564  302,500 
3 to 4 years -  144,179 
4 to 5 years -  - 
More than 5 years -  - 
 913,589  2,425,540 

Future interest 41,217  187,834 

Present value of financial lease liabilities 954,806  2,613,374 
  

 

29. Payables and other current liabilities

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, payables and other current liabilities showed the following breakdown:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Accounts payable to suppliers 122,547,780  139,065,832 

Accounts payable to associated companies (note 31) 2,441,401  - 

Accounts payable to fixed asset suppliers 6,809,303  29,889,428 

Derivative financial instruments (note 30) 2,448,464  - 
Other creditors 5,982,090  5,013,175 

Accrued costs 25,346,770  22,527,631 
Deferred income 6,283,273  7,767,165 

 171,859,081  204,263,231 

    
 
As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, accrued costs and deferred income showed the following breakdowns:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04

Accrued costs   
 Payroll costs 16,514,459  13,377,357 
 Interest payable 6,749,574  5,609,080 

 Others 2,082,737  3,541,194 

  25,346,770  22,527,631 
Deferred income  
 Investment subsidies 6,283,144  7,734,639 

 Others 129  32,526 

  6,283,273  7,767,165 

    

During the years ended on December 31st, 2005 and 2004, investment subsidies showed the following movements:

 
Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04  

Opening balance 7,734,639  10,555,333  
Decrease (2,417,101) (3,514,418) 
Increase 965,606  693,724  
Closing balance 6,283,144  7,734,639  

The amounts presented in investment subsidies heading relate mainly to subsidies obtained by Portucel and by the subsidiaries 
Soporcel and Portucel Florestal and are recognized in accordance with the accounting policy referred in note 1.23.
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30. Derivative financial instruments

In 2005, to manage its interest risk on bond loans, Portucel contracted several interest–rate swaps and a cap.

To manage the exchange rate risk associated with collections from customers, on December 31st, 2005, the Group entered into 
forward rate agreements which expire during the first half of 2006.

In order to prevent from exchange rate fluctuations several options were contracted at the end of 2005 to manage the exchange 
rate risk of the 2006 estimated sales.

To hedge against the risk associated with fluctuations in the prices of pulp for sales contemplated up to April, 2006, the Group 
entered into forward contracts that expire throughout that period.

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, the fair value of derivative financial instruments (note 1.12) showed the following break-
down:

      
 31/12/05 31/12/04

Amounts in euros Notional Positives Negatives Net Net
      
Hedging      
Interest rate swaps 375,000,000  158,769  (342,839) (184,070) 208,913 

Hedgings (sales and pulp prices) 273,238,959  5,013,388  (1,306,282) 3,707,106  - 

 648,238,959  5,172,157  (1,649,121) 3,523,036  208,913 

Trading      
Cap 150,000,000  -  (5,703) (5,703) 1,252,155 

Foreign exchange forwards (receivables) 76,526,850  -  (793,640) (793,640) 549,130 

 226,526,850  -  (799,343) (799,343) 1,801,285 

     
 874,765,809  5,172,157  (2,448,464) 2,723,693  2,010,198 

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is included in receivables and other current assets and payables and other 
current liabilities headings.

31. Balances and transactions with related parties

The following is a breakdown of related companies’ balances as of December 31st, 2005:

 Assets Liabilities 
Amounts in euros Clients Related entities Accounts payable  
  
Semapa -  -  372,680 
Asip, ACE 1,162,512  -  1,478,599 
Afocelca, ACE 400  431,931  47,698 
Soporgen -  319,992  - 
Cutpaper 310,710  58,704  542,424 
Soporcel 2000 -  (1,239) -
TASC -  2,743  - 
 1,473,622  812,131  2,441,401 

In the year ended on December 31st, 2005, transactions with related companies were as follows:

 

   
Semapa -  4,393,760  - 
Asip, ACE 3,797,688  8,817,906  - 

Afocelca, ACE 1,696,034  98,790  6,996 

Cutpaper 3,001,490  537,756  8,969 

 8,495,212  13,848,212  15,965 
      

32. Expenditures on environmental safeguards

In the development of its activity the Group supported several environmental charges which, in accordance with their nature, 
are capitalized or recognized as costs in the operating profit for the period.

Environmental expenses incurred by the Group in order to preserve resources or avoid or reduce future damages, are capita- 
lised when they are expected to extend life or increase the capacity, safety or efficiency of other assets held by the Group.

The expenditures capitalised and expensed during 2005 and 2004 were as follows:

Amounts capitalised in the period   

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Recovery boiler 26,874,031  39,334,115 

Lime kiln -  3,001,826 

Demineralization -  964,495 
Auxiliary boilers -  679,333 

Electro filters replacement -  347,649 
Others 1,487,257  4,117,924 
 28,361,288  48,445,342 

Costs recognized in the period   

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Liquid effluent treatment 5,848,607  7,634,683 
Recycling of residues and scrap 538,797  876,837 

Expenditures with electro filters 420,726  1,044,000 
Sewage network 99,201  147,000 
Solid waste embankment 303,637  327,703 
Others 218,676  442,283 

 7,429,644  10,472,506 

 

Amounts in euros
Sales and 
services

Consumed
material and

services
Interest
income
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CO2 emission licences

As part of the Kyoto Protocol, the European Union has committed itself to reduce gas emissions which produce the greenhouse 
effect. Within this context, a Community Directive was issued that foresees the commercialization of CO2 emission licences. This 
Directive has now been transposed to the Portuguese legislation, with effect from January 1st, 2005, and impacting amongst 
other industries, on the pulp and paper industry.

In 2005, the Portuguese Government has distributed the CO2 emission licences to Portuguese companies, with an allocation of 
such licences to Group’s companies, at no cost, of 563,986 tons of CO2 for 2005. If actual emissions are higher than the allocated 
CO2 emission licences, the Group will have to buy the deficit in licences in the market. 

The handing in of the CO2 emission licences, which will correspond to the actual emissions for the year, will take place in the 
beginning of the following year, with the figures presented by the companies, related to the actual emissions, requiring a cer-
tification by an independent entity.

In 2005, the Group estimate the real CO2 emissions not to exceed the licences allocated to the Group. Accordingly, no substantial 
charges are expected to be imputed to the Group this year, as a result of enactment of this legislation.

33. Audit fees

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, expenses with statutory audits and other services provided were as follows: 

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
   
Statutory auditor services 179,286  190,165 

Tax consultancy services and other 214,682  287,050 
 393,968  477,215 

34. Average number of employees

As of December 31st, 2005 the average number of employees in the service of the various Group companies was 1,986 (Decem-
ber 31st, 2004: 2,199).

35. Commitments

As of December 31st, 2005 and 2004, commitments assumed by the Group were as follows:

Amounts in euros 31/12/05 31/12/04
  
Guarantees in favour of associated companies  
 Guarantees  

 Soporgen, S.A. 2,000,000  2,000,000 
  2,000,000  2,000,000 
Guarantees in favour of third parties  
 Guarantees  

 DGCI  15,677,315  15,677,315 
 IAPMEI 1,343,343  1,343,343 

 Simria 514,361  514,361 
 IFADAP 201,744  201,744 
 Other 826,409  - 

  18,563,172  17,736,763 
Other commitments  
 Purchases 8,110,808  17,260,000 
 Other -  313,728 
 8,110,808  17,573,728 
 28,673,980 37,310,491

On May 3rd, 2000, Soporcel, entered into a joint, but several, guarantee with a financial institution under which Soporcel gua-
rantees the full and timely compliance with all financial and monetary obligations to that institution assumed by Soporgen 
– Sociedade Portuguesa de Geração de Electricidade e Calor, S.A..  Accordingly, the institution can claim repayment of up to 8% of 
Soporgen’s debt to it under that guarantee whenever it is enforced. As of December 31st, 2004, the respective financing, in the 
amount of 25,000,000 euros, had been drawn down entirely; Soporcel’s guarantee thus standing at 2,000,000 euros. 

Guarantees extended to third parties, in the amount of 18,563,172 euros includes 15,677,315 euros representing two guarantees 
extended to the tax authorities by Soporcel in consequence of the litigation initiated during the first half of 2004, in the context 
of the income tax incentive process, related with the acquisition of the second paper machine (see note 11.2).  

Also included is 1,343,342 euros relative to guarantees extended in favour of IAPMEI – Instituto de Apoio às Pequenas e Médias 
Empresas, arising from financial incentives granted under the aegis of a business modernisation incentive system (Programa 
Operacional de Economia – Sistema de Incentivos à Modernização Empresarial).

Purchase commitments assumed with suppliers are related with the purchase of property, plant and equipment.
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36. Contingent assets

ENCE – Empresa Nacional de Celulose, S.A., company in which Portucel held 8% of share capital until 2004, paid, between 2001 
and 2004, dividends in the global amount of 3,444,862 euros, that have been subject to Spanish withholding tax in the amount 
of 516,729 euros.

The Spanish withholding tax amount has been contested by Portucel based on the violation of the treaty of Rome regarding free 
capital flows (the same dividends paid to an entity resident in Spain would not be subject to withholding tax). 

In 1998, Soporcel, a subsidiary, entered into a contract with the Portuguese state for a tax incentive, which includes a reduction 
of certain amounts of the income tax charges in the years from 1998 to 2007, determined and allocated to each year in ac-
cordance with the financial effort on eligible investments in tangible assets. From its estimated income tax for the year ended 
December 31st, 2005, Soporcel deducted 1,459,954 euros (December 31, 2004:  2,919,908 euros).

The difference between the tax deduction taken up to 2000 and the tax deduction based on the final amount of eligible invest-
ments amounts to 2,453,785 euros. From 2002 this difference is being systematically adjusted in the deductions to be taken 
through 2007.  As of December 31st, 2005, the adjustment to be taken was 445,961 euros and the unused tax deduction amounts 
to 2,919,908 euros which was already reduced by the amount to be adjusted.

37. Subsequent events

On February 23rd, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Portucel Soporcel Group announced the decision to build a new paper mill 
in Setúbal, with an estimated investment rounding 490,000,000 euros, together with the agreement entered into with API, the 
Portuguese official investment agency, regarding the plan in progress related with the development and technological moder-
nization and the reduction of environmental impact of the Group. The total investment, including the new paper mill, amounts 
to 900,000,000 euros.

The execution of a substantial part of these investments, depends, however, on the verification of some of the assumptions on 
which the decision was based, namely the formalisation of the above-mentioned contracts. 

38. Consolidated companies

      
 

    
Company Head office Directly Indirectly Total

     
Parent company:    
 . Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. Setúbal - - - 

 
Subsidiaries:     

. Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. Figueira da Foz 100.00 - 100.00

 . Tecnipapel – Sociedade de Transformação 
   e Distribuição de Papel, Lda Setúbal 100.00 - 100.00

 . Portucel Pasta y Papel, S.A. Spain 100.00 - 100.00

 . Soporcel España, S.A. Spain - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel International, BV Netherlands - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel France, EURL France - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel United Kingdom, Ltd United Kingdom - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel Italia, SRL Italy - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel 2000 - Serviços Comerciais 
   de Papel, Soc. Unipessoal, Lda Figueira da Foz - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel North America Inc. USA - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel Deutschland, GmbH Germany - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel Handels, GmbH Austria - 100.00 100.00

 . Portucel Florestal – Empresa de Desenvolvimento 
    Agro-Florestal, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Aliança Florestal – Sociedade para o Desenvolvimento
    Agro-Florestal, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Arboser – Serviços Agro-Industriais, S.A. Setúbal 100.00 - 100.00

 . PortucelSoporcel Abastecimento 
   - Empresa de Abastecimento, Logística 
    e Comercialização de Madeiras, S.A. * Setúbal - 100.00 100.00

 . Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra - Produção e     
. Comercialização de Vinhos, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Viveiros Aliança - Empresa Produtora de Plantas, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Aflomec - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Cofotrans - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, S.A. Figueira da Foz - 100.00 100.00

 . SPCG – Sociedade Portuguesa de Co-Geração Eléctrica, S.A. Setúbal 100.00 - 100.00

 . Enerpulp – Cogeração Energética de Pasta, S.A. Lisbon 100.00 - 100.00

 . Setipel – Serviços Técnicos para a Indústria Papeleira, S.A. Lisbon 100.00 - 100.00

 . Empremédia - Corretores de Seguros, Lda Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Socortel - Sociedade de Corte de Papel, S.A. Figueira da Foz 50.00 50.00 100.00

 . PortucelSoporcel Papel - Sales e Marketing, ACE Figueira da Foz 50.00 50.00 100.00

 . MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e Papel, ACE Setúbal - 40.00 40.00

 . Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel, ACE Figueira da Foz - 50.00 50.00

 . Raiz - Instituto de Investigação da Floresta e Papel Eixo 43.00 51.00 94.00

 . Soporcel - Gestão de Participações Sociais, SGPS, S.A. Figueira da Foz 50.00 50.00 100.00

 . Aflotrans - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, Lda Figueira da Foz - 100.00 100.00

 . EMA21 - Engenharia de Manutenção Industrial Século XXI, S.A. Setúbal 100.00 - 100.00

* ex-Emporsil - Empresa Portuguesa de Silvicultura, Lda     
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36. Contingent assets

ENCE – Empresa Nacional de Celulose, S.A., company in which Portucel held 8% of share capital until 2004, paid, between 2001 
and 2004, dividends in the global amount of 3,444,862 euros, that have been subject to Spanish withholding tax in the amount 
of 516,729 euros.

The Spanish withholding tax amount has been contested by Portucel based on the violation of the treaty of Rome regarding free 
capital flows (the same dividends paid to an entity resident in Spain would not be subject to withholding tax). 

In 1998, Soporcel, a subsidiary, entered into a contract with the Portuguese state for a tax incentive, which includes a reduction 
of certain amounts of the income tax charges in the years from 1998 to 2007, determined and allocated to each year in ac-
cordance with the financial effort on eligible investments in tangible assets. From its estimated income tax for the year ended 
December 31st, 2005, Soporcel deducted 1,459,954 euros (December 31, 2004:  2,919,908 euros).

The difference between the tax deduction taken up to 2000 and the tax deduction based on the final amount of eligible invest-
ments amounts to 2,453,785 euros. From 2002 this difference is being systematically adjusted in the deductions to be taken 
through 2007.  As of December 31st, 2005, the adjustment to be taken was 445,961 euros and the unused tax deduction amounts 
to 2,919,908 euros which was already reduced by the amount to be adjusted.

37. Subsequent events

On February 23rd, 2006, the Board of Directors of the Portucel Soporcel Group announced the decision to build a new paper mill 
in Setúbal, with an estimated investment rounding 490,000,000 euros, together with the agreement entered into with API, the 
Portuguese official investment agency, regarding the plan in progress related with the development and technological moder-
nization and the reduction of environmental impact of the Group. The total investment, including the new paper mill, amounts 
to 900,000,000 euros.

The execution of a substantial part of these investments, depends, however, on the verification of some of the assumptions on 
which the decision was based, namely the formalisation of the above-mentioned contracts. 

38. Consolidated companies

      
 

    
Company Head office Directly Indirectly Total

     
Parent company:    
 . Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. Setúbal - - - 

 
Subsidiaries:     

. Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. Figueira da Foz 100.00 - 100.00

 . Tecnipapel – Sociedade de Transformação 
   e Distribuição de Papel, Lda Setúbal 100.00 - 100.00

 . Portucel Pasta y Papel, S.A. Spain 100.00 - 100.00

 . Soporcel España, S.A. Spain - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel International, BV Netherlands - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel France, EURL France - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel United Kingdom, Ltd United Kingdom - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel Italia, SRL Italy - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel 2000 - Serviços Comerciais 
   de Papel, Soc. Unipessoal, Lda Figueira da Foz - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel North America Inc. USA - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel Deutschland, GmbH Germany - 100.00 100.00

 . Soporcel Handels, GmbH Austria - 100.00 100.00

 . Portucel Florestal – Empresa de Desenvolvimento 
    Agro-Florestal, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Aliança Florestal – Sociedade para o Desenvolvimento
    Agro-Florestal, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Arboser – Serviços Agro-Industriais, S.A. Setúbal 100.00 - 100.00

 . PortucelSoporcel Abastecimento 
   - Empresa de Abastecimento, Logística 
    e Comercialização de Madeiras, S.A. * Setúbal - 100.00 100.00

 . Sociedade de Vinhos da Herdade de Espirra - Produção e     
. Comercialização de Vinhos, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Viveiros Aliança - Empresa Produtora de Plantas, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Aflomec - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, S.A. Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Cofotrans - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, S.A. Figueira da Foz - 100.00 100.00

 . SPCG – Sociedade Portuguesa de Co-Geração Eléctrica, S.A. Setúbal 100.00 - 100.00

 . Enerpulp – Cogeração Energética de Pasta, S.A. Lisbon 100.00 - 100.00

 . Setipel – Serviços Técnicos para a Indústria Papeleira, S.A. Lisbon 100.00 - 100.00

 . Empremédia - Corretores de Seguros, Lda Lisbon - 100.00 100.00

 . Socortel - Sociedade de Corte de Papel, S.A. Figueira da Foz 50.00 50.00 100.00

 . PortucelSoporcel Papel - Sales e Marketing, ACE Figueira da Foz 50.00 50.00 100.00

 . MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e Papel, ACE Setúbal - 40.00 40.00

 . Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel, ACE Figueira da Foz - 50.00 50.00

 . Raiz - Instituto de Investigação da Floresta e Papel Eixo 43.00 51.00 94.00

 . Soporcel - Gestão de Participações Sociais, SGPS, S.A. Figueira da Foz 50.00 50.00 100.00

 . Aflotrans - Empresa de Exploração Florestal, Lda Figueira da Foz - 100.00 100.00

 . EMA21 - Engenharia de Manutenção Industrial Século XXI, S.A. Setúbal 100.00 - 100.00

* ex-Emporsil - Empresa Portuguesa de Silvicultura, Lda     
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The above-listed companies have been fully consolidated with the exception of MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e 
Papel, ACE and Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel, ACE, which have been consolidated by the proportional 
method.

39. Companies excluded from consolidation
 

       

  
Company Head office Directly Indirectly Total  
   
Portucel International Trading, SA Luxemburgo 80.00  -   80.00
Portucel Brasil Brasil 99.00  -   99.00

        

These companies were neither fully nor proportionally consolidated, but this is not considered of material importance to the 
presentation of a true and faithful picture of the financial situation and results of the operations of the Group. These holdings 
are carried under investments in associates and joint ventures and are valued according to the equity method.
 

Percentage of capital held by
companies of the Group

40. Impact of the transition to IFRS

Reconciliation of the financial statements as of December 31st, 2004 

Consolidated balance sheet as of December 31st, 2004

  Portuguese GAAP IFRS’s

Amounts in euros 31/12/04 Reclassifications Adjustments 31/12/04

        
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Goodwill 359,631,094  -  17,125,290  376,756,384 

Other intangible assets 12,872,280  -  (12,087,444) 784,836 

Property, plant and equipment 1,232,336,647  (1,723,797) (15,504,865) 1,215,107,985 

Biological assets 118,594,851  33,727,602  (18,297,175) 134,025,278 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 3,813,751  -  (2,998,157) 815,594 
Deferred tax assets 48,503,793  11,768,894  9,972,421  70,245,108 

 1,775,752,416  43,772,699  (21,789,930) 1,797,735,185 

Current assets     
Inventories 173,048,107  (28,750,953) (178,575) 144,118,579 

Receivables and other current assets 242,245,980  (22,380,722) 30,000  219,895,258 
State and other public entities 58,896,336  (404,001) -  58,492,335 

Cash and cash equivalents 76,263,479  -  283,052  76,546,530 

 550,453,902  (51,535,676) 134,477  499,052,702  

     
Total assets 2,326,206,318  (7,762,977) (21,655,453) 2,296,787,887 

     
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
Capital and reserves     
Share capital 767,500,000  -  -  767,500,000 

Treasury shares (53,679) -  -  (53,679)

Fair value reserve and other reserves 80,187,513 (160,000) 381,298  80,408,811 

Retained earnings: prior years 166,087,480  160,000  (56,793,575) 109,453,905 

Retained earnings for the year 33,336,943  -  17,946,533  51,283,476 

Shareholders’ equity 1,047,058,257  -  (38,465,743) 1,008,592,513 
Minority interests -  -  204,875  204,875 

Equity 1,047,058,257  -  (38,260,868) 1,008,797,388 

     
Non-current liabilities     
Deferred tax liabilities 77,641,002  (2,130,080) 2,828,464  78,339,386 

Retirement benefit obligations 6,322,000  11,768,582  18,434,007  36,524,589 

Provisions 19,827,678  (16,159,204) (2,550,056) 1,118,418 
Interest-bearing liabilities 826,993,100  (1,528,572) 42,000  825,506,528 

 930,783,780  (8,049,274) 18,754,415  941,488,921 

Current liabilities     
Interest-bearing liabilities 120,464,486  1,493,513  -  121,957,999 
Payables and other current liabilities 223,778,651  (17,366,420) (2,149,000) 204,263,231 

State and other public entities 4,121,144  16,159,204  -  20,280,348 

 348,364,281  286,297  (2,149,000) 346,501,578 

Total liabilities 1,279,148,061  (7,762,977) 16,605,415  1,287,990,499  

     
Total equity and liabilities 2,326,206,318  (7,762,977) (21,655,453) 2,296,787,887 
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The above-listed companies have been fully consolidated with the exception of MICEP - Manutenção Industrial de Celulose e 
Papel, ACE and Cutpaper - Transformação, Corte e Embalagem de Papel, ACE, which have been consolidated by the proportional 
method.

39. Companies excluded from consolidation
 

       

  
Company Head office Directly Indirectly Total  
   
Portucel International Trading, SA Luxemburgo 80.00  -   80.00
Portucel Brasil Brasil 99.00  -   99.00

        

These companies were neither fully nor proportionally consolidated, but this is not considered of material importance to the 
presentation of a true and faithful picture of the financial situation and results of the operations of the Group. These holdings 
are carried under investments in associates and joint ventures and are valued according to the equity method.
 

Percentage of capital held by
companies of the Group

40. Impact of the transition to IFRS

Reconciliation of the financial statements as of December 31st, 2004 

Consolidated balance sheet as of December 31st, 2004

  Portuguese GAAP IFRS’s

Amounts in euros 31/12/04 Reclassifications Adjustments 31/12/04

        
ASSETS     
Non-current assets     
Goodwill 359,631,094  -  17,125,290  376,756,384 

Other intangible assets 12,872,280  -  (12,087,444) 784,836 

Property, plant and equipment 1,232,336,647  (1,723,797) (15,504,865) 1,215,107,985 

Biological assets 118,594,851  33,727,602  (18,297,175) 134,025,278 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 3,813,751  -  (2,998,157) 815,594 
Deferred tax assets 48,503,793  11,768,894  9,972,421  70,245,108 

 1,775,752,416  43,772,699  (21,789,930) 1,797,735,185 

Current assets     
Inventories 173,048,107  (28,750,953) (178,575) 144,118,579 

Receivables and other current assets 242,245,980  (22,380,722) 30,000  219,895,258 
State and other public entities 58,896,336  (404,001) -  58,492,335 

Cash and cash equivalents 76,263,479  -  283,052  76,546,530 

 550,453,902  (51,535,676) 134,477  499,052,702  

     
Total assets 2,326,206,318  (7,762,977) (21,655,453) 2,296,787,887 

     
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
Capital and reserves     
Share capital 767,500,000  -  -  767,500,000 

Treasury shares (53,679) -  -  (53,679)

Fair value reserve and other reserves 80,187,513 (160,000) 381,298  80,408,811 

Retained earnings: prior years 166,087,480  160,000  (56,793,575) 109,453,905 

Retained earnings for the year 33,336,943  -  17,946,533  51,283,476 

Shareholders’ equity 1,047,058,257  -  (38,465,743) 1,008,592,513 
Minority interests -  -  204,875  204,875 

Equity 1,047,058,257  -  (38,260,868) 1,008,797,388 

     
Non-current liabilities     
Deferred tax liabilities 77,641,002  (2,130,080) 2,828,464  78,339,386 

Retirement benefit obligations 6,322,000  11,768,582  18,434,007  36,524,589 

Provisions 19,827,678  (16,159,204) (2,550,056) 1,118,418 
Interest-bearing liabilities 826,993,100  (1,528,572) 42,000  825,506,528 

 930,783,780  (8,049,274) 18,754,415  941,488,921 

Current liabilities     
Interest-bearing liabilities 120,464,486  1,493,513  -  121,957,999 
Payables and other current liabilities 223,778,651  (17,366,420) (2,149,000) 204,263,231 

State and other public entities 4,121,144  16,159,204  -  20,280,348 

 348,364,281  286,297  (2,149,000) 346,501,578 

Total liabilities 1,279,148,061  (7,762,977) 16,605,415  1,287,990,499  

     
Total equity and liabilities 2,326,206,318  (7,762,977) (21,655,453) 2,296,787,887 
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Consolidated income statement as of December 31st, 2004 

 Portuguese GAAP IFRS’s

Amounts in euros 31/12/04 Reclassifications Adjustments 31/12/04

       
Revenues 980,939,251  (5,245,557) 2,637,889  978,331,583 

Other operating income 39,546,784  9,895,619  -  49,442,403 

Costs (788,434,042) (8,370,668) (9,121,457) (805,926,166)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (150,649,180) -  22,635,858  (128,013,322)

Operating profit 81,402,813  (3,720,606) 16,152,290  93,834,498 

     
Share of results of associates and joint-ventures -  -  -  - 

Income from investments available-for-sale -  -  -  - 
Financial costs - net (31,634,897) 7,113,325  1,669,238  (22,852,335)

Profit before income tax 49,767,916  3,392,719  17,821,528  70,982,163 

     
Income tax  (16,430,973) (3,392,719) 129,678  (19,694,014)

Net profit for the year 33,336,943  -  17,951,206  51,288,149 

     
Minority interests -  -  (4,673) (4,673)

Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders 33,336,943  -  17,946,533  51,283,476 

Reconciliation of shareholders equity and net profit in 2004

Shareholders Equity   
   

Amounts in euros 31/12/04 

Total equity (IFRS) 1,008,797,388  
 Fair value reserve and other reserves  
 Financial instruments (381,298) 
Prior year retained earnings  
 Write-down of biological assets 13,265,452  
 Impairment of assets 10,020,950  
 Write-down of intangible assets 10,372,126  
 Write-down of the deferred actuarial losses/gains 21,896,378  
 Other 1,033,796  
Differences in net profit for the year (17,946,534) 
Total equity (Portuguese GAAP) 1,047,058,257

Income Statement  
   

Amounts in euros 31/12/04 

Net profit for the year (IFRS) 51,283,476  
Revenues - accounting treatment differences (2,637,889) 
Costs - accounting treatment differences 9,121,457  
Amortisations (22,635,858) 
Financial instruments (1,669,238) 
Income tax (129,678) 
Minority interests 4,673  
Net profit for the year (Portuguese GAAP) 33,336,943  

  

Explanation of the effect of the transition to IFRS

In compliance with the regulations of the Portuguese Stock Market Commission (CMVM) and the European Commission of 
Negotiable Securities Regulators that relate to data required on the process of transition to the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS or IAS), the Group identified the main differences in the accounting treatment under accounting principles 
generally accepted in Portugal (Portuguese GAAP) and those of the IFRS. These differences and their effects on shareholders’ 
equity are summarized as follows:  

. Under Portuguese GAAP, research expenses and the costs of capital increases can be capitalised and amortised over a period 
of up to 5 years. Under IFRS, research expenses must be recognized as costs when incurred, and costs associated with capital 
increases must be booked as a deduction from shareholders’ equity, net of any tax effect. The effect on transition date (January 
1st, 2004) of the disallowance of intangible assets that do not qualify as assets under IFRS rules is a reduction in shareholders’ 
equity in the amount of 10,372,126 euros, net of taxes.  

.  As foreseen under Portuguese GAAP, the Group records its financial holdings in companies on which it does not exercise a 
significant influence at the lower of acquisition cost and estimated value on realisation. However, under IFRS, some holdings 
must be classified as financial investments available-for-sale, for which reason they must be recorded at their fair value. 
Changes in fair value will be recorded as offsets to shareholders’ equity. On transition date the booking of the above-mentioned 
holdings at their fair value represented an increase in shareholders’ equity in the amount of 9,058,150 euros, net of taxes. In the 
second half of 2004, this difference no longer exists as a result of the sale of the financial investments which have originated 
this difference.

. Goodwill arising from acquisitions of financial holdings and the respective accounting record is determined under Portu-
guese GAAP in a manner similar to that recognized by the IFRS. However, IFRS 3, published in 2004, as an alternative to the 
amortisation of goodwill contemplated under Portuguese GAAP, establishes periodic impairment tests. Furthermore, IFRS 3 
establishes that negative goodwill must be recognized immediately in the income statement, in contrast to the Portuguese 
GAAP, which contemplates its deferral or recognition in shareholders’ equity. On transition date, the accounting treatment of 
goodwill under IFRS does not give rise to any differences in shareholders’ equity of the financial statements prepared under 
Portuguese GAAP. Having the Group decided not to amortise goodwill in this financial statements, in 2004 a difference occur 
when compared to Portuguese GAAP income statement, of 17,125,290 euros.

. Under Portuguese GAAP, the Group’s woodlands are carried at acquisition cost. With the adoption of IFRS (IAS 41), biological 
assets are reported at fair value and the changes in the fair value, determined in each reporting period, must be recorded in the 
income statement of the reporting period in which the determination is made. On transition date the financial statements in ac-
cordance IFRS and Portuguese GAAP, shows a difference in the shareholders’ equity related to the biological assets recognition 
of 55,903,226 euros and on December 31st, 2004 shows a difference of 13,265,452 euros, net of taxes.

. Under Portuguese GAAP, the Group recognizes gains and losses determined from the use of derivative financial instruments 
when they are realised, in accordance with the criterion applicable to the covered items, on an accrual basis. Under IFRS (IAS 
39), derivative financial instruments must be recognized at fair value. This standard further determines that all derivative finan-
cial instruments must be recorded as assets when their fair value is positive, and as liabilities, when their fair value is negative. 
Under IFRS, when derivative financial instruments are considered as held-for-trading, as is the case for some of the derivative 
financial instruments held by the Group, changes in fair value must be recorded as a gain or loss in the income statement for 
the period. If derivative financial instruments are considered as cash-flows hedges, a situation in which the Group may also 
find itself, gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument must be recognized as an offset to 
shareholders’ equity and taken subsequently to the income statement for the period in which the hedging instrument generates 
gains or losses. On transition date, the effect of recording derivative financial instruments under IFRS is a reduction in share-
holders’ equity of the financial statements in accordance with Portuguese GAAP in the amount of 86,094 euros, net of taxes, and 
on December 31st, 2004 is an increase in the amount of 381,298 euros, net of taxes.
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Consolidated income statement as of December 31st, 2004 

 Portuguese GAAP IFRS’s

Amounts in euros 31/12/04 Reclassifications Adjustments 31/12/04

       
Revenues 980,939,251  (5,245,557) 2,637,889  978,331,583 

Other operating income 39,546,784  9,895,619  -  49,442,403 

Costs (788,434,042) (8,370,668) (9,121,457) (805,926,166)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses (150,649,180) -  22,635,858  (128,013,322)

Operating profit 81,402,813  (3,720,606) 16,152,290  93,834,498 

     
Share of results of associates and joint-ventures -  -  -  - 

Income from investments available-for-sale -  -  -  - 
Financial costs - net (31,634,897) 7,113,325  1,669,238  (22,852,335)

Profit before income tax 49,767,916  3,392,719  17,821,528  70,982,163 

     
Income tax  (16,430,973) (3,392,719) 129,678  (19,694,014)

Net profit for the year 33,336,943  -  17,951,206  51,288,149 

     
Minority interests -  -  (4,673) (4,673)

Net profit for the year attributable to equity holders 33,336,943  -  17,946,533  51,283,476 

Reconciliation of shareholders equity and net profit in 2004

Shareholders Equity   
   

Amounts in euros 31/12/04 

Total equity (IFRS) 1,008,797,388  
 Fair value reserve and other reserves  
 Financial instruments (381,298) 
Prior year retained earnings  
 Write-down of biological assets 13,265,452  
 Impairment of assets 10,020,950  
 Write-down of intangible assets 10,372,126  
 Write-down of the deferred actuarial losses/gains 21,896,378  
 Other 1,033,796  
Differences in net profit for the year (17,946,534) 
Total equity (Portuguese GAAP) 1,047,058,257

Income Statement  
   

Amounts in euros 31/12/04 

Net profit for the year (IFRS) 51,283,476  
Revenues - accounting treatment differences (2,637,889) 
Costs - accounting treatment differences 9,121,457  
Amortisations (22,635,858) 
Financial instruments (1,669,238) 
Income tax (129,678) 
Minority interests 4,673  
Net profit for the year (Portuguese GAAP) 33,336,943  

  

Explanation of the effect of the transition to IFRS

In compliance with the regulations of the Portuguese Stock Market Commission (CMVM) and the European Commission of 
Negotiable Securities Regulators that relate to data required on the process of transition to the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS or IAS), the Group identified the main differences in the accounting treatment under accounting principles 
generally accepted in Portugal (Portuguese GAAP) and those of the IFRS. These differences and their effects on shareholders’ 
equity are summarized as follows:  

. Under Portuguese GAAP, research expenses and the costs of capital increases can be capitalised and amortised over a period 
of up to 5 years. Under IFRS, research expenses must be recognized as costs when incurred, and costs associated with capital 
increases must be booked as a deduction from shareholders’ equity, net of any tax effect. The effect on transition date (January 
1st, 2004) of the disallowance of intangible assets that do not qualify as assets under IFRS rules is a reduction in shareholders’ 
equity in the amount of 10,372,126 euros, net of taxes.  

.  As foreseen under Portuguese GAAP, the Group records its financial holdings in companies on which it does not exercise a 
significant influence at the lower of acquisition cost and estimated value on realisation. However, under IFRS, some holdings 
must be classified as financial investments available-for-sale, for which reason they must be recorded at their fair value. 
Changes in fair value will be recorded as offsets to shareholders’ equity. On transition date the booking of the above-mentioned 
holdings at their fair value represented an increase in shareholders’ equity in the amount of 9,058,150 euros, net of taxes. In the 
second half of 2004, this difference no longer exists as a result of the sale of the financial investments which have originated 
this difference.

. Goodwill arising from acquisitions of financial holdings and the respective accounting record is determined under Portu-
guese GAAP in a manner similar to that recognized by the IFRS. However, IFRS 3, published in 2004, as an alternative to the 
amortisation of goodwill contemplated under Portuguese GAAP, establishes periodic impairment tests. Furthermore, IFRS 3 
establishes that negative goodwill must be recognized immediately in the income statement, in contrast to the Portuguese 
GAAP, which contemplates its deferral or recognition in shareholders’ equity. On transition date, the accounting treatment of 
goodwill under IFRS does not give rise to any differences in shareholders’ equity of the financial statements prepared under 
Portuguese GAAP. Having the Group decided not to amortise goodwill in this financial statements, in 2004 a difference occur 
when compared to Portuguese GAAP income statement, of 17,125,290 euros.

. Under Portuguese GAAP, the Group’s woodlands are carried at acquisition cost. With the adoption of IFRS (IAS 41), biological 
assets are reported at fair value and the changes in the fair value, determined in each reporting period, must be recorded in the 
income statement of the reporting period in which the determination is made. On transition date the financial statements in ac-
cordance IFRS and Portuguese GAAP, shows a difference in the shareholders’ equity related to the biological assets recognition 
of 55,903,226 euros and on December 31st, 2004 shows a difference of 13,265,452 euros, net of taxes.

. Under Portuguese GAAP, the Group recognizes gains and losses determined from the use of derivative financial instruments 
when they are realised, in accordance with the criterion applicable to the covered items, on an accrual basis. Under IFRS (IAS 
39), derivative financial instruments must be recognized at fair value. This standard further determines that all derivative finan-
cial instruments must be recorded as assets when their fair value is positive, and as liabilities, when their fair value is negative. 
Under IFRS, when derivative financial instruments are considered as held-for-trading, as is the case for some of the derivative 
financial instruments held by the Group, changes in fair value must be recorded as a gain or loss in the income statement for 
the period. If derivative financial instruments are considered as cash-flows hedges, a situation in which the Group may also 
find itself, gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument must be recognized as an offset to 
shareholders’ equity and taken subsequently to the income statement for the period in which the hedging instrument generates 
gains or losses. On transition date, the effect of recording derivative financial instruments under IFRS is a reduction in share-
holders’ equity of the financial statements in accordance with Portuguese GAAP in the amount of 86,094 euros, net of taxes, and 
on December 31st, 2004 is an increase in the amount of 381,298 euros, net of taxes.
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. On transition date, the Group recognized in shareholders’ equity the actuarial gains and losses which were deferred in the 
financial statements prepared in accordance with Portuguese GAAP.  Thus, on transition date and at December 31st, 2004 the 
shareholders’ equity of the financial statements in accordance IFRS has been decreased by 21,896,378 euros, net of taxes. 

.  In the 2004 first half, following a decision of the Company’s Board of Directors a provision was set up in the financial state-
ments prepared under Portuguese GAAP to cover tax contingencies in the amount of 12,641,085 euros, as an offset to share-
holders’ equity. Also, in the same period and in the same financial statements was cancelled a receivable in the amount of 
6,444,598 euros, also as an offset to shareholders’ equity; this was related to an investment tax reserve set up in 2003. The 
above changes, totalling 19,085,683 euros were included in the transition changes on January 1st, 2004.

. Following the adoption of IAS 36, an impairment loss on property, plant and equipment was recorded in the financial state-
ments in accordance with IFRS. Therefore, on transition date and at December 31st, 2004, shareholders’ equity has been re-
duced by 10,020,950 euros, net of taxes.

41. Reprivatisation process

With the publication of Decree-Law 6/2003, January 15th, the Portuguese government set the model for the second phase of the 
reprivatisation of the Company, foreseeing its completion in two stages.

The first segment, which took place in May of 2004, consisted of a public tender for the sale of a single indivisible lot of shares, 
representing 30% of Portucel’s share capital. The winning bidder was the Semapa Group, which acquired this holding through 
Seinpart – Participações, SGPS, S.A. (see note 23).

The above-mentioned decree-law also contemplates a second segment, which is the direct sale of up to 115,125,000 of the 
Company’s shares to a syndicate of financial institutions, for subsequent distribution to institutional investors. The conditions 
and timing of this sale will be decided by the Portuguese government. 

42. Explanation of English translation

The accompanying financial statements are a free translation of the financial statements originally issued in Portuguese lan-
guage. In the event of discrepancies between the English and the Portuguese versions, the Portuguese version prevails.
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. On transition date, the Group recognized in shareholders’ equity the actuarial gains and losses which were deferred in the 
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duced by 10,020,950 euros, net of taxes.
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reprivatisation of the Company, foreseeing its completion in two stages.

The first segment, which took place in May of 2004, consisted of a public tender for the sale of a single indivisible lot of shares, 
representing 30% of Portucel’s share capital. The winning bidder was the Semapa Group, which acquired this holding through 
Seinpart – Participações, SGPS, S.A. (see note 23).

The above-mentioned decree-law also contemplates a second segment, which is the direct sale of up to 115,125,000 of the 
Company’s shares to a syndicate of financial institutions, for subsequent distribution to institutional investors. The conditions 
and timing of this sale will be decided by the Portuguese government. 
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The accompanying financial statements are a free translation of the financial statements originally issued in Portuguese lan-
guage. In the event of discrepancies between the English and the Portuguese versions, the Portuguese version prevails.
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Introduction

1 . As required by law, we present the report of the Auditors for Statutory and Stock Exchange Regulatory Purposes in 
respect of the Financial Information  included in the consolidated report of the Board of Directors and the consolidated 
financial statements of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A., comprising the consolidated balance 
sheet as at December 31st, 2005, (which shows total assets of 2,186,287,648 euros and a total of shareholder’s equity of 
1,034,440,094 euros, including a net profit of 63,526,136 euros), the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statement of recognized income and expense, the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and the 
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and the corresponding notes to the accounts.

Responsibilities

2 . It is the responsibility of the company’s Board of Directors: (i) to prepare the consolidated Report of the Board of Direc-
tors and the consolidated financial statements which present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the company and its subsidiaries, the consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows; (ii) to 
prepare the historic financial information in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU and which is complete, true, timely, clear, objective and licit, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market 
Code; (iii) to adopt adequate accounting policies and criteria; (iv) to maintain appropriate systems of internal control; 
and (v) to disclose any relevant matters which have influenced the activity, the financial position or results of the com-
pany and its subsidiaries. 

3 . Our responsibility is to verify the financial information included in the documents referred to above, namely if it is 
complete, true, timely, clear, objective and licit, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market Code, and to issue an 
independent and professional report based on our audit. 

Scope

4 . We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards and Technical Recommendations approved by the Institute of 
Statutory Auditors, which require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whe-
ther the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. Accordingly, our examination included: 
(i) verification that the subsidiary’s financial statements have been properly examined and for the cases where such an 
examination was not carried out, verification, on a test basis, of the evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements, and assessing the reasonableness of the estimates, based on judgements 
and criteria of management used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements; (ii) verification of the 
consolidation operations and the utilization of the equity method; (iii) assessing the appropriateness of the accounting 
principles used and their disclosure, as applicable; (iv) assessing the applicability of the going concern basis of ac-
counting; (v) assessing the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements; and (vi) assessing whether the 
consolidated financial information is complete, true, timely, clear, objective and licit.

5 . Our examination also covered the verification that the consolidated financial information included in the consolidated 
report of the Board of Directors is in agreement with the remaining documents referred to above. 

6 . We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Report of the Auditors for Statutory and Stock Exchange Regulatory
Purposes in respect of the Consolidated Financial Information

Opinion

7 . In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, present fairly in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. as at December 31st, 2005, the 
consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and the information included is complete, true, ti-
mely, clear, objective and licit.

Lisbon, February 27th, 2006

PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados - Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda
represented by:

Abdul Nasser Abdul Sattar, R.O.C.
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1,034,440,094 euros, including a net profit of 63,526,136 euros), the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statement of recognized income and expense, the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and the 
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and the corresponding notes to the accounts.
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the company and its subsidiaries, the consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows; (ii) to 
prepare the historic financial information in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU and which is complete, true, timely, clear, objective and licit, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market 
Code; (iii) to adopt adequate accounting policies and criteria; (iv) to maintain appropriate systems of internal control; 
and (v) to disclose any relevant matters which have influenced the activity, the financial position or results of the com-
pany and its subsidiaries. 

3 . Our responsibility is to verify the financial information included in the documents referred to above, namely if it is 
complete, true, timely, clear, objective and licit, as required by the Portuguese Securities Market Code, and to issue an 
independent and professional report based on our audit. 

Scope

4 . We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards and Technical Recommendations approved by the Institute of 
Statutory Auditors, which require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whe-
ther the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. Accordingly, our examination included: 
(i) verification that the subsidiary’s financial statements have been properly examined and for the cases where such an 
examination was not carried out, verification, on a test basis, of the evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements, and assessing the reasonableness of the estimates, based on judgements 
and criteria of management used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements; (ii) verification of the 
consolidation operations and the utilization of the equity method; (iii) assessing the appropriateness of the accounting 
principles used and their disclosure, as applicable; (iv) assessing the applicability of the going concern basis of ac-
counting; (v) assessing the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements; and (vi) assessing whether the 
consolidated financial information is complete, true, timely, clear, objective and licit.

5 . Our examination also covered the verification that the consolidated financial information included in the consolidated 
report of the Board of Directors is in agreement with the remaining documents referred to above. 

6 . We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Report of the Auditors for Statutory and Stock Exchange Regulatory
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Opinion

7 . In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above, present fairly in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. as at December 31st, 2005, the 
consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
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To the Shareholders,

1 . In accordance with the law and our mandate, we herewith present the report on our supervisory activity and our opinion on 
the consolidated report of the Board of Directors and on the corresponding consolidated financial statements of Portucel 
– Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. with respect to the year ended December 31st, 2005.

2 .During the course of the year, we have accompanied the evolution of the company’s activities, as and when deemed neces-
sary, and have verified the timeliness and adequacy of the accounting records and supporting documentation. We have also 
ensured that the law and the company’s articles of association have been complied with. 

3 . As a consequence of our work, we have issued the attached Report of the Auditors for Statutory and Stock Exchange Regu-
latory Purposes. Furthermore we have issued the Statutory Auditors’ Report sent to the Board of Directors, as required by 
Article 451o of the Commercial Companies Code.

4 .Within the scope of our mandate, we have verified that:

i)  the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of recognized income 
and expense, the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the consolidated cash flow statement and 
the corresponding notes to the accounts present adequately the financial position, the results and the cash flows of the 
company;

ii)  the accounting policies and valuation methods applied are appropriate;

iii ) the consolidated report of the Board of Directors is sufficiently clear as to the evolution of the business and the position 
of the company and subsidiaries included in the consolidation and highlights the more significant aspects;

5 . On this basis, and taking into account the information obtained from the Board of Directors and the company’s employees, 
together with the conclusions in the Report of the Auditors for Statutory and Stock Exchange Regulatory Purposes, we are 
of the opinion that: 

i)  the consolidated report of the Board of Directors be approved;

ii)  the consolidated financial statements be approved.

Lisbon, February 27th, 2006

The Statutory Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados - Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda
represented by:

Abdul Nasser Abdul Sattar, R.O.C.

Report and Opinion of the Statutory Auditor
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To the Shareholders,
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i)  the consolidated report of the Board of Directors be approved;

ii)  the consolidated financial statements be approved.
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The Company does not have any specific committees – namely an Ethics Committee or a Corporate Structure and Governance 
Assessment Committee.

Portucel’s share price performance 

Portucel’s shares ended 2005 up 17.5% on their price at December 31st, 2004, at 1.68 euros/share (December 31st, 2005). Over 
the course of the year they traded between a minimum of 1.33 euros/share on January 5th and 6th  and a maximum of 1.79 eu-
ros/share on  October 4th .  
The figure below shows the movements in the Company’s share price over the year and the main events that were communi-
cated to the market. 

Dividend policy

The proposal for dividend distribution is determined by the Board of Directors and is subject to current legislation and the 
Company’s articles of association. In accordance with the latter a minimum amount equivalent to twenty per cent of the distri-
butable profit is to be paid to the shareholders in the form of dividends each year. 

Dividend per share paid in the last three financial years:
2003 (in relation to the 2002 financial year) 0.0315 euros per share
2004 (in relation to the 2003 financial year) 0.0315 euros per share
2005 (in relation to the 2004 financial year) 0.0371 euros per share

Share distribution and stock option plans 

No share distribution or stock option plans are currently in effect.
 
Description of the main elements of the transactions and operations undertaken by the Company

No relevant information exists in this respect.
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133Investor Relations Office

Portucel has an Investor Relations Office since November 1995. It was created with the aim of providing a permanent and ap-
propriate point of contact with the financial community – investors, shareholders, analysts and regulatory bodies – and promot-
ing the disclosure of the Company’s financial information and any other significant information that is relevant to Portucel’s 
performance on the capital market, all in accordance with the principles of consistency, regularity, fairness, credibility and 
timeliness. The office publishes the Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and any other relevant information 
available on Portucel’s website at www.portucelsoporcel.com
Portucel’s market relations officer is Joana de Avelar Pedrosa Rosa Lã Appleton, who can be contacted by telephone (+351 265 
700 504) or e-mail (joana.la@portucelsoporcel.com).

Remuneration Committee

The Directors’ remuneration is set by a remuneration committee, which decides the amount of their basic pay and – where 
appropriate – awards them a variable amount depending on the objectives attained.
The remuneration committee that was appointed at the General Meeting on June 15th, 2004 was comprised of the follo-
wing members: João Morais Leitão, Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira and Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves. At present João  
Morais Leitão’s death has left a vacancy on the committee, the filling of which is on the agenda of the Company’s next General  
Meeting.

Auditors’ remuneration

In 2005 the Group paid 393,968 euros to the auditors of the various Group companies. This amount was broken down as  
follows:

a) 45.5% for statutory auditing services
b) 34.3% for assistance with fiscal matters
c) 20.2% for other services

Our auditors have introduced stringent internal rules designed to safeguard their independence. 

Chapter II – Exercise of voting rights and shareholder representation

Portucel has always pursued a policy of encouraging its shareholders to take part in General Meetings, first and foremost by 
periodically disclosing reports on its business and its economic and financial results, with the aim of going beyond mere com-
pliance with the applicable legislation.

Shareholders who wish to attend Portucel’s General Meeting must supply proof of ownership of shares, which must have 
been registered in their name at least eight days before the date scheduled for the Meeting in question, and must remain so 
registered until the Meeting is closed. The articles of association permit all shareholders to participate in General Meetings, 
regardless of the number of shares they hold. However, there are rules limiting voting rights.

Without prejudice to the right to vote as a group, one vote shall be counted for every 1,000 shares. Unless otherwise provided 
by law, votes that represent more than twenty-five per cent of the Company’s share capital, when the same are issued with 
reference to ordinary shares, are not counted if they are exercised by a single shareholder, either on his/her own behalf, or on 
that of someone else 

In order to ensure that shareholders are properly informed in a brief and simple manner, notices of Portucel’s General Mee-
tings customarily make provision for voting by post or by proxy, including all the details of the rules on the subject. At present 
Portucel does not envisage the possibility of exercising voting rights electronically.



The Company does not have any specific committees – namely an Ethics Committee or a Corporate Structure and Governance 
Assessment Committee.
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The proposal for dividend distribution is determined by the Board of Directors and is subject to current legislation and the 
Company’s articles of association. In accordance with the latter a minimum amount equivalent to twenty per cent of the distri-
butable profit is to be paid to the shareholders in the form of dividends each year. 

Dividend per share paid in the last three financial years:
2003 (in relation to the 2002 financial year) 0.0315 euros per share
2004 (in relation to the 2003 financial year) 0.0315 euros per share
2005 (in relation to the 2004 financial year) 0.0371 euros per share

Share distribution and stock option plans 

No share distribution or stock option plans are currently in effect.
 
Description of the main elements of the transactions and operations undertaken by the Company

No relevant information exists in this respect.

2.2

2

1.8

1.6

1.4

1.2

1

0.8

0.6

01
-0

1-
20

05

03
-0

2-
20

05

08
-0

3-
20

05

10
-0

4-
20

05

13
-0

5-
20

05

15
-0

6-
20

05

18
-0

7-
20

05

20
-0

8-
20

05

22
-0

9-
20

05

25
-1

0-
20

05

27
-1

1-
20

05

30
-1

2-
20

05

General
Meeting

Publication of
2004 Results

Annual General
Meeting

Publication of
Results for 1st

Quarter 2005

Publication of
Results for 2nd

Quarter 2005

Publication of
Results for 3rd

Quarter 2005

Movements in Portucel´s share price - 2005

132

P
or

tu
ce

l S
op

or
ce

l g
ro

up

P
or

tu
ce

l S
op

or
ce

l g
ro

up

133Investor Relations Office

Portucel has an Investor Relations Office since November 1995. It was created with the aim of providing a permanent and ap-
propriate point of contact with the financial community – investors, shareholders, analysts and regulatory bodies – and promot-
ing the disclosure of the Company’s financial information and any other significant information that is relevant to Portucel’s 
performance on the capital market, all in accordance with the principles of consistency, regularity, fairness, credibility and 
timeliness. The office publishes the Company’s quarterly, half-yearly and annual results and any other relevant information 
available on Portucel’s website at www.portucelsoporcel.com
Portucel’s market relations officer is Joana de Avelar Pedrosa Rosa Lã Appleton, who can be contacted by telephone (+351 265 
700 504) or e-mail (joana.la@portucelsoporcel.com).

Remuneration Committee

The Directors’ remuneration is set by a remuneration committee, which decides the amount of their basic pay and – where 
appropriate – awards them a variable amount depending on the objectives attained.
The remuneration committee that was appointed at the General Meeting on June 15th, 2004 was comprised of the follo-
wing members: João Morais Leitão, Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira and Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves. At present João  
Morais Leitão’s death has left a vacancy on the committee, the filling of which is on the agenda of the Company’s next General  
Meeting.

Auditors’ remuneration

In 2005 the Group paid 393,968 euros to the auditors of the various Group companies. This amount was broken down as  
follows:

a) 45.5% for statutory auditing services
b) 34.3% for assistance with fiscal matters
c) 20.2% for other services

Our auditors have introduced stringent internal rules designed to safeguard their independence. 

Chapter II – Exercise of voting rights and shareholder representation

Portucel has always pursued a policy of encouraging its shareholders to take part in General Meetings, first and foremost by 
periodically disclosing reports on its business and its economic and financial results, with the aim of going beyond mere com-
pliance with the applicable legislation.

Shareholders who wish to attend Portucel’s General Meeting must supply proof of ownership of shares, which must have 
been registered in their name at least eight days before the date scheduled for the Meeting in question, and must remain so 
registered until the Meeting is closed. The articles of association permit all shareholders to participate in General Meetings, 
regardless of the number of shares they hold. However, there are rules limiting voting rights.

Without prejudice to the right to vote as a group, one vote shall be counted for every 1,000 shares. Unless otherwise provided 
by law, votes that represent more than twenty-five per cent of the Company’s share capital, when the same are issued with 
reference to ordinary shares, are not counted if they are exercised by a single shareholder, either on his/her own behalf, or on 
that of someone else 

In order to ensure that shareholders are properly informed in a brief and simple manner, notices of Portucel’s General Mee-
tings customarily make provision for voting by post or by proxy, including all the details of the rules on the subject. At present 
Portucel does not envisage the possibility of exercising voting rights electronically.



During the period running up to the General Meeting the market relations officer is available for any queries shareholders may 
have and to provide all the information needed to fully resolve them.

Chapter III – Company Rules

Portucel is governed by the general laws applicable to public companies and by its articles of association. Its business activity 
is not subject to any specific legislation.

Following the reprivatisation of part of Portucel’s share capital in 2004, the Company held a General Meeting on June 15th, 
2004 at which the new governing bodies were appointed for the three-year period from 2004 to 2006. The number of members 
of the Board of Directors remained seven, five of whom have executive functions and thus comprise an Executive Committee, 
while two are non-executive directors. The Meeting also approved new internal regulations, which lay down the Executive 
Committee’s powers and duties and the matters that are reserved for approval by the full Board of Directors. They also set out 
the rules governing the internal functioning of the Board of Directors.

In terms of its internal control procedures Portucel has an internal Audit and Risk Analysis Department that acts at every level 
throughout the Company. There is also the sole auditor and the external auditors, who fulfil the roles which the law lays down 
in relation to this type of company.

In addition to the Risk Analysis Department, which has the primary responsibility for the risk management function, the 
Planning and Control Department, the Finance Department, the Legal Services Office, and the Investor Relations Office 
(IRO) are also tasked with a number of duties in this field. The IRO is responsible for monitoring movements in Portucel’s 
share price. 

The managements of the manufacturing mills draws up reports on their operations. Among other things, these reports specifi-
cally address any issues that require urgent attention, equipment management, and inventories.

The Company’s Marketing Department produces periodic reports on pulp and paper sales, market trends and future prospects, 
and existing inventories.

We are not aware of the existence of any shareholder agreements between the Company’s shareholders, and the only restric-
tions on the exercise of voting rights are those imposed by the Articles of Association, as described above.

Chapter IV – The Board of Directors

Portucel has a Board of Directors composed of seven members – a Chairman and six Directors. Five of the members have 
executive functions and form an Executive Committee, which was appointed and whose powers were delegated by the Board of 
Directors. The other two members of the Board of Directors are non-executive directors.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira.

The Board members comprising the Executive Committee are:

José Alfredo de Almeida Honório  (Chairman)
Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira  (Member)
Manuel Soares Ferreira Regalado  (Member)
Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata  (Member)
Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes  (Member)

The Non-Executive Directors are:

Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves (Member)
Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto (Member)

Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira (Chairman), José Alfredo de Almeida Honório and Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves are not 
considered to be ‘Independent Directors’ for the purposes of article 1(2) of CMVM Regulation no. 11/2003, as they are on the 
Board of Directors of the shareholder Semapa – Sociedade de Investimento e Gestão, SGPS, S.A..

It is our understanding that none of the remaining Directors are covered by any of the criteria referred to in the article referred 
to in the previous paragraph, unless it is understood that, because they are also Directors of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa 
de Papel, S.A., they are covered by paragraph c) of the said legal provision.

The Executive Committee has delegated powers to:

a) Submit to the Board of Directors proposals on corporate policy, objectives and strategies; 
b) Propose operating budgets and medium and long-term investment and development plans to the Board of Directors, and 

to implement them once approved; 
c) Approve budget changes for the financial year, including transfers between cost centres, provided that the combined value 

thereof does not exceed twenty million euros in any one year; 
d) Approve contracts for the acquisition of goods or services, provided that the combined value thereof does not exceed twen-

ty million euros in any one year; 
e) Approve loan contracts and requests for bank guarantees and assume any other liabilities that represent an increase in 

indebtedness, provided that the combined value thereof does not exceed twenty million euros in any one year; 
f) Acquire, dispose of or encumber the Company fixed assets, up to the individual asset value of five per cent of the paid-up 

share capital; 
g) Take and grant leases of any real estate property;
h) Represent the Company in legal proceedings and otherwise, actively or passively, and to commence and prosecute any 

proceedings, to make admissions therein, to discontinue, settle proceedings, and to enter into arbitration agreements;
i)  Acquire, dispose of or encumber shares in other companies, subject to a maximum amount of twenty million euros in any 

one year;  
j) Decide how and when to proceed with the acquisition or disposal of the Company’s own shares, when the General Meeting 

has resolved to so acquire them or dispose thereof and subject to the terms of the said resolution;
k) Manage holdings in other companies in conjunction with the Chairman of the Board of Directors, particularly the appoint-

ment with the agreement with the said Chairman of the Company’s representatives on such companies’ governing bodies 
and by laying down guidelines on how those representatives should act;

l)  Enter into, amend and terminate employment contracts;
m) Open, operate and close bank accounts;
n) Appoint agents of the Company.
o) In general, all such powers as may be delegated by law, save such restrictions as may result from the provisions of the 

preceding paragraphs.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors has the duties and powers with which he is charged by law and the articles of asso-
ciation.
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During the period running up to the General Meeting the market relations officer is available for any queries shareholders may 
have and to provide all the information needed to fully resolve them.

Chapter III – Company Rules

Portucel is governed by the general laws applicable to public companies and by its articles of association. Its business activity 
is not subject to any specific legislation.

Following the reprivatisation of part of Portucel’s share capital in 2004, the Company held a General Meeting on June 15th, 
2004 at which the new governing bodies were appointed for the three-year period from 2004 to 2006. The number of members 
of the Board of Directors remained seven, five of whom have executive functions and thus comprise an Executive Committee, 
while two are non-executive directors. The Meeting also approved new internal regulations, which lay down the Executive 
Committee’s powers and duties and the matters that are reserved for approval by the full Board of Directors. They also set out 
the rules governing the internal functioning of the Board of Directors.

In terms of its internal control procedures Portucel has an internal Audit and Risk Analysis Department that acts at every level 
throughout the Company. There is also the sole auditor and the external auditors, who fulfil the roles which the law lays down 
in relation to this type of company.

In addition to the Risk Analysis Department, which has the primary responsibility for the risk management function, the 
Planning and Control Department, the Finance Department, the Legal Services Office, and the Investor Relations Office 
(IRO) are also tasked with a number of duties in this field. The IRO is responsible for monitoring movements in Portucel’s 
share price. 

The managements of the manufacturing mills draws up reports on their operations. Among other things, these reports specifi-
cally address any issues that require urgent attention, equipment management, and inventories.

The Company’s Marketing Department produces periodic reports on pulp and paper sales, market trends and future prospects, 
and existing inventories.

We are not aware of the existence of any shareholder agreements between the Company’s shareholders, and the only restric-
tions on the exercise of voting rights are those imposed by the Articles of Association, as described above.

Chapter IV – The Board of Directors

Portucel has a Board of Directors composed of seven members – a Chairman and six Directors. Five of the members have 
executive functions and form an Executive Committee, which was appointed and whose powers were delegated by the Board of 
Directors. The other two members of the Board of Directors are non-executive directors.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors is Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira.

The Board members comprising the Executive Committee are:

José Alfredo de Almeida Honório  (Chairman)
Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira  (Member)
Manuel Soares Ferreira Regalado  (Member)
Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata  (Member)
Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes  (Member)

The Non-Executive Directors are:

Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves (Member)
Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto (Member)

Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira (Chairman), José Alfredo de Almeida Honório and Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves are not 
considered to be ‘Independent Directors’ for the purposes of article 1(2) of CMVM Regulation no. 11/2003, as they are on the 
Board of Directors of the shareholder Semapa – Sociedade de Investimento e Gestão, SGPS, S.A..

It is our understanding that none of the remaining Directors are covered by any of the criteria referred to in the article referred 
to in the previous paragraph, unless it is understood that, because they are also Directors of Soporcel - Sociedade Portuguesa 
de Papel, S.A., they are covered by paragraph c) of the said legal provision.

The Executive Committee has delegated powers to:

a) Submit to the Board of Directors proposals on corporate policy, objectives and strategies; 
b) Propose operating budgets and medium and long-term investment and development plans to the Board of Directors, and 

to implement them once approved; 
c) Approve budget changes for the financial year, including transfers between cost centres, provided that the combined value 

thereof does not exceed twenty million euros in any one year; 
d) Approve contracts for the acquisition of goods or services, provided that the combined value thereof does not exceed twen-

ty million euros in any one year; 
e) Approve loan contracts and requests for bank guarantees and assume any other liabilities that represent an increase in 

indebtedness, provided that the combined value thereof does not exceed twenty million euros in any one year; 
f) Acquire, dispose of or encumber the Company fixed assets, up to the individual asset value of five per cent of the paid-up 

share capital; 
g) Take and grant leases of any real estate property;
h) Represent the Company in legal proceedings and otherwise, actively or passively, and to commence and prosecute any 

proceedings, to make admissions therein, to discontinue, settle proceedings, and to enter into arbitration agreements;
i)  Acquire, dispose of or encumber shares in other companies, subject to a maximum amount of twenty million euros in any 

one year;  
j) Decide how and when to proceed with the acquisition or disposal of the Company’s own shares, when the General Meeting 

has resolved to so acquire them or dispose thereof and subject to the terms of the said resolution;
k) Manage holdings in other companies in conjunction with the Chairman of the Board of Directors, particularly the appoint-

ment with the agreement with the said Chairman of the Company’s representatives on such companies’ governing bodies 
and by laying down guidelines on how those representatives should act;

l)  Enter into, amend and terminate employment contracts;
m) Open, operate and close bank accounts;
n) Appoint agents of the Company.
o) In general, all such powers as may be delegated by law, save such restrictions as may result from the provisions of the 

preceding paragraphs.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors has the duties and powers with which he is charged by law and the articles of asso-
ciation.
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The Executive Committee may discuss the matters for which the Board of Directors is responsible, without prejudice to the 
fact that it may only take decisions on such matters as are delegated to it. Every matter addressed by the Executive Committee 
– even those which are included within the duties and powers that are delegated to it – shall be made known to the Non-Execu-
tive Directors, who shall be given access to the respective minutes and supporting documents.

Acting in conjunction with the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee may also take decisions on the 
matters provided for in paragraphs c), d), e) and i) above, when the amounts involved, as calculated under the terms set out 
therein, are between twenty million and fifty million euros.

Any alterations to the terms and conditions of contracts that have already been entered into and that fall under paragraphs c), 
d), e) and i) shall be dealt with by the body or bodies that have the power to effect them.

Within the Executive Committee the individual Executive Directors have particular responsibility for the following areas:

Pedro Queiroz Pereira:
Institutional Affairs

José Honório:
Assets and Forests
Resource Management
Wood Procurement
R&D Forest Projects
Internal Auditing

Luis Deslandes:
Paper Sales
Pulp Sales
Marketing
Communication and Image

Gil Mata:
Pulp and paper manufacturing mills operations (Cacia, Figueira da Foz and Setúbal)
Maintenance, Conservation and Technical Engineering
Project Units 
Environment, Quality and Development
General Secretarial Services

Manuel Regalado:
Finance
Accounts
Fiscal Affairs
Planning and Management Control
Information Systems
Legal Services
Purchasing
Investor Relations
Human Resources
Organisation

By decision of the Board of Directors the Company has an Audit Committee, the members of which are:

António Duarte Serrão (Chairman)
José Miguel Gens Paredes (Member)
José Fernando Morais Carreira de Araújo (Member)

The powers and duties of the Audit Committee are those set out hereunder together with those explicitly assigned to it by the 
Board of Directors. 

Its general powers and duties are as follows:

1. The Audit Committee shall have no powers other than those granted to it by these regulations or assigned to it explicitly by 
the Board of Directors.

2. The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating the procedures designed to control disclosed financial information (ac-
counts and reports) and the time-limits of such disclosures. In particular it is tasked with reviewing the Group’s draft annual, 
bi-annual and quarterly accounts and providing the Board of Directors with a report on them before it approves and signs 
them. 

3. The Audit Committee shall advise the Board of Directors on its choice of External Auditor and on the scope of the Internal 
Auditor’s work. 

4. The Audit Committee shall discuss the External Auditor’s annual reports with him, and shall advise the Board of Directors 
on any measures to be taken. 

5. In the performance of its duties the Audit Committee shall consider the following: 
 (i) Alterations to accounting policies and practices. 
 (ii) Significant adjustments required as a result of audits. 
 (iii) Variations in important financial ratios and any alterations in the Group’s formal or informal ratings. 
 (iv) Significant financial exposure (such as exchange rate and interest rate risks and the risks posed by derivative opera-

tions). 
 (v) Illegal or irregular procedures.

6. Without prejudice to its normal duties and powers, the Board of Directors delegates its supervisory and audit powers to 
the Audit Committee. The latter is particularly responsible for inspecting all the accounting records of the Company and its 
associate companies, and obtaining accounting and financial information from the Group’s staff, to the extent that the said 
measures are necessary in order to fulfil its responsibilities.

During the 2005 financial year the Board of Directors met 9 times and the Executive Committee 48 times.

In 2005 the remuneration paid to members of the Board of Directors totalled 2,651,885.86 euros, of which 2,350,379.11 were 
paid to executive directors and 301,506.75 to non-executive directors. Of the overall total, 2,045,311.94 euros were paid by So-
porcel, S.A., 237,375.00 by Portucel , S.A. and 369,198.92 by Semapa. No variable remunerations were paid in 2005.
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The Executive Committee may discuss the matters for which the Board of Directors is responsible, without prejudice to the 
fact that it may only take decisions on such matters as are delegated to it. Every matter addressed by the Executive Committee 
– even those which are included within the duties and powers that are delegated to it – shall be made known to the Non-Execu-
tive Directors, who shall be given access to the respective minutes and supporting documents.

Acting in conjunction with the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Executive Committee may also take decisions on the 
matters provided for in paragraphs c), d), e) and i) above, when the amounts involved, as calculated under the terms set out 
therein, are between twenty million and fifty million euros.

Any alterations to the terms and conditions of contracts that have already been entered into and that fall under paragraphs c), 
d), e) and i) shall be dealt with by the body or bodies that have the power to effect them.

Within the Executive Committee the individual Executive Directors have particular responsibility for the following areas:

Pedro Queiroz Pereira:
Institutional Affairs

José Honório:
Assets and Forests
Resource Management
Wood Procurement
R&D Forest Projects
Internal Auditing

Luis Deslandes:
Paper Sales
Pulp Sales
Marketing
Communication and Image

Gil Mata:
Pulp and paper manufacturing mills operations (Cacia, Figueira da Foz and Setúbal)
Maintenance, Conservation and Technical Engineering
Project Units 
Environment, Quality and Development
General Secretarial Services

Manuel Regalado:
Finance
Accounts
Fiscal Affairs
Planning and Management Control
Information Systems
Legal Services
Purchasing
Investor Relations
Human Resources
Organisation

By decision of the Board of Directors the Company has an Audit Committee, the members of which are:

António Duarte Serrão (Chairman)
José Miguel Gens Paredes (Member)
José Fernando Morais Carreira de Araújo (Member)

The powers and duties of the Audit Committee are those set out hereunder together with those explicitly assigned to it by the 
Board of Directors. 

Its general powers and duties are as follows:

1. The Audit Committee shall have no powers other than those granted to it by these regulations or assigned to it explicitly by 
the Board of Directors.

2. The Audit Committee is responsible for evaluating the procedures designed to control disclosed financial information (ac-
counts and reports) and the time-limits of such disclosures. In particular it is tasked with reviewing the Group’s draft annual, 
bi-annual and quarterly accounts and providing the Board of Directors with a report on them before it approves and signs 
them. 

3. The Audit Committee shall advise the Board of Directors on its choice of External Auditor and on the scope of the Internal 
Auditor’s work. 

4. The Audit Committee shall discuss the External Auditor’s annual reports with him, and shall advise the Board of Directors 
on any measures to be taken. 

5. In the performance of its duties the Audit Committee shall consider the following: 
 (i) Alterations to accounting policies and practices. 
 (ii) Significant adjustments required as a result of audits. 
 (iii) Variations in important financial ratios and any alterations in the Group’s formal or informal ratings. 
 (iv) Significant financial exposure (such as exchange rate and interest rate risks and the risks posed by derivative opera-

tions). 
 (v) Illegal or irregular procedures.

6. Without prejudice to its normal duties and powers, the Board of Directors delegates its supervisory and audit powers to 
the Audit Committee. The latter is particularly responsible for inspecting all the accounting records of the Company and its 
associate companies, and obtaining accounting and financial information from the Group’s staff, to the extent that the said 
measures are necessary in order to fulfil its responsibilities.

During the 2005 financial year the Board of Directors met 9 times and the Executive Committee 48 times.

In 2005 the remuneration paid to members of the Board of Directors totalled 2,651,885.86 euros, of which 2,350,379.11 were 
paid to executive directors and 301,506.75 to non-executive directors. Of the overall total, 2,045,311.94 euros were paid by So-
porcel, S.A., 237,375.00 by Portucel , S.A. and 369,198.92 by Semapa. No variable remunerations were paid in 2005.
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All the members of the Board of Directors are also on the boards of other companies, as listed below (companies belonging to 
the Portucel Soporcel Group are marked “GPS” in brackets):

Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira

. Chairman of the Board of Directors and Member of the Executive Committee of Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e 
Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors and Member of the Executive Committee of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, 
S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Cimianto - Gestão de Participações, S.A. 

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Cimimpart - Investimentos e Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Cimo - Gestão de Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of CMPartin - Inversiones y Participaciones Empresariales SL

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of CMP - Cimentos Maceira e Pataias, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Longapar, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of O E M - Organização de Empresas, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Parsecil, SL

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Parseinges - Gestão de Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Secil - Companhia Geral de Cal e Cimento, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Secilpar, SL

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Seinpart  Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Semapa Inversiones, SL

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Semapa - Sociedade de Investimento e Gestão, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Seminv - Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sociedade Agrícola da Quinta da Vialonga, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sodim SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Vertice – Gestão de Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Manager of Cimentospar – Participações Sociais, SGPS, Lda.

. Manager of Ecolua – Actividades Desportivas, Lda

José Alfredo de Almeida Honório

. Chairman of the Executive Committee and Member of the Board of Directors of Portucel- Empresa Produtora de Pasta e 
Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Executive Committee and Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de 
Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Soporcel – Gestão de Participações Sociais, SGPS,S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel Florestal – Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Aliança Florestal – Sociedade para o Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Seminv – Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of CMPartin-Inversiones y Participaciones Empresariales SL

. Member of the Board of Parsecil, SL

. Member of the Board of Semapa Inversiones, SL

. Manager of Cimentospar – Participações Sociais, Lda.

. Manager of Florimar – Gestão e Participações, SGPS, Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda.

. Member of the Board of Betopal, SL

. Member of the Board of Longapar, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Cimimpart – Investimentos e Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Parseinges - Gestão de Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Seinpart Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Cimo-Gestão de Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of CMP – Cimentos Maceira e Pataias, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Secil - Companhia Geral de Cal e Cimento, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Semapa – Sociedade Investimento e Gestão, SGPS, S.A.
 

Manuel Soares Ferreira Regalado 

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Portucel–Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. 
(GPS)

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Soporcel – Gestão de Participações Sociais, SGPS, S.A. (GPS)

Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata 

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. 
(GPS)

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Soporcel – Gestão de Participações Sociais,SGPS, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Enerpulp – Cogeração Energética de Pasta, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Socortel – Sociedade de Corte de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Management of Setipel –Serviços Técnicos da Indústria Papeleira, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Management of SPCG – Sociedade Portuguesa de Cogeração, S.A. (GPS)
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All the members of the Board of Directors are also on the boards of other companies, as listed below (companies belonging to 
the Portucel Soporcel Group are marked “GPS” in brackets):

Pedro Mendonça de Queiroz Pereira

. Chairman of the Board of Directors and Member of the Executive Committee of Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e 
Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors and Member of the Executive Committee of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, 
S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Cimianto - Gestão de Participações, S.A. 

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Cimimpart - Investimentos e Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Cimo - Gestão de Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of CMPartin - Inversiones y Participaciones Empresariales SL

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of CMP - Cimentos Maceira e Pataias, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Longapar, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of O E M - Organização de Empresas, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Parsecil, SL

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Parseinges - Gestão de Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Secil - Companhia Geral de Cal e Cimento, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Secilpar, SL

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Seinpart  Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Semapa Inversiones, SL

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Semapa - Sociedade de Investimento e Gestão, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Seminv - Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sociedade Agrícola da Quinta da Vialonga, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sodim SGPS, S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Vertice – Gestão de Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Manager of Cimentospar – Participações Sociais, SGPS, Lda.

. Manager of Ecolua – Actividades Desportivas, Lda

José Alfredo de Almeida Honório

. Chairman of the Executive Committee and Member of the Board of Directors of Portucel- Empresa Produtora de Pasta e 
Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Executive Committee and Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de 
Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Soporcel – Gestão de Participações Sociais, SGPS,S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel Florestal – Empresa de Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Aliança Florestal – Sociedade para o Desenvolvimento Agro-Florestal, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Seminv – Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of CMPartin-Inversiones y Participaciones Empresariales SL

. Member of the Board of Parsecil, SL

. Member of the Board of Semapa Inversiones, SL

. Manager of Cimentospar – Participações Sociais, Lda.

. Manager of Florimar – Gestão e Participações, SGPS, Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda.

. Member of the Board of Betopal, SL

. Member of the Board of Longapar, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Cimimpart – Investimentos e Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Parseinges - Gestão de Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Seinpart Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Cimo-Gestão de Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of CMP – Cimentos Maceira e Pataias, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Secil - Companhia Geral de Cal e Cimento, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Semapa – Sociedade Investimento e Gestão, SGPS, S.A.
 

Manuel Soares Ferreira Regalado 

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Portucel–Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. 
(GPS)

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Soporcel – Gestão de Participações Sociais, SGPS, S.A. (GPS)

Manuel Maria Pimenta Gil Mata 

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. 
(GPS)

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Soporcel – Gestão de Participações Sociais,SGPS, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Enerpulp – Cogeração Energética de Pasta, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Socortel – Sociedade de Corte de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Management of Setipel –Serviços Técnicos da Indústria Papeleira, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Management of SPCG – Sociedade Portuguesa de Cogeração, S.A. (GPS)
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Luis Alberto Caldeira Deslandes 

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. 
(GPS)

. Member of the Board and Member of the Executive Committee of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Soporcel – Gestão de Participações Sociais, SGPS, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of Portucel Soporcel (Papel) – Sales e Marketing, ACE (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Portucel Soporcel’s associate companies:

. Portucel Pasta y Papel S.A.

. Soporcel España S.A.

. Soporcel Italia SRL

. Soporcel France EURL

. Soporcel UK Ltd

. Soporcel International BV

. Soporcel North America INC

. Soporcel 2000

. Soporcel Deutschland GmbH

. Soporcel Austria GmbH

Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves

. Member of the Board of Portucel - Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Soporcel – Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Member of the Board of Sonaca – Sociedade Nacional de Canalizações, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Sodim, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Chairman of the Executive Committee of Secil – Companhia Geral de Cal e Cimento, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Chairman of the Executive Committee of CMP – Cimentos Maceira e Pataias, S.A.

. Member of the Board and Chairman of the Executive Committee of Semapa – Sociedade Investimento e Gestão, SGPS,S.A.

. Member of the Board of Cimo - Gestão de Participações, SGPS.,S.A.

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of SCG – Société des Ciments de Gabès, SA

. Member of the Board of Secilpar, SL

. Member of the Board of Cimimpart – Investimentos e Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Parcim Investment B.V.

. Member of the Board of Parseinges - Gestão de Investimentos, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Seinpart Participações, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Longapar, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of Betopal, SL

. Chairman of the General Meeting of Enersis, SGPS, S.A.

. Member of the Board of CMPartin – Inversiones y Participaciones Empresariales SL

. Member of the Board of Parsecil, SL

. Member of the Board of Semapa Inversiones, SL

. Manager of Florimar – Gestão e Participações, SGPS, Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda.

. Manager of Cimentospar Participações Sociais, Lda.

. Member of the Board of Seminv Investimentos, SGPS, S.A. (Secil – Investimentos’ new name)
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Álvaro Roque de Pinho Bissaia Barreto 

. Non-Executive Director of Portucel – Empresa Produtora de Pasta e Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Non-Executive Director of Soporcel– Sociedade Portuguesa de Papel, S.A. (GPS)

. Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tejo Energia, S.A. 

. Non-Executive Director of Nutrinveste - Soc. Gestora de Part. Sociais, S.A. 

. Non-Executive Director of Mellol- Soc. Gestora de Participações Sociais, S.A. 

. Chairman of the General Meeting of Portugália - Comp. Portuguesa de Transp. Aéreos, S.A.

. Chairman of the General Meeting of PRIME DRINKS, S.A.

There are no incompatibilities specifically defined by the Board of Directors nor is there a maximum figure established for the 
positions that may be held by the Directors on boards of other companies.

All the current members of the Board of Directors have been on the Boards of Directors of the above companies for the last 
five years.

Declaration of compliance 

As can be seen, Portucel, S.A. has already adopted virtually all the recommendations on corporate governance. However, the 
following five items have not been entirely implemented:

1. Article 10(3) of the articles of association require shares to be frozen at least eight days prior to the scheduled date of a 
General Meeting. This obligatorily means that shares should be frozen for six working days and not the five that are re-
commended. The articles of association established this rule before the CMVM recommendation was issued, and would 
therefore have to be altered if the recommendation is to be complied with in full.

2. The Remuneration Committee includes two members of Portucel, S.A. Board of Directors – its Chairman, Pedro Mendonça 
de Queiroz Pereira, and the Non-Executive Director, Carlos Eduardo Coelho Alves. This option is explained by their ties to 
the Company’s main shareholder.

3. The recommendation to disclose the individual remuneration of members of the Board of Directors has not been adopted. 
This is due to the fact that having weighed up all the interests at stake, the Board feels that quite apart from the other 
potentially negative effects this disclosure would have, the gains that might result from it would not be greater than the 
importance of each board member’s right to privacy.

4. No committee has been created with the specific responsibility of evaluating the Company’s corporate structure and go-
vernance, inasmuch as it is felt that the Board of Directors is already performing this task effectively.

5. No rules have been laid down in relation to the communication of irregularities that may allegedly occur at the Company.

In all else the recommendations on corporate governance are being complied with in full.
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HEAD OFFICE
Mitrena - Apartado 55
2901-861 Setúbal 
Portugal
T . +351 265 709 000
F . +351 265 709 165

SALES OFFICES AND MILLS

Portucel

Cacia Mill
Rua Bombeiros da Celulose
3800-536 Cacia
Portugal
T . +351 234 910 600
F . +351 234 910 619

Setúbal Pulp and Paper Mill
Mitrena - Apartado 55
2901-861 Setúbal 
Portugal
T . +351 265 709 000
F . +351 265 709 165

Soporcel

Figueira da Foz Pulp and Paper Mill
Lavos - Apartado 5
3081-851 Figueira da Foz
Portugal
T . +351 233 900 100 / 200
F . +351 233 940 502     

Contacts

SALES OFFICES

PORTUGAL
Soporcel 2000

Mitrena - Apartado 55
2901-861 Setúbal
Portugal
T . +351 265 700 540
F . +351 265 729 481

Lavos - Apartado 5
3081-851 Figueira da Foz
Portugal
T . +351 233 900 177 / 8
F . +351 233 940 097
E.mail . sales-po@portucelsoporcel.com

SPAIN
Soporcel España, S.A.

C/ Caleruega, 102-104 . 3º Dcha
Edifício Ofipinar - 28033 Madrid
Spain
T . +34 91 383 79 31
F . +34 91 383 79 54
E.mail . sales-es@portucelsoporcel.com

FRANCE
Soporcel France, EURL

20, Rue Jacques Daguerre
92500 Rueil Malmaison
France
T . +33 155 479 200
F . +33 155 479 209
E.mail . sales-fr@portucelsoporcel.com

UNITED KINGDOM
Soporcel UK, Ltd

Oaks House, Suite 4A
16/22 West Street
Epsom
Surrey KT18 7RG 
UK
T . +441 372 728 282
F . +441 372 729 944
E.mail . sales-uk@portucelsoporcel.com

BENELUX 
Soporcel International, Bv

Zandvoortselaan 2
2106 CN Heemstede
Holland
T . +31 23 547 20 21
F . +31 23 547 18 79
E.mail . sales-nl@portucelsoporcel.com

GERMANY
Soporcel Deutschland, GmbH

Gertrudenstrasse, 9
50667 Köln
Germany
T . +49 221 270 59 70
F . +49 221 270 59 729
E.mail . sales-de@portucelsoporcel.com

Portucel International Trading, GmbH

Gertrudenstrasse, 9
50667 Köln
Germany
T . +49 221 920 10 50
F . +49 221 920 10 59
E.mail . pitkoeln@portucelsoporcel.com

ITALY
Soporcel Italia, SRL

Via Verona 8/A
37012 Bussolengo (VR) 
Italy
T . +39 045 71 56 938
F.  +39 045 71 51 039
E.mail . sales-it@portucelsoporcel.com

AUSTRIA
Soporcel Austria, GmbH

Fleschgasse 32
1130 Wien
Austria
T . +43 1 879 68 78
F . +43 1 879 67 97
E.mail . sales-au@portucelsoporcel.com

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Soporcel North America, Inc

40, Richards Avenue
Norwalk, Connecticut 06854
USA
T . +1 888 662 2736
F . +1 203 838 5193
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